

## **EURAS JOURNAL OF HEALTH**

## Volume 2 Issue 1 June 2021

General DOI: 10.17932/EJOH.2020.022 Volume 2 Issue 1 DOI: 10.17932/EJOH.2020.022/2021.201

https://ejoh.euras-edu.org/en/2021-june-volume-2-issue-1/

## **EURAS JOURNAL OF HEALTH**

**CONCESSIONAIRE on behalf of EURAS** 

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mustafa AYDIN

#### Editor-in-Chief

Zeynep Çiğdem KAYACAN Department of Medical Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Istanbul Aydın University, Istanbul, TURKEY E-mail: zeynepkayacan@euras-edu.org ORCID ID: 0000-0002-2727-7048

#### Associate Editor

Özer AKGÜL Department of Medical Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Istanbul Aydın University, Istanbul, TURKEY E-mail: ejoh@euras-edu.org ORCID ID: 0000-0002-3802-3270

#### **Biostatistics Editor**

Ayşe Canan YAZICI GÜVERCİN Department of Biostatistics and Medical Informatics, Faculty of Medicine, Tinaztepe University, Izmir, TURKEY ORCID ID: 0000-0002-3132-242X

#### **Medical Ethics Editor**

Murat AKSU Department of Medical History and Ethics, Faculty of Medicine, Aydın Adnan Menderes University, Aydın TURKEY ORCID ID: 0000-0002-4877-6081

#### Academic Studies Coordination Office

#### Administrative Coordinator

Ayşe Deniz ÖZKAN

English Proofreading Neslihan İSKENDER

#### Graphic Desing Gözde KILIC

Language English

Publication Period Published issues per year: June, December

Volume 2 Issue 1 - June 2021

#### **Correspondence Address**

EURAS-Eurasian Universites Union Secretariat, Besyol Mah. İnonu Cad. No: 38 İstanbul-Turkey Phone: 0212 444 1 428 Fax: 0 212 425 57 59 Web: https://ejoh.euras-edu.org/en/ E-mail: ejoh@euras-edu.org

#### Printed by

Armoni Nuans Matbaa **Adress:** Yukarıdudullu, Bostancı Yolu Cad. Keyap Çarşı B- 1 Blk. N.24 Ümraniye/İST. **Phone:** 0216 540 36 11 - Faks: 0216 540 42 72 **E-mail:** info@armoninuans.com

#### **Editorial Board**

Ani BELCHEVA, Department of Pediatric Dentistry, School of Dental Medicine, Medical University, Plovdiv, BULGARIA ORCID ID: 0000-0002-9625-8684 Raushan BINOMOVNA ISSAYEVA, School of Medicine and Health Care, Al-Farabi Kazakh National University, KAZAKHSTAN ORCID ID: 0000-0001-7370-025X Regis KREITCHMANN, Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Federal University of Health Sciences, Porto Alegre, BRASIL ORCID ID: 0000-0002-1146-0497 Jasenka MRSIC PELCIC, Department of Pharmacology, School of Medicine, University of Rijeka, CROATIA ORCID ID: 0000-0002-6313-9232 Edoardo STELLINI, Department of Neuroscience, School of Dentistry, University of Padova, ITALY ORCID ID: 0000-0001-6677-2765 Nosratollah ZARGHAMI, Departments of Clinical Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, IRAN ORCID ID: 0000-0002-4236-4537

ISSN: 2757-7996

#### **Scientific Advisory Board**

Edna ADAN ISMAIL, Founder of Edna Adan Hospital and President, Edna Adan University, Hargeisa, SOMALILAND Gökhan Tolga ADAS, Department of General Surgery, Health Sciences University, TURKEY Sila AKHAN, Department of Infectious Diseases, Faculty of Medicine, Kocaeli University, TURKEY Halil ALIS, Department of General Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Istanbul Aydın University, TURKEY Ayse BALAT, Department of Pediatrics, School of Medicine, Gaziantep University, TURKEY Zümrüt BASBAKKAL, Faculty of Nursing, Ege University, TURKEY Lale Avseaül BUYUKGONENC, Department of Nursina, Faculty of Health Sciences, Cyprus Science University, TURKISH REPUBLIC OF NORTHERN CYPRUS Rutilia CALDERÓN, Department of Surgery and Epidemiology, National Autonomous University of Honduras (Retired), HONDURAS Luigi CANULLO, Department of Stomatology, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Valencia, SPAIN Jacob Movsés COHEN, Department of Ophthalmoloay, Federal University of Amazonas, BRASIL Sheila CUNNINGHAM, Department of Adult Child and Midwifery, School of Health and Education, Middlesex University, UK Joseph Arnabat DOMINGUEZ, Dept Odontostomatology, Faculty of Dentistry, University of Barcelona, SPAIN Reha ERZURUMLU. Department of Anatomy. School of Medicine. University of Maryland. USA Carlo FORNAINI, Faculty of Dentistry, University of Cote d'Azur, FRANCE Meral GUNALDI, Department of Medical Oncology, Faculty of Medicine, Istanbul Aydın University, TURKEY Beatrice KALISCH. School of Nursina, University of Michiaan, USA Indrani KALKAN. Department of Nutrition and Dietetics. Faculty of Health Sciences. Istanbul Avdın University. TURKEY Saltanat KAMENOVA, Department of Neurology, Higher School of Medicine in Faculty of Medicine and Health Care, Al-Farabi Kazakh National University, KAZAKHSTAN Ozlem KONUKSEVEN, Department of Audiology, Faculty of Health Sciences, Istanbul Aydın University, TURKEY Banu KUMBAK AYGUN, Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Faculty of Medicine, Istanbul Aydın University, TURKEY Ulrich LAASER, Department of Epidemiology and International Public Health, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Bielefeld, GERMANY Visiting Professor, School of Public Health and Management, Faculty of Medicine, University of Belgrade, SERBIA Catherine McMAHON, Audiology Unit, Department of Linguistics, Faculty of Medicine, Health and Human Sciences. Macauarie University. AUSTRALIA Iris MEYENBURG ALTWARG, Department of Nursing, Hannover Medical High School, GERMANY Visiting Professor, Shenzhen Hospital, Southern Medical University, CHINA Mohammad Hossein NEKOOFAR, Department of Endodontics, Faculty of Dentistry, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, IRAN Ayse Ferda OCAKCI, Faculty of Nursing, Koc University, TURKEY Umberto ROMEO, Department of Oral Sciences and Maxillofacial Surgery, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, Sapienza University of Rome, ITALY Maja RUPNIK, Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Maribor, SLOVENIA National Laboratory for Health, Environment and Food, Maribor, SLOVENIA Jenifer SAFFI, Department of Pharmacy and Biochemistry, Federal University of Health Sciences of Porto Aleare, BRASIL Michael SILBERMAN, Executive director of Middle East Cancer Consortium, ISRAEL Airton Tetelbom STEIN, Department of Public Health and Epidemiology, Federal University of Health Sciences of Porto Alegre, BRASIL Itir SIRINOGLU DEMİRİZ, Hematology Unit, Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Istanbul Aydın University, TURKEY Füsun TERZIOGLU, Faculty of Nursing, Atılım University, TURKEY Georgi TOMOV, Department of Oral Pathology, School of Dentistry, Medical University of Plovdiv, BULGARIA Tosun TOSUN. Faculty of Dentistry. Istanbul Avdın University. TURKEY Athanasios TSAKRIS, Department of Microbiology, Medical School, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, GREECE Michela ZANETTI, Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Trieste University, ITALY

# Contents

neview	
Nanotechnology and COVID-19: Potential Application for Treatment	
Sona Talaei, Hassan Mellatyar, Shiva Mohammadi, Yunes Panahi, Parisa Kianpour, Abolfazl Akbara	zadeh, Nosratollah
Zarghami	1
Original Article	
Neuroprotective Effect of the Recombinant Human Erythropoietin in the Enthorinal C	ortex and Thalamus of
Rats Exposed to Focal Cerebral Ischemia	
Jasenka Mrsic Pelcic, Maja Rukavina, Goran Pelcic, Dinko Vitezic, Kristina Pilipovic	23
Metformin-Loaded Nanostructured Plga: A New Strategy for Enhancing Efficacy of Me	tformin in Breast
Cancer Treatment	
Mehdi Dadashpour, Monir Yaghoutrang, Mahta Zarghami, Esat Bonabi, Nosratollah Zarghami	
Use of Behavior Management Techniques by Dental Practitioners During the Treatme	nt of Pediatric Patients
from Different Age Groups	
Maria Shindova, Ani Belcheva	49
A Comparison of Anxiety Level and Nutritional Habits of University Students During Ex	kam and Non-Exam
Periods	
Indrani Kalkan, Büşra Selamet, Çağla Sanem Karakoca, Melike Kumaş, Melisa Düşmez, Şevval Aya	ışan61
Routine Cervical Dilatation at Cesarean Section and Its Influence on Pain Scores and P	ost-Operative
Morbidity: A Randomized Controlled Study	

## **Brief Report**

Review of ER:YAG Laser-Assisted Pulpotomy in Primary Dentition	
Maria Shindova, Ani Belcheva	.87

# **DOI** Numbers

#### General DOI: 10.17932/EJOH.2020.022 Volume 2 Issue 1 DOI: 10.17932/EJOH.2020.022/2021.201

Nanotechnology and COVID-19: Potential Application for Treatment 10.17932/EJOH.2020.022/ejoh\_v02i1001

Neuroprotective Effect of the Recombinant Human Erythropoietin in the Enthorinal Cortex and Thalamus of Rats Exposed to Focal Cerebral Ischemia 10.17932/EJOH.2020.022/ejoh\_v02i1002

Metformin-Loaded Nanostructured Plga: A New Strategy for Enhancing Efficacy of Metformin in Breast Cancer Treatment 10.17932/EJOH.2020.022/ejoh\_v02i1003

Use of Behavior Management Techniques by Dental Practitioners During the Treatment of Pediatric Patients from Different Age Groups 10.17932/EJOH.2020.022/ejoh\_v02i1004

A Comparison of Anxiety Level and Nutritional Habits of University Students During Exam and Non-Exam Periods 10.17932/EJOH.2020.022/ejoh\_v02i1005

Routine Cervical Dilatation at Cesarean Section and Its Influence on Pain Scores and Post-Operative Morbidity: A Randomized Controlled Study

10.17932/EJOH.2020.022/ejoh\_v02i1006

Review of ER:YAG Laser-Assisted Pulpotomy in Primary Dentition

10.17932/EJOH.2020.022/ejoh\_v02i1007

#### AIMS

EURAS Journal of Health (EJOH) is a peer-reviewed international scientific open access periodical published in accordance with independent, unbiased, and double-blind peer-review principles. It publishes two issues per year. The publication language of the journal is English. The journal is the official publication of the Eurasian Universities Union (EURAS).

EJOH aims to contribute to the literature by publishing manuscripts of highest scientific level in all fields of health including medicine with clinical and basic fields, nursing, physiotherapy, audiology, nutrition and dietetics, dentistry, public health, epidemiology, and all relevant disciplines.

#### SCOPE

The journal targets all healthcare professionals in all health disciplines and publishes original experimental and clinical research articles, case reports, reviews of experts in a specific field, letters to the editors and brief reports on new methods or techniques or preliminary results of original studies. The journal conforms to the Principles of Transparency and Best Practice in Scholarly Publishing (doaj.org/bestpractice).

# From The Editor

Welcome to the 2nd issue of EURAS Journal of Health (EJOH)!

As we all know about the current crisis all over the world due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, we included in this issue a splendid review on COVID-19, in addition to valuable research articles in pharmacology, oncology, dentistry, nutrition and gynecology. Thanks to all our authors, reviewers and editors.

We continue to invite and welcome works from our international colleagues and look forward to the future submissions.

Thanks for joining us.

With best regards, Prof. Zeynep Çiğdem KAYACAN, M.D.

## Nanotechnology and COVID-19: Potential Application for Treatment

Sona Talaei<sup>1</sup>, Hassan Mellatyar<sup>1</sup>, Shiva Mohammadi<sup>2</sup>, Yunes Panahi<sup>3\*</sup>, Parisa Kianpour<sup>4</sup>, Abolfazl Akbarzadeh<sup>5\*</sup>, Nosratollah Zarghami<sup>2,6\*</sup>

#### Abstract

The novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) emerged in China at the end of 2019 and then spread worldwide, particularly to Italy, Spain, the USA, and Iran. Currently, Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) is a main public health issue. As of April 21, 2020, more than two million confirmed cases of COVID-19 with more than 170,000 deaths have been reported in 210 countries by WHO. The 2019-nCoV can be spread by direct contact or droplets between humans and shows great potential for a pandemic. At present, there is no particular antiviral therapy for 2019-nCoV-infected persons. However, a wide range of therapeutic agents are being examined. The capabilities inherent to nanotechnology hold a large guarantee in presenting innovative approaches in the field of COVID-19 prevention, diagnosis, and cure. We in this article discuss how nanotechnology can improve the treatment of persons infected with the COVID-19 virus.

Keywords: 2019-nCoV, COVID-19, Coronavirus, Nanotechnology.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Basic Science, Faculty of Medicine, Maragheh University of Medical Sciences, Maragheh, Iran.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Department of Medical Biotechnology, School of Medicine, Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences, Kermanshah, Iran.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Department of pharmacotherapy, Faculty of Pharmacy, Baqiyatallah University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Department of pharmacotherapy, Faculty of Pharmacy, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Department of Medical Nanotechnology, Faculty of Advanced Medical Sciences, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Department of Clinical Biochemistry and Laboratory Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author: Nosratollah Zarghami zarghami@tbzmed.ac.ir ORCID: 0000-0002-4236-4537

Received: 12 May 2021 Accepted: 18 June 2021 DOI: 10.17932/EJOH.2020.022/ejoh v02i1001

#### Introduction

The novel coronavirus disease (2019-nCoV), called by the World Health Organization (WHO) as Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19), was first reported on December 31, 2019 (Wuhan, China) (1). Compared to the other known coronaviruses like as the Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV) and the Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV), the mortality rate of COVID-19 is considerably lower; however, it is more transmissible (2), so far, it has spread to many countries around the world, infected more than two million people, and it has led to the death of tens of thousands of people. Coronaviruses are a big family of viruses that attack the upper and lower respiratory tracts in humans, leading to a range of disease from the common cold to very severe, even fatal forms. But, it is the third time in the 21st century that a coronavirus explosion turns into a global health emergency. More than hundreds of coronaviruses have until been known, most of that is transferable between animals like pigs, camels, and bats, however, in several cases, a genetic mutation is all these viruses require to spread to humans (3). So far, seven coronaviruses have been diagnosed with human diseases, four of which are NL63, OC43, 229E, and HKU1, which cause moderate to severe disease, and the other three are even fatal (4). The first was SARS-CoV, which appeared in late 2002 and disappeared in 2004; the second is MERS-CoV, which appeared in 2012 and yet spread between camels (2, 5); and the third is SARS-CoV-2 that causes COVID-19 - first reported in China and according to numerous researchers, is leading the world toward the grips of a pandemic (6). The SARS-CoV-2 virus is in the form of spheres with a diameter of 125 nm, with lipid-based viral envelopes and positive-sense single-stranded RNA genomes. The SARS-CoV-2 virus has four kinds of structural proteins: envelope (E), spike (S), nucleocapsid (N), and membrane (M) proteins (6, 7), which the S protein has a vital role in connecting the virus to its host's cells and facilitating it to penetrate the cells (5). The most frequent symptoms and signs of COVID-19 are fever, cough, and dyspnoea. After a week or more, it could cause shortness of breath, about 20% of the patients requiring hospital cure. In many patients, particularly the elderly and those with chronic health conditions, the early signs could develop to pneumonia, with chest tightness, and shortness of breath (4). On the other hand, the quickly increasing fatality tolls of COVID-19 have been an alarm for global health. Many researchers have lately turned their focus to this growing threat and a global attempt is underway to stop its spread. At present, there is no particular antiviral treatment accessible for COVID-19, however, a broad range of pharmaceutical agents are being examined. Nanotechnology holds a large guarantee in presenting innovative approaches to a broad range of problems regarding the prevention, diagnosis, and cure of COVID-19, in which nanotechnologists certainly play a vital role and bear their social responsibility. In the meantime, among a variety

of fields of technology and science, nanotechnology has huge probability to be of massive help in prevention, diagnosis, and cure of COVID-19. At prevention step, nano-fiber based facial respirators, with the help of nanotechnology-enabled extremely effectual antimicrobial and antiviral disinfectants have been the first personal protective ways that could prevent the extension of the virus; also, widespread research is underway to expand a vaccine for COVID-19 based on different nano-materials. In diagnostics, nanotechnology has shown significant promise in designing sensors for developing rapid-response COVID-19 tests. Last but not least, at the curing phase, nano-medicines have been at the core of many researchers' attention, several of that are at present being studied in clinical trials. Given the wide abilities of nanotechnology, it is probable that innovations in this field might have an important effect on problems associated with COVID-19. This review briefly addresses the potential application of nanotechnology for the treatment of COVID-19 disease.

### Entry mechanism and replication of Coronavirus

Coronavirus spike glycoprotein has been shown as an important determinative of virus entry into host cells (2). The SARS-CoV and SARS-CoV-2 spike glycoproteins bind to the angiotensin-converting enzyme II (ACE2) cellular receptor (8, 9), also, SARS-CoV and MERS-CoV binds CD209L and dipeptidyl peptidase 4 (DPP4) cellular receptors respectively (10, 11). It is recognized that SARS-CoV entry into cells is mainly achieved by direct membrane fusion between the virus and the membrane (12). An important proteolytic cleavage event at the SARS-CoV S protein at position (S20) has been reported to mediate membrane fusion and viral infection (13). The MERS-CoV as well as the development of abnormal two-phase furin activation for membrane fusion (14). In addition to membrane fusion, clathrin-dependent and -independent endocytosis also mediates SARS-CoV entry (15). Once the virus enters the cells, the genome is released into the cytoplasm space host and translates into two structural proteins and polyproteins, which then begin to replicate the viral RNA genome (16). Delayed envelope glycoproteins are inserted into the membrane of the endoplasmic reticulum or Golgi and are nucleocapsidis created by a mixture of genetic and nucleocapsid protein. After that, the viral cells germinate into the endoplasmic reticulum-Golgi intermediate compartment. Eventually, vesicles, including virus cells, coalesce with the membrane to release the coronavirus (2). The 2019-nCoV employed the same cell entry receptor ACE2 as the SARS-CoV. Peng Zhou et al. showed that 2019-nCoV is capable to employ all ACE2 proteins, but no ACE2 mouse, as an entry receptor to enter into cells with ACE2 expression, but not cells which did not express ACE2, demonstrating that ACE2 is almost the cell receptor through which 2019-nCoV enters the cell. The COVID-19 binds to ACE2 via S-protein on its surface. During infection, the S-protein is divided into S1 and S2. S1 subunit includes the receptor-binding domain that lets coronaviruses to straightly bind to the peptidase domain of ACE2. S2 then probably has a function in membrane fusion. Peng Zhou et al. also showed that 2019-nCoV does not employ other coronavirus receptors, like DPP4 and aminopeptidase N (7).

## **COVID-19** Challenge

Several issues make 2019-nCoV mainly worrying. Being a novel virus, there is no acquired immunity; 40 candidate vaccines are at present in the study phase, but specialists agree that no extensively utilizable vaccine will be accessible for at least 12 to 18 months. The case-fatality rate, that by meaning is computed only based on identified patients and is so presently hard to estimate correctly, appears to be about 4%. Here are some reasons why the 2019-nCoV appears to be a threat. First, it can kill older people with existing health problems as well as healthy ones. The information up to now shows that the virus has a fatality risk of about 4%: this rate is many times more severe than usual seasonal influenza. Second, COVID-19 is relatively efficiently transmitted (17). The average infected person spreads the disease to three or four others. That's an exponential growth rate. There is as well strong proof that it could be spread by persons who are just mildly disease or not even showing signs. This represents a challenge because it would be hard to identify patients that need to be tested for the disease because they have no symptoms or signs, but their capacity to transmit the disease would permit for amplification in an uninfected population [18]. This means 2019-nCoV will be more difficult to contain than SARS, which was only transmitted by those showing signs and were much fewer proficiently transmitted (17). So, rapid treatments are vital interventions for COVID-19.

### Current treatments of COVID-19 and their limitations

As mentioned above, there is no special antiviral treatment for COVID-19. Scholars are attempting to find therapeutics to treat patients with this infection. Researchers so far have examined several drug candidates, from different classes, including protease inhibitors, nucleoside analogs, neuraminidase inhibitors, polymerase inhibitors, and DNA synthesis inhibitors, that may have potential efficacy for treatment of COVID-19 (19, 20). Currently, several drugs including ritonavir/lopinavir, darunavir, emtricitabine/tenofovir, ruxolitinib, remdesivir, favipiravir, and chloroquine are undergoing clinical trials to evaluate their efficacy to treat COVID-19 and have been achieved several promising results so far (Table1). Lim et al. showed that using lopinavir/ritonavir in patients with COVID-19 causes a reduction in viral loads, therefore improving clinical symptoms during the treatment (21). Recently, Wang et al. showed in vitro which chloroquine and remdesivir were highly efficient in control of COVID-19 (22). The Clinical Medical Research Center of the National Infectious Diseases and the Third People's Hospital of Shenzhen initiated a clinical trial on favipiravir to treat COVID-19 on February 14, 2020. Their results showed favipiravir had more strong antiviral activity than that of ritonavir/lopinavir on patient with COVID-19.

Also, Chen et al. reported that favipiravir, compared to arbidol, does not significantly improve rate of clinical recovery at day 7. In this clinical trial, favipiravir showed remarkably improvement in time-to-relief for cough and fever (23).

In recent days, an international team reported that human recombinant soluble ACE2 (hrsACE2) can remarkably inhibit primary stages of SARS-CoV-2 infection. Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) has been reported as an entry receptor for SARS-CoV-2 infection and it has been proposed which blocking this interaction might be used in treatment of persons with COVID-19 infection (24).

Candidate Therapeutics	Class	Mechanism of Action	Currently being trialled COVID-19?
Corticosteroids	Steroid hormones	Inhibition of the effector function of Th2 cells, eosinophils, and epithelial cells (25)	Yes NCT04244591
Chloroquine	Heme polymerase inhibitor, Antimalarial agent	Inhibition of glycosylation of newly synthesized proteins in many viruses (26), Increase endosomal pH needed for virus/cell fusion (27)	Yes (27) NCT04261517 ChiCTR2000029542, ChiCTR2000029559, ChiCTR2000029609, ChiCTR2000029740, ChiCTR2000029760, ChiCTR2000029761, ChiCTR2000029762, ChiCTR2000029803, ChiCTR2000029803, ChiCTR2000029837, ChiCTR2000029888, ChiCTR2000029899, ChiCTR2000029899, ChiCTR2000029935, ChiCTR2000029939

 Table 1. Current therapeutics used in treatment of COVID-19.

Ritonavir+ Lopinavir (Kaletra)	Protease inhibitors, Antiretroviral	Inhibits vi- rus-specific processing of viral Gag- Pol and Gag polyproteins in cells in- fected with virus through inhibition of viral proteas- es (28)	Yes NCT04255017 ChiCTR2000048824, ChiCTR2000048919, ChiCTR2000048809, ChiCTR2000048991, ChiCTR2000048992, ChiCTR2000049015, ChiCTR2000049065
IFNα2b (PegIntron®, Sylatron®, IntronA®)	Type I interferon made by leukocytes during viral infection	Inhibition of viral replication, Stimulation of innate antiviral responses in patients infected with virus (29)	Yes ChiCTR2000048684
Emtricitabine+ tenofovir (Truvada)	Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor + DNA synthesis inhibitor	Incorporated into the viral DNA strand by virus reverse tran- scriptase and terminates DNA chain elongation (28)	Yes ChiCTR2000048919
Ruxolitinib (Jakafi or Jakavi)	Janus kinase (JAK) 1 and 2 inhibitor	Inhibition of virus replica- tion in lym- phocytes and macrophages (30)	Yes ChiCTR2000049088

Darunavir (with cobicistat) (Prezista®/ Prezcobix® and Generic)	Protease inhibitors, Antiretroviral	Inhibits virus-specific processing of viral Gag- Pol and Gag polyproteins in cells infected with virus through inhibition of viral proteases (28)	Yes ChiCTR2000048992, NCT04252274
Baloxavir marboxil (Xofluza)	Endonuclease inhibitor, Antiviral	Inhibition of cap-de- pendent en- donuclease of influenza virus (31)	Yes ChiCTR2000049013
Favipiravir (or T-705 or Avigan)	Experimental antiviral drug. Pyrazinecarbox amide derivative viral RNA polymerase inhibitor.	Inhibition of the RNA de- pendent RNA polymerase of RNA vi- ruses (32)	Yes ChiCTR2000049015, ChiCTR2000049013, ChiCTR2000049042
Arbidol (Umifenovir)	Russian-made small indole- derivative molecule. Antiviral	Inhibition of the different steps of the viral life cy- cle (33)	Yes ChiCTR2000049069, ChiCTR2000049065, NCT04252885
Novaferon, Nova	Recombinant protein produced by DNA- shuffling of IFN-α	Inhibition of viral replication (34)	Yes ChiCTR2000049065, ChiCTR2000048809

Sona Talaei, Hassan Mellatyar, Shiva Mohammadi, Yunes Panahi, Parisa Kianpour, Abolfazl Akbarzadeh, Nosratollah Zarghami

GS-5734/ Remdesivir	Nucleoside inhibitor	Incorporation into nascent viral RNA chain and pre-mature termination	Yes NCT04252664, NCT04257656
		termination of RNA chain elongation	
		(22)	

Despite the promising effects of the drugs used to treat COVID-19, several challenges remain with current treatments. One of the challenges is the administration of the drug by the oral route that can create both topical and systemic side effects. The drug delivery to the lung to treat pulmonary diseases by oral therapy requires high doses of drug, also rapid clearance of drugs leads to a need for daily treatment with several drug candidates for the long periods (35). The other significant challenge in viral infectious diseases is emergence of drug resistance (28), which may also occur in patients with COVID-19 disease.

## Potential applications of Nanotechnology in treatment of COVID-19

Nanotechnology offers promising solutions to overcome the challenges of oral administration of drug and to treat drug resistance. Nanotechnology-based drug delivery systems (nano-DDS) have several unique physical properties, such as high water-solubility, sensitivity to temperature, simple surface modification, controlled release capability of encapsulated drugs, and high surface-area-to-volume ratios (36). The medical scientists can use these unique properties to overcome the challenges related to enhanced drug resistance of infectious agents.

Nano-DDS can be adapted (i) to increase the solubility of drugs, (ii) to protect drugs from degradation, (iii) to reduce drug-associated toxicity, (iv) to modulate drugs release, (v) to enhance cellular uptake of drugs and their blood circulation time, and (vi) to target drugs to affected cells, tissues, and organs (37-40).

Unlike oral administration, systemic delivery of therapeutics via lungs allows that therapeutic can bypass harsh conditions of digestive tract and avoid first-pass metabolism (41). Also, compared to the digestive system, the lungs show a low level of enzymatic activity (42).

Local delivery of therapeutics to lungs has many advantages as it improves the efficiency of the treatment by enhanced accumulation of therapeutics in the lungs, also, reduces systemic side-effects of drugs on other tissues and organs through reduction of required dosage of delivered drugs and prevention of their penetration into the systemic circulation (43).

The different types of nanocarriers such as polymeric and solid lipid nanoparticles, liposomes, and micelles have been used for delivering therapeutics to the lung due to their flexible and controllable biological properties. These nanocarriers can be administered through distinct routes, including oral, inhalation and intravenous (44). The administration route is as significant as drug formulation for reaching therapeutic goals. Table 2 lists several nano-DDS that are used for treatment of pulmonary infections.

In recent years, nanoparticle DDS has been designed for improvement of therapeutic stability, efficacy, safety, and patient compliance (45). The therapeutic benefits of nanoparticles (NPs) as drug carrier are well controlled release properties, high bioavailability, low toxicity, high stability, feasibility of incorporation of both hydrophobic and hydrophilic therapeutics, and high encapsulation efficacy for therapeutics (46, 47). The development of nanoparticle DDS is one of the best ways to gain higher drug levels in the lungs, drug-loaded NPs can be used for direct pulmonary delivery via the aerosol route (48).

The inhalational delivery of a drug in form of suspension aerosol or inhaled dry powder has two potential limitations including, limited bioavailability of drug because of its microparticulate nature and poor solubility that leads to restricted dissolution and diffusion of a drug at the site of action, and reduced residence time of drug due to its fast alveolar macrophage uptake and ciliary clearance that results in elimination of long-term effects of drug. In contrast, inhalational delivery of a drug in form of nanosuspensions and nanoparticles has several potential advantages including, fast start of action of the drug because of its rapid dissolution and diffusion, prolonged drug residence time at the site of action due to enhanced adherence of nanoparticulate drug to mucosal surfaces, and lower phagocytic clearance of NPs compared to microparticles (49).

The effective pulmonary delivery of an inhalable therapeutic depends on many factors, such as shape, size, and surface features (42). These factors affect all aspects of pulmonary delivery of drug, such as deposition in respiratory tract, dissolution in lung lining fluid and clearance process (50).

Polymeric NPs are achieving fast importance to delivery of drug to the lungs. Various polymers have been studied for pulmonary applications. Polymers possess multiple benefits, including high capacity for encapsulation of drugs and their protection from degradation, and extended delivery of drug for a long time (51). The polymers include poly(lactic-*co*-glycolic acid) PLGA, poly( $\epsilon$  caprolactone) PCL, poly(lactic acid) PLA, chitosan, alginate, and gelatin are commonly used for therapeutic purposes (52, 53). By modifying chemical and surface properties of polymers, they can be biodegradable (54, 55). Several studies have been carried out using polymeric NPs to delivery of anti-infectious drugs to the lungs (Table 2).

Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLNs) are other group of NPs that have widely been investigated for potential pulmonary drug delivery. SLNs are nanocrystalline suspensions in water, prepared from phospholipids, physiological lipids, and primarily triglycerides (56). SLNs are popular for pulmonary delivery of drug since the formulations are prepared with the use of physiological components (57). The SLNs have advantages like good tolerability, scaling-up possibility, low toxicity, the ability to encapsulate hydrophilic/hydrophobic drugs, and increased stability of encapsulated drugs (58). To treatment of lung infections, different anti-infectious drugs have been incorporated in SLNs (Table 2).

Liposomes are a popular DDS for pulmonary drug delivery, as they are formed mainly from phospholipids, that are inherent in lungs (59). Liposomes possess properties like capacity to incorporate of drugs in core or within their membrane bilayer, ability to decrease toxicity of drugs and change their pharmacokinetics, and potential for sustained release of drugs to increase their effect over an extended time period, which make them attractive drug nanocarriers for the treatment of pulmonary infections (60, 61). Liposomal DDS using both lipophilic and hydrophilic drugs was used to treatment of lung infections through the inhalation route (43).

So far, liposome has been one of the most promising nanocarriers to pulmonary antibiotics delivery, with several antibiotic formulations in clinical trials (44). Conventional liposomes are easily uptake through macrophages cells of the reticuloendothelial system. Thus they form a worth delivery vehicle to target high antibiotics doses to sites where the bacteria reside (62). Also, the half-life antibiotics may extend in the body due to sustained release of these drugs from liposomes (62).

Nebulized liposomes to target drugs to the lung have been well described (63, 64). It was shown which nebulization of liposomal dispersions permitted penetration into the lung peripheral region (65). Efficient chemotherapy of pulmonary infections can be performed by drug targeting to alveolar macrophages by using aerosolized liposomes (65). However, physical and chemical long-term stability of liposome suspensions during storage, such as fusion, leakage, and aggregation, is one of key limitations in the development of these nanocarriers (66, 67).

Also, liposomes can be used as a carrier to target cell- and organ-specific using ligands. Although, therapeutic applications of ligand-anchored liposomes that are injected intravenously, can become restricted because of some factors, including leakage of contents of liposomes before they reach to the target site, and uptake of liposomes through macrophages of the spleen and liver [64]. The anti-infectious drugs which have been encapsulated as liposomal formulations are listed in Table 2.

Polymeric micelles because of their nanoscopic core-shell structure are considered as suitable carriers for delivery of poor water-soluble drugs like antibiotics and antifungal into the lung (68). The delivery of anti-infection drugs to the lung by polymeric micelles mentioned in Table 2.

Nano DDS	Therapeutic agent	Route of adminis- tration	Organism	Purpose/Effect of nanoformulation
PLGA nanoparticles	Isoniazid Rifampicin Pyrazinamide	Inhala- tion	Myco- bacterium tuberculo- sis	To improve the bio- availability of antitu- bercular drugs, To prolong half-life of drugs (69)
PLGA nanoparticles	Voriconazole	Inhala- tion	Not tested	To improve pulmo- nary delivery (70)
PLGA nanoparticles	Rifampicin	Inhala- tion	Myco- bacterium tuberculo- sis	To increase uptake of drug (71)
Lection –PLGA nanoparticles	Isoniazid Rifampicin Pyrazinamide	Inhala- tion	Myco- bacterium tuberculo- sis	To decrease the drug dosage frequency, To improve patient compliance in che- motherapy of TB (72)
Alginate/chi- tosan nanoparticles	Isoniazid Rifampicin Pyrazinamide	Inhala- tion	Myco- bacterium tuberculo- sis	The controlled re- lease of antitubercu- lar drugs (48)
Manni- tol:Lectin nanoparticles	Iitraconazole	Inhala- tion	Aspergil- lus fumig- atus	To improve the bio- availability of drug (50)
Polysorbate 80: polox- amer 407 nanoparticles	litraconazole	Inhala- tion	Aspergil- lus fumig- atus	To increase water sol- ubility of drug (73)

 Table 2: Examples of nano DDSs developed for delivery of anti-infectious drugs to the lungs.

Polysorbate 80: polox- amer 407	Itraconazole	Inhala- tion	Aspergil- lus fumig- atus	Improved survival and limited invasive disease (74)
nanoparticles				
Cyclodextrin complexes	Rifampicin	Inhala- tion	Acine- tobacter baumannii	To increase water sol- ubility, To maximize the ac- tive drug amount, To optimize lung pharmacokinetic pro- file of drug (75)
Soli lipid nanoparticles	Isoniazid Rifampicin Pyrazinamide	Inhala- tion	Myco- bacterium tuberculo- sis	Improved drug bio- availability and mean residence time, Reducing the dosing frequency (58)
Soli lipid nanoparticles	Amikacin	Inhala- tion	Not tested	To increase concen- tration of drug in the lungs (76)
Soli lipid nanoparticles	Budesonide	Inhala- tion	Not tested	To increase water sol- ubility and adsorption of drug (77)
Soli lipid nanoparticles	Rifampicin	Inhala- tion	Myco- bacterium tuberculo- sis	To reduce of toxicity of drug (56)
Liposome	Amphotericin B	Inhala- tion	Aspergil- lus fumig- atus	To improve the drug chemotherapy effica- cy (78)
Liposome	Amphotericin B	Intrave- nous	Candidosis Aspergil- losis	To improve the drug chemotherapy effica- cy, To reduce acute and chronic toxicities of drug (79)

Sona	Talaei,	Hassan	Mellatyar,	Shiva	Mohamn	nadi,	Yunes	Panahi,	Parisa	Kianpour	,
					Abolfaz	zl Akl	barzad	eh, Nosr	atollah	Zargham	i

Liposome	Ciprofloxacin	Inhala- tion	Not tested	To improve the drug chemotherapy effica- cy against intracellu- lar parasites (80)
Liposome	Ciprofloxacin	Inhala- tion	Francisella tularensis	Higher serum levels of drug,
				Prolonged drug reten- tion in lung (81)
Liposome	Ciprofloxacin	Inhala- tion	Not tested	To delivery high drug concentration to tar- get site,
				Reducing the local irritation (82)
Liposome	Rifampicin	Inhala- tion	Myco- bacterium avium	To reduce of dosage of drug (65)
Liposome	Rifampicin	Inhala- tion	Myco- bacterium tuberculo- sis	To improve the che- motherapy efficacy of drug (64)
Liposome	Tobramycin	Intratra- cheal	Pseudo- monas aeruginosa	Improved efficacy after multiple treat- ments,
				Prolonged drug reten- tion in lung (83)
Liposome	Tobramycin	Intratra- cheal	Burkhold- era cepacia	Prolonged efficacy of drug (84)
Liposome	Polymyxin B	Intratra- cheal	Pseudo- monas aeruginosa	To increase pulmo- nary level of drug, To decrease of toxic effect of drug (85)
Liposome	Cyclosporine A	Inhala- tion	Myco- bacterium tuberculo- sis	To deposit of drug to the peripheral lung (86)

Liposome	Isoniazid	Inhala- tion	Myco- bacterium tuberculo- sis	To increase pulmo- nary level of drug (87)
Chi- tosan-based micelles	Amphotericin B	Inhala- tion	Candida spp Aspergil- lus spp	To improve water solubility, To reduce adverse ef- fects, To reduce the aggre- gation state of drug (68)

#### **Conclusion and future perspectives**

As shown in this review, remarkable works have been done in nano-formulation therapeutics for treatment of the lung infections. Nanotechnology presents an excellent opportunity for the basic improvement of current treatments and development of novel therapeutic options for lung infections formerly thought impossible or difficult to treat. Nonetheless, we are yet in the primary stages of nanomedicine in respiratory infections care, which requires physicochemical and nanotoxicological analysis for possible human applications. At present, we are entering a modern world where nanotherapeutics will change the way we practice respiratory medicine. Nanotherapeutics offer improved clinical efficacy for patients, especially to those patients who are currently treatment-resistant to conventionally administered therapeutics.

According to the above content and the potential applications of nanotechnology to delivery of anti-infection drugs to the lungs, current and potential therapeutics of COVID-19 can be encapsulated into nanocarriers and delivered to the lungs through the respiratory tract.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors express their sincere thanks to the Department of Medical Nanotechnology, Faculty of Advanced Medical Sciences, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences for financial support.

### **Conflicts of interest**

The authors report no conflicts of interest. The authors alone are responsible for the content and writing of the paper.

## References

- 1. Lu H, Stratton CW, Tang YW. Outbreak of Pneumonia of Unknown Etiology in Wuhan China: the Mystery and the Miracle. Journal of Medical Virology 2020; 92: 401. doi: 10.1002/jmv.25678.
- de Wit E, et al. SARS and MERS: Recent Insights Into Emerging Coronaviruses.Nature Reviews Microbiology 2016; 14: 523. doi: 10.1038/ nrmicro.2016.81.
- 3. Zu ZY, et al. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): a Perspective from China. Radiology 2020; 296: E15. https://doi.org/10.1148/ radiol.2020200490.
- Bassetti M, Vena A, Giacobbe DR. The Novel Chinese Coronavirus (2019nCoV) Infections: challenges for fighting the storm. Eur J Clin Invest 2020; 50: e13209. https://doi.org/10.1111/eci.13209.
- Li G, et al. Coronavirus infections and immune responses. J Med Virol 2020; 92: 424. doi: 10.1002/jmv.25685.
- 6. Li X, et al. Molecular immune pathogenesis and diagnosis of COVID-19. J Pharm Anal 2020; 10:102. doi: 10.1016/j.jpha.2020.03.001.
- Zhou P, et al. A pneumonia outbreak associated with a new coronavirus of probable bat origin. Nature 2020; 579: 270. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2012-7.
- 8. Li W, et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 is a functional receptor for the SARS coronavirus. Nature 2003; 426: 450. DOI: 10.1038/nature02145
- 9. Wu F, et al. A new coronavirus associated with human respiratory disease in China. Nature 2020; 579: 265. DOI: 10.1038/s41586-020-2008-3.
- 10. Raj VS, et al. Dipeptidyl peptidase 4 is a functional receptor for the emerging human coronavirus-EMC. Nature 2013; 495: 251. doi: 10.1038/nature12005.
- 11. Jeffers SA, et al. CD209L (L-SIGN) is a receptor for severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2004; 101: 15748. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0403812101.
- 12. Simmons G, et al. Characterization of severe acute respiratory syndrome associated
- 13. coronavirus (SARS-CoV) spike glycoprotein-mediated viral entry. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2004; 101: 4240. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0403812101.

- 14. Belouzard S, Chu VC, Whittaker GR. Activation of the SARS coronavirus spike protein via sequential proteolytic cleavage at two distinct sites. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2009; 106: 5871. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0809524106.
- 15. Millet JK, Whittaker GR. Host cell entry of Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus after two-step, furin-mediated activation of the spike protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2014; 111: 15214. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1407087111.
- Kuba K, et al. Trilogy of ACE2: A peptidase in the renin–angiotensin system, a SARS receptor, and a partner for amino acid transporters. Pharmacol Ther 2010; 128: 119. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2010.06.003.
- 17. Perlman S. and Netland J. Coronaviruses post-SARS: update on replication and pathogenesis. Nat Rev Microbiol 2009; 7: 439. DOI: 10.1038/ nrmicro2147.
- Pang J, et al. Potential rapid diagnostics, vaccine and therapeutics for 2019 novel Coronavirus (2019-ncoV): a systematic review. J Clin Med 2020; 9: 623. doi: 10.3390/jcm9030623.
- Rothe C, et al. Transmission of 2019-nCoV infection from an asymptomatic contact in Germany. N Eng J Med 2020; 382: 970. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMc2001468.
- 20. Lu H. Drug treatment options for the 2019-new coronavirus (2019-nCoV). Biosci Trends 2020; 14: 69. doi: 10.5582/bst.2020.01020.
- 21. Lai CC, et al. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS CoV-2) and corona virus disease-2019 (COVID-19): the epidemic and the challenges. Int J Antimicrobl Agents 2020; 55: 105924. doi: 10.1016/j. ijantimicag.2020.105924.
- 22. Lim J, et al. Case of the index patient who caused tertiary transmission of Coronavirus disease 2019 in Korea: the application of lopinavir/ritonavir for the treatment of COVID-19 pneumonia monitored by quantitative RT-PCR. J Korean Med Sci 2020; 35: e89. doi: 10.3346/jkms.2020.35.e89.
- 23. Wang M, et al. Remdesivir and chloroquine effectively inhibit the recently emerged novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in vitro. Cell Res 2020; 30: 269. doi: 10.1038/s41422-020-0282-0.
- Chen C, et al. Favipiravir versus Arbidol for COVID-19: A Randomized Clinical Trial. medRxiv, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.03.17.2003743 2.
- 25. Monteil V, et al. Inhibition of SARS-CoV-2 infections in engineered human

tissues using clinical-grade soluble human ACE2. Cell 2020; 18: 905-913. e7. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.04.004.

- Umetsu DT, et al. Respiratory Tolerance Is Inhibited by the administration of corticosteroids. J Immunol 2005; 175: 7380. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.175.11.7380.
- 27. Chhikara BS, et al. Corona virus SARS-CoV-2 disease COVID-19: Infection, prevention and clinical advances of the prospective chemical drug therapeutics. Chem Biol Lett 2020; 7: 63.
- 28. Gao, J, Tian Z, Yang X. Breakthrough: Chloroquine phosphate has shown apparent efficacy in treatment of COVID-19 associated pneumonia in clinical studies. Biosci Trends 2020; 14: 72. doi: 10.5582/bst.2020.01047.
- 29. Kim PS, Read SW. Nanotechnology and HIV: potential applications for treatment and prevention. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Nanomed Nanobiotechnol 2010; 2: 693. DOI: 10.1002/wnan.118.
- 30. Rubin BY, Gupta SL. Differential efficacies of human type I and type II interferons as antiviral and antiproliferative agents. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1980; 77: 5928. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.77.10.5928.
- 31. Caocci, G., et al., Reactivation of hepatitis B virus infection following ruxolitinib treatment in a patient with myelofibrosis. Leukemia, 2014; 28: 225. doi: 10.1038/leu.2013.235.
- 32. Li G, De Clercq E. Therapeutic options for the 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV). Nat Rev Drug Discov 2020; 19: 149. doi: 10.1038/d41573-020-00016-0.
- De Clercq, E., New Nucleoside Analogues for the Treatment of Hemorrhagic Fever Virus Infections. Chem Asian J 2019; 14: 3962. doi: 10.1002/ asia.201900841.
- 34. Blaising J. Polyak SJ, Pécheur EI, Arbidol as a broad-spectrum antiviral: an update. Antiviral Res 2014; 107: 84. doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2014.04.006.
- 35. Ströher U, et al. Severe acute respiratory syndrome-related coronavirus is inhibited by interferon-alpha. J Infect Dis 2004; 189: 1164. doi: 10.1086/382597.
- 36. Ho DK, et al. Challenges and strategies in drug delivery systems for treatment of pulmonary infections. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2019; 144:110. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpb.2019.09.002.
- 37. Qasim M, et al. Nanotechnology for diagnosis and treatment of infectious diseases. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 2014; 14: 7374. doi: 10.1166/jnn.2014.9578.

- Mansour HM, Rhee YS, Wu X. Nanomedicine in pulmonary delivery. Int J Nanomed, 2009; 4: 299. doi: 10.2147/ijn.s4937.
- 39. Bailey MM, Berkland CJ. Nanoparticle formulations in pulmonary drug delivery. Med Res Rev 2009; 29: 196. doi: 10.1002/med.20140.
- 40. Andrade F, et al. Micelle-based systems for pulmonary drug delivery and targeting. Drug Delivery Letters 2011; 1: 171-185. DOI: 10.2174/2210304x11101020171.
- 41. Andrade F, et al. Nanotechnology and pulmonary delivery to overcome resistance in infectious diseases. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2013; 65: 1816. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2013.07.020.
- 42. Kuzmov A, Minko T. Nanotechnology approaches for inhalation treatment of lung diseases. J Control Release 2015; 219: 500. doi: 10.1016/j. jconrel.2015.07.024.
- 43. Gaul R, et al. Nanotechnology approaches to pulmonary drug delivery: Targeted delivery of small molecule and gene-based therapeutics to the lung. In: Design of nanostructures for versatile therapeutic applications. 2018, Elsevier. p. 221-253. DOI:10.1016/B978-0-12-813667-6.00006-1
- 44. Savla R, Minko T. Nanotechnology approaches for inhalation treatment of fibrosis. J Drug Target 2013; 21: 914. doi: 10.3109/1061186X.2013.829078.
- 45. Doroudian M, et al. Nanotechnology based therapeutics for lung disease. Thorax 2019; 74: 965. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2019-213037.
- 46. Yang W. Improvement in the bioavailability of poorly water-soluble drugs via pulmonary delivery of nanoparticles. Dissertation Thesis 2009. https:// repositories.lib.utexas.edu/bitstream/handle/2152/6661/yangw85057. pdf?sequence=2&isAllowed=y
- Talaei S, et al. Spotlight on 17-AAG as an Hsp90 inhibitor for molecular targeted cancer treatment. Chem Biol Drug Des 2019 May;93(5):760-786. doi: 10.1111/cbdd.13486.2019; 93: 760.
- 48. Mellatyar H, et al. Targeted cancer therapy through 17-DMAG as an Hsp90 inhibitor: Overview and current state of the art. Biomed Pharmacother 2018; 102: 608. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2018.03.102.
- 49. Zahoor A, Sharma S, Khuller G. Inhalable alginate nanoparticles as antitubercular drug carriers against experimental tuberculosis. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2005; 26: 298. doi: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2005.07.012.
- 50. Buxton DB. Nanotechnology in the diagnosis and management of heart, lung and blood diseases. Expert Rev Mol Diagn, 2007; 7: 149. doi:

10.1586/14737159.7.2.149.

- 51. Yang W, et al. High bioavailability from nebulized itraconazole nanoparticle dispersions with biocompatible stabilizers. Int J Pharm 2008; 361:177. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2008.05.003.
- 52. Menon JU, et al. Polymeric nanoparticles for pulmonary protein and DNA delivery. Acta Biomater 2014; 10:2643. doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2014.01.033.
- Talaei S, et al. 17-Allylamino-17-demethoxygeldanamycin loaded PCL/PEG nanofibrous scaffold for effective growth inhibition of T47D breast cancer cells. J Drug Delivery Sci Technol 2019; 49: 162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jddst.2018.11.010
- 54. Mellatyar H, et al. 17-DMAG-loaded nanofibrous scaffold for effective growth inhibition of lung cancer cells through targeting HSP90 gene expression. Biomed Pharmacother 2018; 105: 1026. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2018.06.083.
- 55. Beck-Broichsitter M, et al. Development of a biodegradable nanoparticle platform for sildenafil: formulation optimization by factorial design analysis combined with application of charge-modified branched polyesters. J Control Release 2012; 157: 469. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.09.058.
- 56. Beck-Broichsitter M, et al. Biophysical inhibition of synthetic vs. naturally derived
- 57. pulmonary surfactant preparations by polymeric nanoparticles. Biochim Biophys Acta 2014; 1838: 474. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamem.2013.10.016.
- 58. Chuan J, et al. Enhanced rifampicin delivery to alveolar macrophages by solid lipid nanoparticles. J Nanoparticle Res 2013; 15: 1634. https://ui.adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/2013JNR....15.1634C/abstract
- 59. Paranjpe M, Müller-Goymann CC. Nanoparticle-mediated pulmonarydrug delivery: a review. Int J Mol Sci 2014; 15: 5852. doi: 10.3390/ijms15045852.
- Pandey R, Khuller G. Solid lipid particle-based inhalable sustained drug delivery system against experimental tuberculosis. Tuberculosis, 2005; 85: 227. doi: 10.1016/j.tube.2004.11.003.
- Changsan N, Separovic F, Srichana T. Determination of rifampicin location in cholesterol-lipid liposomes by 2 H and 31 P Solid-State NMR. In: 2008 2nd IEEE International Nanoelectronics Conference. 2008, IEEE. DOI: 10.1109/INEC.2008.4585514
- 62. Lasic DD. Novel applications of liposomes. Trends Biotechnol 1998; 16: 307. doi: 10.1016/s0167-7799(98)01220-7.
- 63. Chono S, et al. Efficient drug targeting to rat alveolar macrophages by

pulmonary administration of ciprofloxacin incorporated into mannosylated liposomes for treatment of respiratory intracellular parasitic infections. J Control Release 2008; 127: 50. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2007.12.011.

- 64. Wong JP, et al. Liposome delivery of ciprofloxacin against intracellular Francisella tularensis infection. J Control Release 2003; 92: 265. doi: 10.1016/s0168-3659(03)00358-4.
- 65. Desai TR, Hancock RE, Finlay WH, A facile method of delivery of liposomes by nebulization. J Control Release 2002; 84: 69. doi: 10.1016/s0168-3659(02)00264-x.
- 66. Vyas S, et al. Design of liposomal aerosols for improved delivery of rifampicin to alveolar macrophages. Int J Pharm 2004; 269: 37. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2003.08.017.
- 67. Zaru M, et al. Rifampicin-loaded liposomes for the passive targeting to alveolar macrophages: in vitro and in vivo evaluation. J Liposome Res 2009; 19: 68. doi: 10.1080/08982100802610835.
- 68. Hu C, Rhodes DG. Proniosomes: a novel drug carrier preparation. Int J Pharm 1999; 185: 23. doi: 10.1016/s0378-5173(99)00122-2.
- 69. Altube MJ, et al. Surviving nebulization-induced stress: dexamethasone in pH-sensitive archaeosomes. Nanomedicine (Lond) 2016; 11: 2103. doi: 10.2217/nnm-2016-0165.
- 70. Gilani K, et al. Development of respirable nanomicelle carriers for delivery of amphotericin B by jet nebulization. J Pharm Sci 2011; 100: 252. doi: 10.1002/jps.22274.
- 71. Pandey R, et al. Poly (DL-lactide-co-glycolide) nanoparticle-based inhalable sustained drug delivery system for experimental tuberculosis. J Antimicrob Chemother 2003; 52: 981. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkg477.
- 72. Sinha B, Mukherjee B, Pattnaik G. Poly-lactide-co-glycolide nanoparticles containing voriconazole for pulmonary delivery: in vitro and in vivo study. Nanomedicine 2013; 9: 94. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2012.04.005.
- Ohashi K, et al. One-step preparation of rifampicin/poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) nanoparticle-containing mannitol microspheres using a four-fluinozzle spray drier for inhalation therapy of tuberculosis J Control Release 2009; 135: 19. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2008.11.027.
- Sharma A, Sharma S, Khuller G. Lectin-functionalized poly (lactide coglycolide) nanoparticles as oral/aerosolized antitubercular drug carriers for treatment of tuberculosis. J Antimicrob Chemother 2004; 54: 761. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkh411.

- 75. Vaughn JM, et al. Single dose and multiple dose studies of itraconazole nanoparticles. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2006; 63: 95. doi: 10.1016/j. ejpb.2006.01.006.
- 76. Alvarez CA, et al. Aerosolized nanostructured itraconazole as prophylaxis against invasive pulmonary aspergillosis. J Infect 2007; 55: 68. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2007.01.014.
- 77. Tewes F, et al. Formulation of rifampicin–cyclodextrin complexes for lung nebulization J Control Release 2008; 129: 93. doi: 10.1016/j. jconrel.2008.04.007.
- 78. Varshosaz J, et al. Biodistribution of amikacin solid lipid nanoparticles after pulmonary delivery. Biomed Res Int 2013; 2013: 136859. doi: 10.1155/2013/136859.
- 79. Zhang P, et al. Preparation and characterization of budesonide-loaded solid lipid nanoparticles for pulmonary delivery Journal of Chinese Pharmaceutical Sciences 2011; 20: 390. doi:10.5246/jcps.2011.04.049.
- 80. Vyas, SP, et al. Aerosolized liposome-based delivery of amphotericin B to alveolar macrophages. Int J Pharm 2005; 296: 12. doi: 10.1016/j. ijpharm.2005.02.003.
- 81. Adler-Moore J, Proffitt RT, AmBisome: liposomal formulation, structure, mechanism of action and pre-clinical experience. J Antimicrob Chemother 2002; 49 Suppl 1: 21. doi: 10.1093/jac/49.suppl 1.21.
- Sweeney, L.G., et al., Spray-freeze-dried liposomal ciprofloxacin powder for inhaled aerosol drug delivery. Int J Pharm 2005; 305: 180. doi: 10.1016/j. ijpharm.2005.09.010.
- Desai TR, Hancock RE, Finlay WH. Delivery of liposomes in dry powder form: aerodynamic dispersion properties. Eur J Pharm Sci 2003; 20: 459. doi: 10.1016/j.ejps.2003.09.008.
- Liu C, et al. In-vitro and in-vivo evaluation of ciprofloxacin liposomes for pulmonary administration. Drug Dev Ind Pharm 2015; 41: 272. doi: 10.3109/03639045.2013.858740.
- 85. Marier J, et al. Liposomal tobramycin against pulmonary infections of Pseudomonas aeruginosa: a pharmacokinetic and efficacy study following single and multiple intratracheal administrations in rats. J Antimicrob Chemother 2003; 52: 247. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkg317.
- 86. Marier JF, Lavign J, Ducharme MP. Pharmacokinetics and efficacies of liposomal and conventional formulations of tobramycin after intratracheal administration in rats with pulmonary Burkholderia cepacia

infection. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2002; 46: 3776. doi: 10.1128/ AAC.46.12.3776-3781.2002.

- 87. Omri A, Suntres ZE, Shek PN. Enhanced activity of liposomal polymyxin B against Pseudomonas aeruginosa in a rat model of lung infection. Biochem Pharmacol 2002; 64: 1407. doi: 10.1016/s0006-2952(02)01346-1.
- 88. Behr J, et al. Lung deposition of a liposomal cyclosporine A inhalation solution in patients after lung transplantation. J Aerosol Med Pulm Drug Deliv 2009; 22: 121. doi: 10.1089/jamp.2008.0714.
- Chimote G,Banerjee R. In vitro evaluation of inhalable isoniazid loaded surfactant liposomes as an adjunct therapy in pulmonary tuberculosis. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2010; 94: 1. doi: 10.1002/jbm.b.31608.

# Neuroprotective Effect of the Recombinant Human Erythropoietin in the Entorhinal Cortex and Thalamus of Rats Exposed to Focal Cerebral Ischemia

Jasenka Mrsic Pelcic<sup>1,\*</sup>, Maja Rukavina<sup>1</sup>, Goran Pelcic<sup>2</sup>, Vitezić Dinko<sup>1</sup>,

Kristina Pilipovic<sup>1</sup>

## Abstract

Objective: Neuroprotective potential of recombinant human erythropoietin (rhEpo) was reported in various experimental models of brain damage but the exact mechanism of its effect is still unclear. In the present study, the effect of rhEpo administration on the level of neuronal loss and neurodegenerative changes in the dorsolateral band of the entorhinal cortex and ventral posteriomedial nucleus of the thalamus in rats following focal cerebral ischemia was examined.

Methods: Focal cerebral ischemia was induced in male Hanover Wistar rats (250-350 g) by right middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO) model for 1 h. After 23 h of reperfusion, ischemic animals were sacrificed and the neuronal damage was detected using the Fluoro Jade B fluorescent staining to detect neurodegeneration, together with NeuN immunostaining used to detect neuronal loss. Ischemic animals received either vehicle or rhEpo (5000 IU/kg, intraperitoneally) 3 hrs after MCAO, and were sacrificed 21 h later. Sham operated; vehicle treated animals served as the control group.

Results: Administration of rhEpo significantly increased the NeuN immunoreactivity in the entorhinal cortex compared to the neuronal loss detected in ischemic, non-treated animals and decreased the number of Fluoro Jade B positive neurons in comparison to neuronal damage detected in ischemic, non-treated animals. The effect of rhEpo treatment in thalamus was not significant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Pharmacology, School of Medicine, University of Rijeka, B.Branchetta 20, 51000 Rijeka, Croatia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>*Clinical Hospital Centre Rijeka, Clinics for Ophthalmology, Krešimirova 42, 51000 Rijeka, Croatia* 

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: Mršić-Pelčić Jasenka jasenka.mrsic.pelcic@uniri.hr ORCID: 0000-0002-6313-9232

<sup>\*</sup> Received: 25 April 2021 Accepted: 16 June 2021 DOI: 10.17932/EJOH.2020.022/ejoh\_v02i1002

*Neuroprotective Effect of the Recombinant Human Erythropoietin in the Entorhinal Cortex and Thalamus of Rats Exposed to Focal Cerebral Ischemia* 

Conclusion: Our results indicated that focal cerebral ischemia caused neuronal damage in the entorhinal cortex and that rhEpo treatment was effective in preventing above mentioned alterations.

*Keywords:* recombinant human erythropoietin (rhEpo), focal cerebral ischemia, neuroprotection, neuronal loss, neurodegeneration

#### Introduction

Acute ischemic stroke is one of the major causes of death and disabilities worldwide. The majority of ischemic human strokes are caused by middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO) (1). The MCAO model, experimentally induced in rodents by the intraluminal suture method, is well-standardized animal model of focal cerebral ischemia. This model effectively mimic clinical changes that occur during and after human ischemic stroke (2). In addition, it is considered as a reliable model to test a complex pathophysiology of cerebral ischemia such as a potential neuroprotective effect of various drugs.

It is well known that during focal cerebral ischemia neurons and glial cells are severely damaged by compelx cascade of pathophysiological events starting with periinfarct depolarization and overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Consequent oxidative stress followed by more delayed postischemic inflammation cause mitochondrial damage, activation of apoptotic proteins, cytochrome c release, and caspase activation. These events finally result in apoptotic cell death within several days/weeks after cerebral ischemia and are involved in the progression and expansion of brain injury (3,4).

Thus, the administration of drugs that have potential to control one or more elements of the above mentioned pathophysiological cascade during focal cerebral ischemia is important for achieving neuroprotection against ischemia/ reperfusion injury.

Erythropoietin (Epo) is hematopoietic growth factor mostly secreted by the kidneys in response to tissue hypoxia (5). Its crucial role in the regulation of process of erythropoiesis stimulation is well known, but a significant interest in its effect came after it was found that Epo and erythropoietin receptors (EpoR) are expressed locally in response to the brain ischemia. It is assumed that they act as potential endogenous neuroprotectants excreted in response to oxidative stress, especially in the penumbra. This pointed out possibility that exogenous administration of rhEpo could contribute to endogenous neuroprotective response of ischemic brain tissue (6,7). Effective clinical application for the treatment of anemia in renal failure and cancer was well described (8,9) but it was shown

also that rhEpo acts as multifunctional drug that could potentiate endogenous neuroprotective effects as a consequence of activation of various biochemical pathways. This provide anti-apoptotic, anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory effect as well as the stimulation of angiogenic and neurogenic mechanisms (10). The capability of rhEpo to cross the blood-brain barrier after systemic administration, its acceptable therapeutic window and good clinical tolerability are additional advantages for its potential application in human stroke therapy (11,12). However, the exact mechanisms of its neuroprotection are still not completely understood and outcomes from conducted clinical trials are controversial (13,14).

In this study, in order to evaluate the potential neuroprotective effect of rhEpo against ischemia/reperfusion injury, we examined the effects of a) focal cerebral ischemia/reperfusion on the potential neuronal loss and neurodegenerative changes in the entorhinal cortex and thalamus of rats exposed to transient middle cerebral artery occlusion and b) systemic administration of 5000 IU/kg of rhEpo on above mentioned parameters.

## **Materials and Methods**

### Experimental animals

Male Hannover-Wistar rats, weighing 250-350 g were used in this study. Rats were maintained on a 12 h light-dark cycle and allowed free access to food and water. All experiments were performed between 9 a.m. and 3 p.m. in a silent room, at a temperature of 22–24°C. All experimental procedures involving animals were approved by the Faculty's Ethical Committee and were carried out in accordance with the Croatian laws and rules (NN135/06; NN 37/13; 55/13) and with the guidelines set by the European Community Council Directive (2010/63/EU). All efforts were made to minimize animals' suffering and to reduce the number of animals used in experiments. This research was supported by University of Rijeka under project uniri-biomed-18-115 1253.

## Experimental design

The rats were randomly divided into three experimental groups. The first group was sham control, vehicle-treated (n = 4), the second group was MCAO, vehicle-treated (n = 3), and the third group was rhEPO (Eprex 2000 IU/0,5 ml, Janssen Biologics B.V., Leiden, Netherlands) treated (n = 4). The vehicle or rhEPO were administered at 3 h following ischemia induction, rats were sacrificed, and their brains were isolated 24 h post-MCAO induction.

Surgical procedure for the transient middle cerebral artery occlusion

Rats were anesthetized with 350 mg/kg of chloral hydrate administered intraperitoneally (i.p.). The cerebral ischemia-reperfusion injury was performed

Neuroprotective Effect of the Recombinant Human Erythropoietin in the Entorhinal Cortex and Thalamus of Rats Exposed to Focal Cerebral Ischemia

by the right MCAO for 1 h. MCAO was performed by intraluminal nylon suture occlusion method as described by Longa et al. (15). and with modifications suggested by Belavey et al. (16). Briefly, under an operating microscope, the right common carotid artery was exposed and carefully dissected from the surrounding nerves and fascia. The internal carotid artery was isolated and separated from the adjacent vagal nerve, and the ptervgopalatine artery was ligated close to its origin with a 5-0 nylon suture. Next, a 4-0 silk suture was tied loosely around the mobilized external carotid artery stump, and a 3-0 monofilament nylon suture of approximately 4 cm length, prepared by blunting the tip of the suture by heating it near a flame, was inserted through the proximal external carotid artery into the internal carotid artery and subsequently into the circle of Willis, effectively occluding the middle cerebral artery (MCA). The suture was inserted about 18-20 mm from the bifurcation of the common carotid artery after which the neck incision was closed. The body temperature was maintained at 37±0.5°C with a heating pad and rectal probe. After 1 h of MCAO, the intraluminal suture was carefully removed, and the internal carotid artery was reperfused. Shamoperated, vehicle-treated rats served as the control groups. In these animals, the internal carotid artery was only isolated, but the MCA was not occluded. Once awakened from the anesthesia, the animals were returned to their home cages. Animals of all experimental groups were sacrificed 24 h after the induction of MCAO or sham experimental procedure.

#### Histological and immunohistochemical analyses

Histological and immunohistochemical analyses were performed in the dorsolateral band of the entorhinal cortex and ventral posteriomedial nucleus of the thalamus in rats of control, vehicle treated as well as ischemic animals that were injected with either vehicle or rhEpo. For these analyses, animals were perfused transcardially with 4% paraformaldehyde in phosphate-buffered saline. Brains were removed and stored in the fixative solution for 20 h at 4°C and subsequently embedded in paraffin.

For the neuronal loss determination, immunohistochemical detection of NeuN stained cells was performed on 3 µm paraffin sections. Following deparaffinization and rehydration of the sections, antigen retrieval was achieved by microwaving slides in citric acid buffer (10 mM, pH 6.0). Following the blocking step with 5% normal rabbit serum and 1% bovine serum albumin in TBS-Triton X-100 (0.025%), sections were incubated with mouse monoclonal anti-NeuN primary antibody (Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA), overnight at 4°C. The next day biotinylated secondary rabbit anti-mouse antibody (Dako Cytomation, Glostrup, Denmark) was applied for 2 h, followed by 30 min incubation with red fluorescence emitting DyLight 594<sup>TM</sup>-conjugated streptavidin (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA). Microphotographs of the designated brain regions were obtained using the Olympus BX 51microscope equipped with an Olympus DP 70 digital camera (Olympus, Japan).

Fluoro-Jade B fluorescent staining was used to study neurodegenerative changes in the investigated brain regions. Brain slices were first deparaffinized in xylene and then rehydrated in decreasing concentrations of ethanol to deionized water (dH2O). Slides were then subjected to 0.06% potassium permanganate solution for 10 minutes, rinsed twice with dH2O for 1 minute, and incubated in 0.001% Fluoro-Jade B (Millipore, Billerica, MA) solution diluted in 0.1% acetic acid, for 20 minutes in the dark. Slides were washed 3 times and air-dried at room temperature (RT) overnight. The next day, after clearing in xylene, the slides were mounted in Entellan (Merck Millipore) and coverslipped.

#### Photo acquisition and image analysis

In the histological analyses, all slides were examined by epifluorescence microscopy using the appropriate light filter cubes (Olympus BX51 microscope and Olympus DP 71 CCD digital camera; Tokyo, Japan). Microphotographs of the coronal sections of the rat brain were taken at approximately -3.12 to -3.60 mm relative to bregma, according to Paxinos and Watson (2005) (17). All the image processing and analyses were performed manually by a blind investigator by using the ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA). For the thalamus, photographs were taken within the ventral posteromedial thalamic nucleus, and for the entorhinal cortex, the dorsolateral band was visualized.

For the quantification of the number of NeuN-immuno stained nuclei and the intensity of the Fluoro-Jade B staining, brain sections were photographed at  $\times$ 400 magnification. NeuN positive cells were counted within the visual field that was 0.143 mm2 in size. Quantification of the Fluoro-Jade B staining intensity was performed by calculating the densitometric mean of fluorescence intensity. Within each image, background fluorescent intensity was subtracted and mean gray intensity determined which resulted in the measurement of degenerating neurons within that field.

#### Statistical analyses

All the statistical analyses were performed using Statistica software version 13.0 (StatSoft Inc., Tulsa, OK, USA). Statistical significance for the number of NeuN positive cells, and the Fluoro Jade B intensity measurement were calculated according to the one-way analysis of variance, followed by Duncan's multiple range post-hoc test. All the results are expressed as means  $\pm$  standard error of means (SEM). In all the comparisons p<0.05 was considered to indicate statistical significance.

*Neuroprotective Effect of the Recombinant Human Erythropoietin in the Entorhinal Cortex and Thalamus of Rats Exposed to Focal Cerebral Ischemia* 

## Results

We examined the effects of focal cerebral ischemia/reperfusion as well as the influence of i.p. administration of 5000 IU/kg rhEpo injected 3 h after ischemic procedure on the neuronal loss and neurodegenerative changes in entorhinal cortex and thalamus of rats exposed to transient middle cerebral artery occlusion.

#### Neuronal loss

Figure 1 shows the NeuN immunoreactivity and the results of the semiguantitative analysis of number of NeuN positive cells in the dorsolateral band of the entorhinal cortex and ventral posteriomedial nucleus of the thalamus in rats of the control group and ischemic rats treated with either vehicle or rhEpo at 3 h after the induction of ischemia. Representative microphotographs show decreased NeuN immunoreactivity in the examined region of entorhinal cortex of the ischemic, vehicle treated animal compared to the rat of the control group. It is also apparent that the rhEpo treatment caused an increase in the NeuN immunostaining in the enthorinal cortex of the MCAO exposed animals (Figure 1a).. An overall ANOVA reveal a statistically significant difference among tested groups in enthorinal cortex [F (2,8) = 26,447; p<0,05] (Figure 1b).. Namely, the number of NeuN labeled cells in the enthorinal cortex was decreased in MCAO/Veh animals in comparison to the control group, (443.68±57.75 cells/mm 2 in the MCAO/Veh animals versus 599.86±36.42 cells/mm 2 in the control animals). In the ischemic animals treated with rhEpo, the number of NeuN positive cells was 513.51±24.97 cells/mm 2 and it showed significant difference in comparison to the control or MCAO/Veh animals (Figure 1b). In our experimental conditions, an overall ANOVA did not reveal a statistically significant effect of the treatments on the number of NeuN immunopositive cells in thalamus [F (2,8) = 2,173; p>0,05] (Figure 1c and 1d)..

### Neurodegeneration

The presence and extent of neurodegenerative changes were analyzed throughout the dorsolateral band of the entorhinal cortex and the ventral posteromedial nucleus of the thalamus using the Fluoro-Jade B histofluorescence. Within the both examined brain regions of the ischemic, vehicle-treated animals, Fluoro-Jade B positive staining was detected in neuronal cell bodies and neuronal fibers (Figure 2a), contrary to the sections from the animal of the control group in which no degenerative changes were detected. From the microphotographs of the brain sections of the rhEpo injected ischemic rats, it is apparent that the investigated drug caused a slight decrease in the intensity of the Fluoro Jade B staining in both examined regions, but particularly in the dorsolateral entorhinal cortex. The quantification of the Fluoro-Jade B staining intensity in the dorsolateral entorhinal cortex revealed significant neurodegeneration in the animals exposed to MCAO


**Figure 1.** The effect of recombinant human erythropoietin treatment on the neuronal loss measurement in the dorsolateral band of the entorhinal cortex (A, B) and ventral posteriomedial nucleus of the thalamus (C, D) of rats exposed to transient cerebral ischemia. Representative microphotographs of the investigated regions of the entorhinal cortex (A) and the thalamus (C), immunofluorescently labeled with NeuN neuronal marker (red) from the rats sacrificed at 24 h after the induction of 1 h middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO) or sham operation. DAPI fluorescent dye (blue) was used as the nuclear counterstain. Sham-operated, vehicle-treated animals (Control) and the ischemic rats, treated with either vehicle (MCAO/Veh) or rhEpo (MCAO/Epo), were intraperitoneally injected at 3 h after the onset of the ischemic procedure or the end of the sham operation. Scale bar: 200  $\mu$ m. Quantification of neuronal loss in the dorsolateral band of the entorhinal cortex (B) and ventral posteromedial nucleus of the thalamus (D) was done by counting the NeuN positive cells. Each value represents the mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. (N = 3-4). \*P < 0.05, significantly different from the MCAO/Veh group.



**Figure 2.** The effect of recombinant human erythropoietin treatment on the levels of neurodegenerative changes in the dorsolateral band of the entorhinal cortex (A, B) and ventral posteriomedial nucleus of the thalamus (C, D) of rats exposed to transient cerebral ischemia. Representative microphotographs of the investigated regions of the entorhinal cortex (A) and the thalamus (C), from the brain sections stained with Fluoro Jade B fluorescent dye. Rats were sacrificed at 24 h after the induction of 1 h middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO) or sham operation. Sham-operated, vehicle-treated animals (Control) and the ischemic rats, treated with either vehicle (MCAO/Veh) or rhEpo (MCAO/Epo), were intraperitoneally injected at 3 h after the onset of the ischemic procedure or the end of the sham operation. Scale bar: 200  $\mu$ m. Fluoro Jade B staining in the dorsolateral band of the entorhinal cortex (B) and ventral posteromedial nucleus of the thalamus (D) was quantified as a measure of their fluorescence intensity and presented as arbitrary units (A.U.). Each value represents the mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. (N = 3-4). \*P < 0.05, significantly different from the Control group.

*Neuroprotective Effect of the Recombinant Human Erythropoietin in the Entorhinal Cortex and Thalamus of Rats Exposed to Focal Cerebral Ischemia* 

(p<0.05) (Figure 2b) in comparison to the control animals. Also, rhEpo treatment caused a decrease in the Fluoro- Jade B staining intensity in this region but it was not significantly different from values determined in either control or MCAO/Veh animals [F(2,8)=6,6075;p<0.05]. In the examined thalamic region, results of the quantitative analyses were evaluated statistically but the overall ANOVA did not reveal significant differences in the levels of Fluoro Jade B staining intensities between the investigated experimental groups [F(2,8)=4,1727;p<0,05] (Figure 2c and 2d).

#### Discussion

In our study, we have examined extent of neuronal damage i.e., neuronal loss and/ or neurodegeneration in the dorsolateral band of the entorhinal cortex and ventral posteriomedial nucleus of the thalamus 24 h after induction of 1 h MCAO. In addition, the effect of rhEpo administration 3 h after induction of ischemia on the above-mentioned parameters was measured.

The results of presented experiments showed that focal cerebral ischemia induced by MCAO caused a statistically significant neuronal loss in dorsolateral cortex of experimental animals. Namely, registered decrease in NeuN staining in dorsolateral cortex of MCAO/vehicle treated animals was statistically significant in comparison to control animals. Our findings are in accordance with different published results. Thus, it was shown that MCAO followed by 24 h of reperfusion causes significant neuronal damage in various brain regions. The predominant affected areas are mostly striatum and cortex due to the lack of collateral blood supply (2,18,19). It was described also that immunoreactivity for NeuN decrease significantly following MCAO (20), causing massive corticostriatal lesion with the peak of the damage 12-24 h following reperfusion (20,21). Neuronal loss in our experimental model is in good correlation with statistically significant increase in neurodegeneration that we have found in experimental animals exposed to MCAO. Fluoro-Jade B positive neuronal cells in dorsolateral cortex revealed significant degeneration in ischemic animals exposed to MCAO in comparison to control animals according to Liu et al. (20). Duckworth et al. (22) have shown that a time course of escalating cortical neuronal degeneration was evident from 10 min to 7 days with a peak after 4 days following MCAO. On the contrary, Onken et al. (23) published results that have shown no Fluoro Jade staining 24 h after ischemic injury. They detected degenerative neurons 48-72 h post ischemia in different brain regions like hippocampus, striatum, and cortex. Similar neuronal damage in entorhinal cortex was described even up to 6 months following MCAO (24). Differences in time related neuronal damage following focal cerebral ischemia described above are mostly caused by different brain region sensitivity and suture placement technique. In conclusion,

in our experimental model significant neuronal damage i.e., neuronal loss and neurodegeneration of the dorsolateral cortical neurons are described within first 24 h after 1 h MCAO.

In contrast to above mentioned findings, in our experimental model we did not find a significant neuronal damage, manifested neither by neuronal loss nor extent of neurodegeneration in the ventral posteriomedial nucleus of the thalamus of rats exposed to MCAO in comparison to control animals. The thalamus is a deep brain structure important for maintenance of normal neurological functions and transmission of various signals (25). In most animal models including MCAO, the thalamus is spared from the acute ischemic damage. Namely, the thalamus is primarily supplied by branches of the posterior cerebral arteries with minor contribution from the internal carotid artery. So, after MCAO, the brain damage is predominantly registered in regions supplied by the middle cerebral artery like cortex, striatum or globus pallidus. But it was shown also that brain damage following MCAO could occur even in deep regions such as thalamus because of the occlusion of deep and small cerebral arteries arising directly from the internal carotid artery (25,26), proximally to the origin of middle cerebral artery. Consequently, this region could still be affected due to synaptic connections with the primary injury site. It was described that the widespread corticostriatal damage could result in retrograde and anterograde degeneration, from the perilesional cortex via the descending axons to the thalamus (27). This is probable explanation for results published by various authors demonstrating delayed neuronal damage even in the thalamus following MCAO (25,28). It was described that MCAO induced neuronal damage in regions within middle cerebral artery zone of irrigation, causes widespread edema that leads to secondary, delayed neuronal damage in the thalamus beginning 24 hours after induction of ischemia (27,29,30). This delayed response of thalamic neuronal tissue is probable explanation for lack of significant neuronal damage in thalamus region in our experimental model.

Therapeutic strategies against cerebral ischemia are still very limited. The only clinically approved drug against acute ischemic stroke is tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) (31). However, tPA's narrow therapeutic time window (up to 4.5 hours after the induction of stroke) significantly reduces its' therapeutic potential in the treatment against focal cerebral ischemia (5). Various potential neuroprotective approaches have failed to reduce neuronal damage, neurological deficits, and mortality after cerebral ischemia, which leads to conclusion that discovery of novel therapies against focal cerebral ischemia are of the highest importance. It was shown that one of the promising therapeutic approaches in preventing neuronal damage might be administration of rhEpo (3,6,7). According to Brines & Cerami, several authors have confirmed that a different doses

*Neuroprotective Effect of the Recombinant Human Erythropoietin in the Entorhinal Cortex and Thalamus of Rats Exposed to Focal Cerebral Ischemia* 

(500-5000 IU/kg) of rhEPO, administered systemically in rodents or primates, were reaching neuroprotective concentrations within various brain regions approximately 1 h after drug application (32). However, most of the experimental research in various animal models that examined the neuroprotective effects of different doses of rhEpo on brain damage, proposed 5000 IU/kg of rhEpo as optimal dosage (32). It was also shown that rhEpo applied at various time-periods ranging from pre-treatment to up to 24 h after ischemia, exerts the best results when applied within the first 3 h after induction of ischemia (18).

Administration of 5000 IU/kg of rhEpo in our experimental conditions, 3 h after induction of 1h MCAO, significantly preserved the neuronal loss in dorsolateral cortex of ischemic animals in comparison to ischemic, vehicletreated rats. Namely, the number of NeuN staining neurons in ischemic animals treated with rhEpo is significantly higher in comparison to ischemic, vehicle treated animals. Administration of the drug was also effective in decreasing the number of cortical neurons undergoing neurodegenerative changes of ischemic animals although this result did not reach statistical significance in comparison to ischemic, vehicle treated animals. Administration or rhEpo did not reveal any significant changes in neuronal damage manifested as neuronal loss and/or neurodegeneration in thalamus of ischemic rats.

Neuroprotective effect of rhEpo application was revealed also by other authors although in different experimental conditions and in various brain regions. Various authors have shown that application of 5000 IU/kg of rhEPO either before or even up to 12 h after induction of 1 h MCAO, significantly reduced the size of the brain infarction and extent of inflammation and apoptosis (33) in the ischemic penumbra in rats. In addition, it was demonstrated that rhEpo administration significantly attenuates the neuronal loss in various brain regions after focal transient cerebral ischemia (34). Moreover, administration of the drug exerts decrease in various stages of complex pathophysiological cascades following cerebral ischemia (12,18). Juneman et al. (3) and Im et al. (35) have shown also that reduction of cerebral edema by administration of rhEpo exerts its indirect or secondary neuroprotective effect. Namely, it was shown that administration of rhEpo in rodents caused decrease in swelling of ischemic tissue such as impairment of microcirculation in the critically hypoperfused penumbral area. All these results have shown that rhEpo is drug with neuroprotective potential against cerebral ischemia and that further experiments are needed to confirm these results.

#### Conclusion

Our experimental results clearly showed that focal cerebral ischemia induced by MCAO caused significant neuronal damage in the dorsolateral band of the

entorhinal cortex. Contrary to neuronal loss and neurodegenerative changes in dorsolateral cortex, absence of such results in ventral posteriomedial nucleus of the thalamus is probably due to delayed neuronal response to ischemic changes caused by MCAO in thalamic brain region. Postischemic administration of rhEpo significantly reduced neuronal loss and caused moderate decrease in neurodegeneration. These results clearly indicated neuroprotective potential of rhEpo administered after induction of MCAO.

#### References

- 1. Lalkovičová M, Danielisová V. Neuroprotection and antioxidants. Neural Regen Res 2016; 11(6): 865–74.
- 2. Liu F, McCullough LD. The middle cerebral artery occlusion model of transient focal cerebral ischemia. Methods Mol Biol 2014; 1135: 81-93.
- 3. Juenemann M, Braun T, Schleicher N, Yeniguen M, Schramm P, Gerriets T et al. Neuroprotective mechanisms of erythropoietin in a rat stroke model. Transl Neurosci. 2020; 11(1): 48–59.
- 4. Jickling GC, Sharp FR. Improving the translation of animal ischemic stroke studies to humans. Metab Brain Dis 2015; 30(2): 461-7.
- 5. Simon F, Floros N, Ibing W, Schelzig H, Knapsis A. Neuroprotective potential of erythropoietin after ischemic injury of the central nervous system. Neural Regen Res. 2019; 14(8): 1309-12.
- 6. Subirós N, García del Barco D, Coro-Antich RM. Erythropoietin: still on the neuroprotection road. Ther Adv Neurol Disord 2012; 5(3): 161–173.
- 7. Jelkmann W. Physiology and Pharmacology of Erythropoietin. Transfus Med Hemother 2013; 40(5): 302–9.
- Kaiafa G, Savopoulos C, Kanellos I, Mylonas KS, Tsikalakis G, Tegos T et al. Anemia and stroke: Where do we stand? Acta Neurol Scand 2016; 135(6): 596 – 602.
- Shahab MH, Saifullah Khan S. Erythropoietin Administration for Anemia Due to Chronic Kidney Disease - Subcutaneous OR Intravenous, What Do We Know So Far? Cureus 2020; Sep 10;12(9):e10358. doi: 10.7759/ cureus.10358.
- 10. Al-Qahtani JM, Abdel-Wahab BA, Abd El-Aziz SM. Long-term moderate dose exogenous erythropoetin treatment protects from intermittent hypoxiainduced spatial learning deficits and hippocampal oxidative stress in young rats. Neurochem Res 2014; 39(1): 161-71.

*Neuroprotective Effect of the Recombinant Human Erythropoietin in the Entorhinal Cortex and Thalamus of Rats Exposed to Focal Cerebral Ischemia* 

- Alnaeeli M, Wang L, Piknova B, Rogers H, Li X, Noguchi CT. Erythropoietin in brain development and beyond. Anat Res Int 2012; 1-15. doi: 10.1155/2012/953264
- 12. Wang R, Wu X, Zhao H, Min L, Tao Z, Ji X et al. Effects of erythropoietin combined with tissue plasminogen activator on the rats following cerebral ischemia and reperfusion. Brain Circ 2016; 2(1): 54-60.
- 13. Minnerup J, Heidrich J, Rogalewski A, Schäbitz WR, Wellmann J. The efficacy of erythropoietin and its analogues in animal stroke models: a metaanalysis. Stroke 2012; 40(9): 3113-20.
- 14. Pearl RG. Erythropoietin and organ protection: lessons from negative clinical trials. Crit Care 2014; 18(5): 526. doi: 10.1186/s13054-014-0526-9
- 15. Longa EZ, Weinstein PR, Carlson S, Cummins R. Reversible middle cerebral artery occlusion without craniectomy in rats. Stroke 1989; 20: 84-91.
- 16. Belayev L, Alonso OF, Busto R, Zhao W, Ginsberg MD. Middle cerebral artery occlusion in the rat by intraluminal suture. Neurological and pathological evaluation of an improved model. Stroke 1996; 27(9): 1616-22.
- 17. Paxinos G, Watson C. The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates. 6th ed. Amsterdam, Netherlands, Academic Press, 2007.
- Mršić-Pelčić J, Pilipović K, Pelčić G, Vitezić D, Župan G. Decrease in Oxidative Stress Parameters after Post-Ischaemic Recombinant Human Erythropoietin Administration in the Hippocampus of Rats Exposed to Focal Cerebral Ischaemia. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 2017; 121(6): 453-64.
- 19. Danielisova V, Gottlieb M, Bonova P, Nemethova M, Burda J. Bradykinin postconditioning ameliorates focal cerebral ischemia in the rat. Neurochem Int 2014; 72: 22-9.
- Liu F, Schafer DP, McCullough LD. TTC, Fluoro-Jade B and NeuN staining confirm evolving phases of infarction induced by middle cerebral artery occlusion. J Neurosci Methods 2009; 17981: 1-8.
- 21. Ferrer I, Krupinski J, Goutan E, Marti E, Ambrosio S, Arenas E. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor reduces cortical cell death by ischemia after middle cerebral artery occlusion in the rat. Acta Neuropathol 2001; 101: 229-38.
- 22. Duckworth EAM, Butler TL, De Mesquita D, Collier SN, Collier L, Pennypacker KR. Temporary focal ischemia in the mouse: technical aspects and patterns of Fluoro-Jade evident neurodegeneration. Brain Res 2005; 1042(1): 29-36.

- 23. Onken M, Berger S, Kristian T. Simple model of forebrain ischemia in mouse. J Neurosci Methods 2011; 204(2): 254-61.
- 24. Delattre C, Bournonville C, Auger F, Lopes R, Delmaire C, Henon H et al. Hippocampal Deformations and Entorhinal Cortex Atrophy as an Anatomical Signature of Long-Term Cognitive Impairment: from the MCAO Rat Model to the Stroke Patient. Transl Stroke Res 2018; 9(3): 294-305.
- 25. Bordes S, Werner C, Mathkour M, McCormack E, Iwanaga J, Loukas M et al. Arterial Supply of the Thalamus: A Comprehensive Review. World Neurosurg 2020; 137: 310-8.
- 26. El Amki M, Clavier T, Perzo N, Bernard R, Guichet PO, Castel H.J. Hypothalamic, thalamic, and hippocampal lesions in the mouse MCAO model: Potential involvement of deep cerebral arteries? Neurosci Methods 2015; 254: 80-5.
- 27. Mitkari B, Kerkelä E, Nystedt J, Korhonen M, Jolkkonen J. Unexpected complication in a rat stroke model: exacerbation of secondary pathology in the thalamus by subacute intraarterial administration of human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2015; 35(3): 363-6.
- Ali Shah F, Li T, Al Kury LT, Zeb A, Khatoon S, Liu G ET AL. Pathological Comparisons of the Hippocampal Changes in the Transient and Permanent Middle Cerebral Artery Occlusion Rat Models. Front Neurol 2019; doi. org/10.3389/fneur.2019.01178
- 29. Dihné M, Grommes C, Lutzenburg M, Witte OW, Block F. Different Mechanisms of Secondary Neuronal Damage in Thalamic Nuclei After Focal Cerebral Ischemia in Rats. Stroke 2002; 33(12): 3006–11.
- 30. Carmichael ST. Rodent models of focal stroke: size, mechanism, and purpose. NeuroRx 2005; 2(3): 396-409.
- Kanazawa M, Takahashi T, Nishizawa M, Shimohata T. Therapeutic Strategies to Attenuate Hemorrhagic Transformation After Tissue Plasminogen Activator Treatment for Acute Ischemic Stroke. J Atheroscler Thromb 2017; 24(3): 240-53.
- 32. Brines M, Cerami A. Erythropoietin and Engineered Innate Repair Activators. Methods Mol Biol 2013; 982: 1-11.
- 33. Prosvirnina MS, Shmonin AA, Melnikova EV, Vlasov TD. Neuroprotective effects of erythropoietin in focal brain ischemia in rats. Bull Exp Biol Med

Neuroprotective Effect of the Recombinant Human Erythropoietin in the Entorhinal Cortex and Thalamus of Rats Exposed to Focal Cerebral Ischemia

2015; 156(5): 642-44.

- 34. Souvenir R, Doycheva D, Zhang JH, Tang J. Erythropoietin in Stroke Therapy: Friend or Foe. Curr Med Chem 2015; 22(10): 1205–13.
- 35. Im JH, Yeo <sup>IJ, Hwang CJ, Lee KS, Jin Tae Hong JT.</sup> PEGylated Erythropoietin Protects against Brain Injury in the MCAO-Induced Stroke Model by Blocking NFκB Activation. Biomol Ther (Seoul) 2020; 28(2): 152-62.

## Metformin-Loaded Nanostructured Plga: A New Strategy for Enhancing Efficacy of Metformin in Breast Cancer Treatment

Mehdi Dadashpour<sup>1</sup>, Monir Yaghoutrang<sup>1</sup>, Mahta Zarghami<sup>2</sup>, Esat Bonabi<sup>2</sup>, Nosratollah Zarghami<sup>1,3\*</sup>

#### Abstract

Objective: Nano-formulation approaches would be more efficient in decreasing drug toxicity, preventing tumor development in relation to free form of drug.

Methods: Therefore, the purpose of this study is to construct poly lactic-coglycolic acid (PLGA) nanoparticles (NPs) loaded with Metformin (MET) to investigate their cytotoxicity as well as their impact on expression levels of apoptosis related genes in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells. Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscope (FE-SEM) and Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) characterized the synthesized NPs. Then, MTT assay was used to evaluate and compare the cytotoxic effect of various concentrations of the chemotherapeutic molecules in pure and nano-formulated forms after 48 h exposure time. Moreover, the mRNA levels of apoptosis related genes expression were studied by quantitative PCR.

Results: By encapsulating MET into PLGA, the cytotoxic efficiency of the compounds considerably augmented for all concentrations. Furthermore, the results demonstrated that MET-loaded NPs could induce apoptosis in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell by upregulation of caspase-3, caspase-7 and BAX, along with Bcl-XL, hTERT and Cyclin D1 down regulation.

\*Corresponding author: Nosratollah Zarghami zarghami@tbzmed.ac.ir ORCID: 0000-0002-4236-4537

\* Received: 13 May 2021 Accepted: 18 June 2021 DOI: 10.17932/EJOH.2020.022/ejoh v02i1003

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Stem Cell Research Center, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Department of Medical Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Istanbul Aydin University, Istanbul, Turkey

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Department of Clinical Biochemistry and Laboratory Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran

Metformin-Loaded Nanostructured Plga: A New Strategy for Enhancing Efficacy of Metformin in Breast Cancer Treatment

Conclusion: Ultimately, this study revealed that the combination of MET-PLGANPs with current cancer therapies holds promise for the potential of breast cancer treatment.

Keywords: Metformin, PLGA, Nanoparticles, MDA-MB-231, Apoptosis

## Introduction

Nowadays, cancer is a major global health issue around the world (1). Breast cancer is considered the most prevalent malignancy, with an estimated 2.3 million new cases (11.7%) in 2020 and a leading health challenge among females. According to some estimates in recent years, it is responsible for 6.9% of mortality cases in female breast cancers (2). Despite the significant progression in therapeutic strategies for breast cancer, many patients suffer from relapse and metastasis. The etiology of insufficient therapies can be related to ambiguous insight into molecular mechanisms involved in breast cancer initiation, progression, and metastasis. Multiple genomic and epigenetic events have long been considered hallmarks for the initiation of cancer formation and progression of the disease (3). Current approaches of cancer therapy including radiotherapy and chemotherapy are restricted because of owning various frustrating and unfavorable adverse effects such as unwanted toxicity on the normal cells. Therefore, it is essential that innovative strategies and approaches be developed to effective treatment of human breast cancer (4).

Currently, numerous non-hazardous natural compound have been derived, and their ability in moderating cancer relapse and improvement of treatment have been assessed (5). Some naturals compound like MET is promising products for therapeutic efficiency.

Metformin is a semi-synthetic oral hypoglycemic drug which mostly moderates blood glucose by activating of the vital AMPK/mTOR/p70S6K pathway, inhibiting hepatic glucose output and increasing glucose uptake (6). The anti-cancer ability of MET in various cancer cells including prostate, breast, ovary, cervix cancer, and leukemia incidents both *in vivo* and *in vitro* have been studied and recorded (7-9). In spite of the recognized efficacy of MET in treating cancer, the use of this drug in medication is related to some major challenges such as poor biological availability, short half-life, low solubility, low duration of stability in the bloodstream and degradation (10, 11). To overcome these limitations, use of nano-formulation system that allows controlled and sustained release of nano-formulated drugs can be a hopeful way to rise the activity and transfer of natural compounds to target cells.

Polymeric particles are a distinctive type of nanomaterials that have found many new applications in delivery systems for in situ controlled release of therapeutic applications (12). Nanoparticle drug delivery supplies numerous advantages, due to high encapsulation efficiency, protected drug from degradation, improved biodistribution, delivered, and controlled drug release (5, 13)

In the current study, we aimed to encapsulate MET into PLGA NPs and investigate the improvement of its anti-cancer effects on MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells through modulating the expression of apoptosis related gens, as the important molecules involved in tumorigenesis.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Synthesis of NPs

The improved w/o/w produced MET-encapsulated PLGA NPs with slight modifications (9). Briefly, a premixed emulsion of PLGA (100 mg) and MET (6 mg) in DCM-Methanol (4:1) was added to the 2% PVA. The mixture was emulsified by sonication at 70,000 rpm for 1 min to produce w/o/w emulsion. Then, a rotary evaporator under a low vacuum was used to evaporate the DCM. The NPs formed by this method were gathered via three cycles of centrifugating at 12,500 g for 15 min.

#### Nanoparticle characterization

To characterize the surface charge (zeta potential), hydrodynamic particle size (nm) and polydispersity index (PDI) of designed NPs, dynamic light scattering (DLS) system (Zetasizer Nano ZS; Malvern Instrument) possessing a heliumneon laser beam at 633 nm wavelength. Furthermore, FE-SEM (Hitachi Ltd., Japan) was exploited to investigate the surface morphological features and Shape of prepared NPs. Also, to further evaluate MET's successful loading on prepared NPs, free MET and NPs, FTIR spectroscopy was utilized to investigate the chemical configuration of the samples in the range of 400–4000 cm<sup>-1</sup>.

#### In vitro release study

The MET release pattern from PLGA NPs was obtained through immersing 80 mg of NPs into 10 mL of PBS (pH 7.4, 37 °C) under shaking at 200 rpm. At certain time intervals, 1 mL of incubation solution was transferred for UV-Vis spectroscopy absorbance measurement at 234 nm and replaced with 1 mL of fresh PBS. The cumulative drug release data were plotted as a function of time:

Cumulative amount of release (%) =Ct/(C $\infty$  ×100)

where Ct is the quantity of MET discharged at time t and  $C\infty$  refers to total quantity of MET loaded in 100 mg of NPs

Metformin-Loaded Nanostructured Plga: A New Strategy for Enhancing Efficacy of Metformin in Breast Cancer Treatment

## Cell line maintenance

MDA-MB- 231 breast cancer cell line was gifted from researcher at our university. MDA-MB- 231 cell were grown in RMPI-640 supplemented with 5% FBS (v/v) and 1% pen/strep (v/v). The medium was replaced every other to remove floating debris and the flasks were fed with fresh medium *In vitro cytotoxicity* 

To evaluate the effect of synthesized NPs in increasing the cytotoxicity of MET on MDA-MB- 231, MTT assay was done. First, MDA-MB- 231, at a density of 8,000 cells per well, were seeded into 96-well plates and incubated for 24 h to become confluent. Then, the cells were treated with various concentrations of MET and MET-NPs and incubated for 24, 48, and 72 h. Then, the medium was aspirated and 50  $\mu$ L MTT solution (2 mg/ml, Sigma Aldrich) was added to each well. Next, MTT solution was discarded and replaced with DMSO to dissolve the formazan crystals. The absorbance of solubilized formazan in 96-well plates was measured at a wavelength of 490 nm using an ELISA plate reader (Dynex MRX).

## Real-time PCR assay

According to the manufacturer instructions, after exposure of A549 cells with different concentrations of the NPs for 48 h, the total RNA was isolated using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen, USA). Then, a Nanodrop was applied to determine the purity and quantity of total RNA. RevertAid<sup>TM</sup> First Strand cDNA synthesis kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA, USA) was used for synthesizing cDNA from 1 µg RNA. Next, the quantitative PCR (qPCR) was carried out in a Mic qPCR Cycler (BioMolecular Systems, Australia) by applying SYBR Green Premix PCR Master Mix (Roche, Mannheim, Germany), specific primers, and cDNA. The housekeeping GAPDH gene was applied as the internal control, and the quantification of the samples was analyzed using the 2<sup>-ΔΔet</sup> method.

## Statistical analysis

All data were presented as mean  $\pm$  SD. Statistical analysis was performed using chisquare to determine the statistical significance between the two means evaluated at p<0.05. All experiments were replicated at least three times. Analyses were conducted in GraphPad Prism 8.0 (GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA).

## Results

## Characterization of drug-loaded NPs

The O/W single-emulsion solvent-evaporation process was successfully used for the formulation of the MET-PLGA NPs. The particle size distribution of NPs was assessed by a dynamic light scattering (DLS) method. According to the Table 1, the typical particles size, polydispersity, and zeta potential of NPs was  $150\pm1.17$  nm, 0.175, and zeta potential of  $-7.3\pm0.27$  mV, respectively. Drug encapsulated NPs presented larger diameter and a smaller polydispersity than blank NPs. This may include drugs that have amphiphilic copolymers that are completely bound.

**Table 1.** Mean ( $\pm$ SD) particle diameter, Polydispersity ( $\pm$ SD) and zeta potential of drug loaded PLGA-PEG NPs.

Formulation	Particle size	Polydispersity	Zeta potential
	(nm)	index	(mV)
PLGA NPs	150±1.17	0.175	-7.33±0.27
MET-loaded PLGA/ PEG NPs	190±5.56	0.166	-6.2±3.1

The morphological characterization of MET NPs was studied by SEM. The images of the drug-loaded NPs revealed their regular spherical shape (Figure 1). The surface morphology of NPs was smooth with a regular spherical shape. The size distribution of NPs was narrow with a mean particle diameter  $\sim 80$  nm. The ranges of drug encapsulation efficiencies (EE) were about 76.8 % with a loading capacity of  $12.3 \pm 2.2$ , respectively.



**Figure 1.** A DLS histogram showing the size distribution of MET NPs. The average size ranged from 130–200 nm. B Field emission scanning electron microscopy (FE-SEM) image of surface morphology of MET-Cur NPs

FTIR was applied to describe the functional groups present in pour and drugs loaded NPs (Fig. 2). The FTIR spectrum of pure MET showed two typical peaks at 3369 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 3294 cm<sup>-1</sup> relatives to the N–H primary stretching

# *Metformin-Loaded Nanostructured Plga: A New Strategy for Enhancing Efficacy of Metformin in Breast Cancer Treatment*

vibrational mode and a peak at 3155 cm<sup>-1</sup> because of the N–H secondary stretching, and characteristic peaks at 1626 cm-1 and 1567 cm<sup>-1</sup>, attributed to C-N stretching. The physical mixture spectrum can be considered as the sum of pure MET and PLGA spectra. The spectrum of MET-loaded NPs shows the typical bands at 3300, 3200, 1625, 1583 cm<sup>-1</sup> which are assigned to N-H asymmetric stretching, N-H symmetric stretching, C=N stretching and N-H bending groups. The characteristic spectral peaks corresponding to MET functional groups were present in nano-formulations. Also, all the characteristic absorption bands of MET functional groups in the drug loaded polymer, indicating the MET encapsulation into NPs



Figure 2. Infrared spectra of MET, PLGA, MET NPs.

#### Drug release

Cumulative MET release from MET-NPs was assessed for 140 h at 37 °C. As shown in Fig. 3, MET-NPs exhibited an initial rapid drug discharge pursued by slower constant release rates, which was consistent with the previously reported release kinetics of MET from PLGA NPs. In the first 48 and 72 h, roughly 55.3% and 72.4% of MET were released from the PLGA NPs, respectively.



Figure 3. Cumulative release (%) behavior of MET from NPs in phosphate buffered saline (pH 7.4).

#### Cell cytotoxicity and synergistic analysis

To evaluate the growth inhibition effect of MET and MET-PLGA NPs, MTT assay was applied using different doses (0-30 mM) of free MET and MET-PLGANPs on MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells during 24, 48, and 72 h (Fig. 4 and Fig. 5). Cells without treatment were used as control groups.



*Figure 4.* The in vitro cytotoxicity by MTT assay. The viability of MDA-MB-231 cells receiving various treatments of free MET and MET–NPs, Cur–NPs. Error bars indicate standard deviations. (\* p value < 0.05, \*\* p value < 0.001).

Metformin-Loaded Nanostructured Plga: A New Strategy for Enhancing Efficacy of Metformin in Breast Cancer Treatment



**Figure 5.** Relative mRNA expression levels of CyclinD1, P53 and apoptosis related genes in MDA-MB-231 cancer cell line treated with by free and nano-formulated form of MET. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01 and \*\*\*p<0.001 vs. control was considered significant.

#### Gene expression findings

The expression of apoptosis related genes including caspase-3 caspase-7, bcl-2, Bax, Cyclin D1 in MDA-MB-231 cancer cell lines after exposure to MET and MET-PLGA NPs for 48 of incubation was determined by real-time PCR. GAPDH region normalized and calculated by the 2<sup>-ΔΔet</sup> method to assess the alterations in expression levels of apoptosis related genes between the control and treated MDA-MB-231 cancer. Our results showed that MET in free and nano-capsulated forms altered the expression levels of mentioned genes more than free MET and untreated cells. Moreover, our results displayed, caspase-7, caspase-3, and Bax (apoptosis markers) mRNA levels were meaningfully increased in the cells treated with nano-formulated forms of MET compared to control.

#### Discussion

As previously described, release of drug from nanoparticles indicates the combined effects of swelling, matrix erosion, degradation processes and in situ cross-linking (14). The sustained and sequential release pattern of chemotherapeutic agents could be valuable for inducing apoptosis and attaining an effective approach in cancer treatment (15).

As revealed in Fig. 4 in both free and nano forms of MET showed a concentration-dependent growth inhibitory effect on MDA-MB-231 cells. Remarkably, MET-loaded NPs exploited so much higher cytotoxicity relative to the free form of MET against the MDA-MB-231 cells. Improved growth inhibitory activity of drugs in nano-capsulated form might be distributed to the controlled release of drugs from the PLGA NPs and several procedures that included in the high cellular uptake of encapsulated drugs and as a result, leads to the effective discharge of drugs from the PLGA NPs into the cancer cells cytosol.

In one study, the effect of MET- NPs showed a greater inhibitory effect than pure MET by reducing the expression of the hTERT gene in T47D and MDA-MB-231 cell lines in *in vitro* [16]. Liou and co-colleges showed that MET and SIL in combination form prevent the survival of human cervical cancer cells (17).

Bcl-2 is a member of a substantial family of apoptosis regulatory proteins, which regulate apoptosis by either inducing proapoptotic proteins or inhibiting anti-apoptotic proteins(18). Caspases as a unique family of cysteine proteases are the executive proteins. Caspase-3 and caspase-9 are a family of protease enzymes that have a key role in both intrinsic and extrinsic apoptotic pathways (19). The p53 is a tumor suppressor encoded by the gene TP53, and has properties of a transcriptional activator, and it seems to act a role in the regulatory control of normal cellular proliferation. It is also noteworthy that, p53 contributes directly in the intrinsic path of apoptosis by interacting with the Bcl-2 family that prompt mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (20). These observations led to the suggestion that P53/BCL2/BAX apoptosis signaling pathway plays an essential role as a coordinator of apoptosis.

Various studies in consistent with our study have shown that free MET and MET-NPs as well as in combined with other chemotherapeutic molecules can alter the expression levels of apoptosis genes (16, 21). In the preliminary study conducted in our group, it was found that MET in combination with SIL exhibits synergistic antiproliferative effects via down-regulating Cyclin D1 and hTERT (16). Moreover, in another study conducted by our group, it was shown that MET loaded into polymeric PLGA-PEG NPs may be a convenient drug delivery system to enhance its anticancer effects for ovarian cancer therapy(9).

In the present study, we proved that delivery of MET in nanoparticles, which are identified as appropriate delivery system for in situ drug delivery and formulation of anticancer drug with low solubility in water leads to strong antiproliferative effect on lung carcinoma cells. Metformin-Loaded Nanostructured Plga: A New Strategy for Enhancing Efficacy of Metformin in Breast Cancer Treatment

## Conclusions

In this study, we had successfully fabricated a PLGA-PEG NPs as vehicle to nanocarrier structure to deliver of MET into breast cancer cells for natural based compound chemotherapy. According to the achieved results, MET loaded PLGA-PEG NPs where be able of killing MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells much more than free drug, which is attributing to the sustained and controlled release. Furthermore, MET strongly prevent proliferation of cell and induces apoptosis via reducing of cyclin D1 and bcl-2 mRNA expression levels. In addition, MET increases the RNA transcription level of caspase-3, caspase-7 and Bax as well as p53, resulting in growth inhibition and apoptosis induction. This preliminary study showed that the loading of the chemotherapeutic molecules into PLGA might lead to developing novel and safe drug nano-delivery systems to treat breast cancer effectively.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the Stem Cell Research Center for the use of their laboratory facilities.

## **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

## References

- 1. Clinton SK, Giovannucci EL, Hursting SD. The World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research Third Expert Report on Diet, Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Cancer: Impact and Future Directions. The Journal of Nutrition 2020;150:663-671.
- Sung H., et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians. n/a(n/a).
- 3. Riggio AI, Varley KE, Welm AL, The lingering mysteries of metastatic recurrence in breast cancer. British Journal of Cancer 2021;124:13-26.
- 4. Lotfi-Attari J, et al., Co-delivery of curcumin and chrysin by polymeric nanoparticles inhibit synergistically growth and hTERT gene expression in human colorectal cancer cells. Nutrition and cancer 2017;69:1290-1299.
- 5. Farajzadeh R, et al. Nano-encapsulated metformin-curcumin in PLGA/PEG inhibits synergistically growth and hTERT gene expression in human breast cancer cells. Artificial cells, nanomedicine, and biotechnology 2018;46:917-

925.

- 6. Jafari-Gharabaghlou D, et al. Combination of metformin and phenformin synergistically inhibits proliferation and hTERT expression in human breast cancer cells. Iranian Journal of Basic Medical Sciences 2018;21:1167.
- 7. Saraei P, et al. The beneficial effects of metformin on cancer prevention and therapy: a comprehensive review of recent advances. Cancer management and research 2019;11:3295.
- 8. Chatran M, et al. Synergistic anti-proliferative effects of metformin and silibinin combination on T47D breast cancer cells via hTERT and cyclin D1 inhibition. Drug Res 2018;68:710-716.
- Faramarzi L, et al. Enhanced anti-proliferative and pro-apoptotic effects of metformin encapsulated PLGA-PEG nanoparticles on SKOV3 human ovarian carcinoma cells. Artificial Cells, Nanomedicine, and Biotechnology 2019;47:737-746.
- Bhandare N, Narayana A. Applications of nanotechnology in cancer: a literature review of imaging and treatment. J Nucl Med Radiat Ther 2014;5:1-9.
- 11.Hrkach JS, et al. Nanotechnology for biomaterials engineering: structural characterization of amphiphilic polymeric nanoparticles by 1H NMR spectroscopy. Biomaterials 1997;18:27-30.
- 12. Akbarzadeh Khiavi M, Safary A, Somi MH. Recent advances in targeted therapy of colorectal cancer: impacts of monoclonal antibodies nanoconjugates. BioImpacts: BI. 2019;9:123-127.
- 13. Dadashpour M, et al. Biomimetic synthesis of silver nanoparticles using Matricaria chamomilla extract and their potential anticancer activity against human lung cancer cells. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 2018;92:902-912. doi: 10.1016/j.msec.2018.07.053.
- Wu H, et al. Chitosan–polycaprolactone copolymer microspheres for transforming growth factor-β1 delivery. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 2011; 82: 602-8. doi: 10.1016/j.colsurfb.2010.10.024.
- 15. Senapati S, et al. Controlled drug delivery vehicles for cancer treatment and their performance. Signal transduction and targeted therapy, 2018;3:1-19.
- 16. Amirsaadat S, et al. metformin and Silibinin co-loaded PLGA-PEG nanoparticles for effective combination therapy against human breast cancer cells. Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology 2021;61:102107.
- 17. Liou WS, et al. Herbal product silibinin-induced programmed cell death is

*Metformin-Loaded Nanostructured Plga: A New Strategy for Enhancing Efficacy of Metformin in Breast Cancer Treatment* 

enhanced by metformin in cervical cancer cells at the dose without influence on nonmalignant cells. Journal of Applied Biomedicine, 2015;13:113-121.

- 18. Baharara J. et al. Silver nanoparticles biosynthesized using Achillea biebersteinii flower extract: apoptosis induction in MCF-7 cells via caspase activation and regulation of Bax and Bcl-2 gene expression. Molecules 2015;20: 2693-2706.
- 19. El-Aal AAA, et al. Post-immunization immunohistochemical expression of Caspase 3 and p53 apoptotic markers in experimental hydatidosis. Revista Brasileira de Parasitologia Veterinária 2016;25:333-340.
- 20. Aubrey BJ, et al. How does p53 induce apoptosis and how does this relate to p53-mediated tumour suppression? Cell Death & Differentiation 2018;25:104-113.
- 21. Samadzadeh S, et al. An implantable smart hyperthermia nanofiber with switchable, controlled and sustained drug release: possible application in prevention of cancer local recurrence. Materials Science and Engineering:C 2021;118:111384.48

## Use of Behavior Management Techniques by Dental Practitioners During the Treatment of Pediatric Patients from Different Age Groups

Maria Shindova<sup>1, \*</sup>, Ani Belcheva<sup>1</sup>

#### Abstract

**Objective:** Behavior management is widely agreed to be a key factor in the care of children in pediatric dentistry. It is important dentists have a wide range of behavior guidance techniques to meet the needs of the individual child. To investigate the dental practitioners` use of the non-pharmacological behavior management techniques in attending pediatric dental patients from different age groups.

**Methods:** An anonymous, self-completed mailed survey was sent to 200 dentists. The recorded information included items on the frequency of using different non-pharmacological behavior management techniques and factors influencing their use, socio-demographic questions, working experience, specialty status. Descriptive statistics were generated to estimate demographic data and the frequency of using behavior management techniques

**Results:** Distraction was practiced by all participants mainly for patients less than 3 years (43.22%). Positive reinforcement and Stop signals have been chosen for middle-aged children. One-third of practitioners selected Voice control techniques in each patient's age group. The least employment of non-pharmacological techniques by respondents was for the restraint, used mainly for the very young patients (7.63%), and Latent inhibition, predominantly in children 6-12 years old. Almost all practitioners reported being influenced by children's emotional state, their past dental experience and the age in the selection of a behavior management technique.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Department of Pediatric Dentistry, Faculty of Dental Medicine, Medical University – Plovdiv, Bulgaria

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding Author

Maria Shindova mariya.shindova@gmail.com; mariya.shindova@mu-plovdiv.bg ORCID: 0000-0003-2996-3700

<sup>\*</sup> Received: 6 May 2021 Accepted: 20 June 2021 DOI: 10.17932/EJOH.2020.022/ejoh v02i1004

*Use of Behavior Management Techniques by Dental Practitioners During the Treatment of Pediatric Patients from Different Age Groups* 

**Conclusion:** The results of the present study highlighted the use of a variety of non-pharmacological behavior management techniques among dental specialists, although few acknowledged having adequate skills to apply the techniques. The choice of the technique was mainly influenced by the children's factors.

Keywords: behavior management techniques, age, pediatric dentistry

#### Introduction

Behavior management is widely agreed to be a key factor in the care of children in pediatric dentistry. Therefore, it is one of the cornerstones of the specialty [1]. The child's behavior on each dental visit depends on the variables such as age, parental behavior, parental anxiety, medical history, type of dental procedure, behavior guidance and the procedural techniques followed by the dentist [2]. As the etiology of dental anxiety is multi-factorial, it is important that dentists have a wide range of behavior management techniques (BMTs) to meet the needs of the individual child and are tolerant and flexible in the implementation of these techniques [3]. The American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry (AAPD) has issued a set of guidelines on behavior guidance for pediatric dental patients [4]. BMTs have been classified as pharmacological as opposed to nonpharmacological, communicative (communication) versus advanced BMTs and universally accepted ones, as well as informal and common-sense techniques versus formal relaxation techniques [1,5]. The AAPD has classified BMTs into basic and advanced techniques. BMTs are a set of procedures employed by dental practitioners used to alleviate anxiety, establish communication, instill a positive attitude and enable performing quality oral health care safely and efficiently for children [6]. Children exhibit different attitudes and temperaments, which are influenced by their differences in physical, emotional, and social development. Thus, to communicate successfully with a child, it is necessary to understand his or her intellectual level and how cognitive processes work associated with the relevant age period. As per Jean Piaget's theory of cognitive development, a child's way of thinking about and viewing the world is quite different at the different age stages in its development [7]. Research on the association between the application of the BMTs and the proper age period of the child's development for their use can enable the pediatric dentists to better understand them and deliver improved quality of care. Few publications reporting the application of BMTs were retrieved despite its importance in creating a positive attitude towards dentistry. Therefore, the objective of the study was to investigate the dental practitioners' use of the non-pharmacological BMTs in attending pediatric dental patients from different age groups.

#### Methods

The cross-sectional study consisted of an anonymous, self-completed mailed survey. Potential subjects were sent an email describing the study and inviting their participation. The participants were randomly selected from the official register of the Bulgarian Dental Organization in Plovdiv, Bulgaria. Two hundred dentists were invited to participate in the study, extrapolated using a randomized program from the complete email list of the scientific society's members. The mail included a brief cover letter explaining the purpose of the survey. It stressed the anonymity of the survey and that the responses would be aggregated. The surveys were mailed within three weeks. The study was conducted in September 2020 and consisted of two sections, including multiple-choice and close-ended questions. Section I included demographic questions, including gender, age, work setting, experience, specialty status-general practitioner versus specialist. From section II an information concerning the frequency of using different nonpharmacological BMTs during child age periods and factors influencing the choice for their use was collected. To limit the survey to dental practitioners who provide dental care to children, the first question was 'Do you provide dental care to children at your dental office?'. In case of a negative answer, the respondent was excluded from the study.

The clinical study was conducted in accordance with the conditions and principles of the Declaration of Helsinki, the existing EU Clinical Trial Directive (EC) No. 2001/20/EC, the recommendations of the Ethical Committee at the Medical University of Plovdiv, Bulgaria and the International ethical and scientific quality standard for designing, recording and reporting trials that involve the participation of human subjects - Good Clinical Practices (GCP). Ethical approval was obtained from the University Research Ethics Committee before circulating the questionnaire (Document No.P-1371/30.04.2018).

The sample size was calculated using an online calculator (www.raosoft. com/samplesize.html). Based on the calculation with 5% margin of error, 95% confidence level, and 80% response distribution, at least 173 dental practitioners were needed out of a total of 581 dentists involved [8]. By the end of the data collection phase, 118 completed questionnaires were collected from the participants.

The obtained data were tabulated, processed and analyzed using SPSS (Statistical Package for Social Science software) version 21.0 (IBM, USA). Descriptive statistics were generated to estimate demographic data and the frequency of using BMTs.

*Use of Behavior Management Techniques by Dental Practitioners During the Treatment of Pediatric Patients from Different Age Groups* 

#### Results

Out of the 200 surveys that were mailed, 118 subjects (59% response rate) were included in the statistical analysis for this study. The sample size was n=118 dentists. Demographic information about responders and their practices is reported in Table 1.

	n	Percentage of responders
Gender		
Male	47	39.8%
Female	71	60.2%
Total years in practice		
< 5 years	23	19.5%
5 - 10 years	54	45.8%
10 - 20 years	26	22.0%
> 20 years	15	12.7%
Specialty status		
General practitioner	69	58.5%
Another specialty, not including pediatric dentistry	40	33.9%
Pediatric dentistry	9	7.6%
Location of facility		
Urban	113	95.8%
Rural	5	4.2%
Received formal training on B	MT	
Yes	22	18.6%
No		81.4%

Table 1. Demographic and practice information of survey practitioners, n=118

Overall, the mean age of 118 subjects responding to this item was  $36.75\pm9.16$  years old. Subjects were asked to indicate one of four categories of total years in practice (0-5 years, 5-10 years, 10-20 years and over 20 years). The largest group had 5-10 years of clinical experience, while the other groups were reasonably well distributed. Female respondents outnumbered males 1.5:1. 113 dentists (95.8%) were working in urban located facilities. A large portion, 81.4%, reported to have not been received formal training on BMT.

Table 2 summarizes the usage of different BMTs for different age periods. Responses regarding the general use of BMTs were as follows: Nonverbal communication, Tell-show-do (TSD), Voice control, Positive and Negative reinforcement, Distraction and Stop signals, Modelling, Desensitization, Cognitive restructuring, Parental presence/absence, Latent inhibition, Restraint.

BMTs	0-3 years	3-6 years	6-12 years	>12 years	
Nonverbal communica-	16.95%	9.32%	8.47%		
tion	(20)	(11)	(10)	8.47% (10)	
T.11.1	33.89%	51.69%	24.58%	22.03%	
Tell-snow-do (TSD)	(40)	(61)	(29)	(26)	
<b>V</b> /- <sup>1</sup> / 1	22.03%	27.12%	30.51%	24.58%	
voice control	(26)	(32)	(36)	(29)	
Desitive seinfersenet	38.14%	62.71%	52.54%	49.15%	
Positive reinforcement	(45)	(74)	(62)	(58)	
Negative minformer	0.85% (1)	5.08% (6)	12.71%	13.60%	
Negative reinforcement			(15)	(16)	
Distriction	43.22%	23.73%	15.25%	11.86%	
Distraction	(51)	(28)	(18)	(14)	
Stan sizes1a	15.25%	46.61%	58.47%	52.54%	
Stop signals	(18)	(55)	(69)	(62)	
Madallina	11.02%	11.02%	26.27%	21.19%	
Widdening	(13)	(13)	(31)	(25)	
Degengitization	15.25%	15.25%	1.600/(2)	0.950/ (1)	
Desensitization	(18)	(18)	1.09% (2)	0.85% (1)	
Cognitive restructuring	1.69% (2)	2.54% (3)	4.24% (5)	8.47% (10)	
Parental presence/ab-	20.34%	18.64%	13.60%	11.86%	
sence	(24)	(22)	(16)	(14)	
Latent inhibition	-	0.85% (1)	3.39% (4)	1.69% (2)	
Restraint	7.63% (9)	-	0.85% (1)	-	

Table 2. Frequency and percentage of BMT for each patient's age group, n=118

The majority of practitioners responded that with all aged groups, except for 0-3 years, they use: Positive reinforcement, Stop signals and Voice control. TSD was selected by 51.69% of participants to be used for 3-6 years patients. Positive reinforcement and Stop signals have been chosen for middle-aged children, about 60% indicated their use of Positive reinforcement for patients 6-12 and about 50% employed both techniques for patients older than 12 years. Distraction techniques were mainly selected for the very young patients, with 43.22% responded using

*Use of Behavior Management Techniques by Dental Practitioners During the Treatment of Pediatric Patients from Different Age Groups* 

the technique for patients 0-3 years, one quarter employed it for 3-6 years, and less than 15 % - in patients older than 6 years. One-third of practitioners selected Voice control techniques in each patient's age group. The least employment of non-pharmacological BMTs by respondents was for the restraint, used mainly for the very young patients (7.63%), and Latent inhibition, predominantly in children 6-12 years old. Techniques percentages for different ages are described in table 2.

Almost all practitioners who participated in the current study reported being influenced by children's emotional state, their past dental experience and the age in the selection of a BMT during handling of a particular child. Parents' preferences were reported by only 2.54% of the practitioners to influence their choice of a BMT (Table 3).

Influencing factors	percent	n
Past dental experience	77.97%	92
Oral health	22.03%	26
Emotional state	82.20%	97
Social status	16.95%	20
Medical history	15.25%	18
Child`s age	73.73%	87
Parents' dental anxiety	33.89%	40
Parents' preferences for a BMT	2.54%	3

Table 3. Factors influencing the choice of particular BMTs while handling a child dental patient

#### Discussion

The response rate to this survey (59%) is an indication of the interest that dental practitioners have in the topic of behavior management of child dental patients. The great majority of respondents in our investigation employed communicative BMTs, particularly with children under 12 years of age. Levy and Domoto found that Positive reinforcement, Distraction and TSD were used by a high percentage of dental practitioners in the state of Washington. In contrast to the present study, they also found that Nonverbal communication in the form of touching and stroking a child's hand or arm was employed by 83% of pediatric dental practitioners [9].

AAPD indicates TSD and Positive reinforcement are two of the most successful yet simple basic BMTs which can be used with all pediatric patients regardless of their cooperation level [4]. In the present study, these two BMTs were found to be the most popular techniques in the age of 3-6 years. A recent survey of members of AAPD reported similar popularity (99%) with both techniques (4,10). TSD is one of the most used techniques for patients 3-8 years, as it is safe, non-invasive and being acceptable among practitioners and parents (1,4,6,11). In line with the present study, Rajasekhar et al. reported that 43.1% of participants in their study opted for TSD for building rapport with children of age 4-7 years (2). As the child reaches 3-6 years, they represent objects symbolically and attain imaginary means of thinking. They are intensely curious about the dentist's office and eager to learn about the novel things around (12). Hence, explaining the treatment and allowing them to handle and test the instruments for work would be a motivating factor in managing these children (13).

Positive reinforcement was reported as highly effective in children of 6-12 years by respondents in the present study, as the child derives from a sense of the industry and accomplishment during this stage of development. Peretz et al. also consider that receiving Positive reinforcement will facilitate positive dental attitudes in pediatric dental patients and promote future dental attendance (14). However, a theme related to the suitability and the personal value attached to receiving Positive reinforcement emerged.

Stop signals were reported as the most accepted BMT by 9-11-year-old children in an exploratory study investigating children's perceptions of dental BMTs in 2013. In line with these results, the vast majority of the respondents in our research determined Signaling as the most commonly used and most effective BMT in the treatment of children during the period of middle childhood (6-12 years). There is a dearth of literature reporting its use among dental practitioners [15]. Australian dentists were the only ones to report allowing the child to exercise some form of control over the treatment. As benefits of its use, the authors considered the provision of control aiding patient's active role during treatment, relief of worry, distress and physical discomfort treatment (12).

Distraction is also a simple and effective BMT that could be used with any child, regardless of their cooperation level (4). The results of the current study are in line with other reported surveys where Distraction has been reported to be used by the majority of respondents during the treatment of children under 3 years (13,16). Concerning the attitude related to Distraction, more than half of the practitioners in India have responded positively to its use during the treatment of 2-7-year-old children (2). In contrast, Nazal et al. demonstrated that the routine use of such technique is less than TSD and Positive reinforcement (17).

Although some authors in the USA and Arabian region reported highfrequency use of Voice control (92%), in the present study only one-third of the respondents selected it for anxiety reduction during treatment of pediatric dental patients (13,17). Our study corresponds with a clear trend indicating a decline in the use of Voice control among dentists (18). This is consistent with a continual *Use of Behavior Management Techniques by Dental Practitioners During the Treatment of Pediatric Patients from Different Age Groups* 

decline in the acceptance of Voice control as an appropriate BMT among parents [19,20] Kuhn and Allen opined that the utilization pattern of BMT has changed over the past three decades. Parents` acceptability, legal/ethical concerns, accessibility and feasibility of certain BMTs are the factors most often cited for these changes (21).

The children of age group 0-3 years are emotionally attached to their parents and depict separation anxiety. Therefore, parental presence in the dental operatory is a crucial factor among these children during treatment. Practitioners should get accustomed to this added involvement of parents and welcome the queries and concerns (22). Nonetheless, 20.34% of the respondents in the current study use the Parental presence/absence technique while treating children under 3 years. The present results show a trend indicating a decrease in the use of Parental presence/absence technique with the increasing age of patients. In Egypt, almost all practitioners (93.10%) prefer this technique for the management of uncooperative 0-2 years patients, as the major problem in providing treatment for them are their infantile behavior and immature communication ability (6, 23). While in India, less than half of the respondents (40.2%) rely on parental presence while treating children of 0-2 years (2). A cross-sectional study in 2018 indicated that dentists utilized parental absence with approximately 34% of patients from all age groups (18). Probably similar usage across all age patients' groups responds with the parental demand for presence in the operatory. Several studies have reported that contemporary parents have a clear preference to be present in the operatory for all types of dental procedures - a trend reported in various countries and cultures (14,22). However, Parental absence can be an effective BMT and have high parental acceptance if discussed with parents before the treatment (24,25).

In past studies, the use of physical restraint was reported by more than 80% of respondents (13). Restraint techniques are recommended in specific situations (4). A study in the Arabian region showed a wide use of protective stabilization whose results are within the range reported by members of the AAPD – 68-73% (15,19). The least employment of non-pharmacological BMTs by the respondents in our study was for the restraint, used mainly for the very young patients (7.63%) – 0-3 years. In line with the current study, the use of restraint has been reported as the least used BMT amongst UK dentists (26). The present results showed that Latent inhibition has also been used by very few practitioners mainly for patients during the period of middle childhood. The specific indications, preparation and time consumption required for such techniques are likely reasons for the low frequency of use reported in the current and a previous study (17). In 2016 Williams found that dental practitioners are least familiar with this technique, as it is a psychological technique that is not a traditional part of dental curricula (16).

The analysis of the present results demonstrates that personal factors associated with the physical, emotional and psychological health of the child mainly influence dental practitioners' choice of BMT to be used in a particular pediatric dental patient. This indicates that the child's emotion and presenting behavior in the dental setting are important. Of the individual-level factors of the children, the previous dental experience was reported by the majority of authors to influence their choice that underlines the importance of proper child management in pediatric dentistry (27). In line with the present findings, Oredugba et al. and Kawia et al. reported that a major factor influencing the choice of BMT was also the child's age (27,28). Unlike the present results, Carr et al. reported the reason for the use of most BMT to be parental influence (29). Generally, the personal factors of the child were reported by more dentists than socioeconomic status and medical history to influence their choice for a BMT to be applied.

The information of the participants collected during the study will be kept strictly confidential and will not be disclosed to third parties. Confidentiality will be guaranteed by a coded ID number, access will be granted exclusively to the study investigators.

#### Conclusion

The results of the present study highlighted the use of a variety of nonpharmacological BMTs among dental specialists, although few acknowledged having adequate skills to apply the techniques. Distraction is the best BMT for patients under 3 years, while Positive reinforcement was the most effective in 3-6 years old children. Almost all respondents have rated Stop signals as the most commonly used non-pharmacological BMTs for patients older than 6 years. The choice of the technique was mainly influenced by the personal factors associated with the physical and phycological health of the child.

A limitation of the present study which is worth mentioning is the small sample size. Since the responsibility rate was lower than the ideal one, it had not been possible to survey the estimated larger sample size. Therefore, the chance of assuming as true a false premise has increased.

## References

- Roberts JF, et al. Review: behavior management techniques in paediatric dentistry. EurArch Paediatr Dent. 2010;11:166-74. doi: 10.1007/BF03262738. PMID: 20840826.
- 2. Rajasekhar S, et al. Knowledge and attitudes of dental graduates regarding the application of child psychology during the behavioral guidance of children:

*Use of Behavior Management Techniques by Dental Practitioners During the Treatment of Pediatric Patients from Different Age Groups* 

A cross-sectional survey of dental students. SRM J Res Dent Sci.2018;9:53. doi: 10.4103/srmjrds.srmjrds 10 18

- 3. Feigal RJ. Guiding and managing the child dental patien. J Dent Educ. 2001; 65:1369-77. PMID: 11780655
- 4. American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. Behavior guidance for the pediatric dental patient. The Reference Manual of Pediatric Dentistry. Chicago, Ill.: American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. 2020;292-310.
- Folayan MO, Idehen E. Factors influencing the use of behavioral management techniques during child management by dentists. J Clin Pediatr Dent. 2004; 28:155-61. doi: 10.17796/jcpd.28.2.18w2v457t8878p69.
- 6. Kanzel S, et al. Behavior Management Techniques Adopted by Pediatric Dentists in Egypt. 2019. DOI:10.21203/rs.2.17100/v1
- Badakar C, et al. Evaluation of the Relevance of Piaget's Cognitive Principles among Parented and Orphan Children in Belagavi City, Karnataka, India: A Comparative Study. Int J Clin Pediatr Dent. 2017;10:346-350. doi: 10.5005/ jp-journals-10005-1463.
- Dillman DA, Smyth JD, Christian LM. Internet, mail and mixed-mode surveys. The tailored design method. 3rd ed. New Jork: John Wiley & Sons, 2009.
- 9. Levy RL, Domoto PK. Current techniques for behavior management: a survey. Pediatr Dent. 1979;1:160-4. PMID: 162216
- Vishwakarma AP,et al.Effectiveness of two different behavioral modification techniques among 5-7-year-old children: A randomized controlled trial. J Indian Soc Pedod Prev Dent. 2017;35:143-149. doi: 10.4103/ JISPPD. JISPPD\_257\_16.
- 11. Daghamin SA, et al. Behavior Management Techniques in Pediatric Dentistry: How Well are they Accepted?. Acad J Ped Neonatol. 2017; 5: 555722. doi: 10.1007/BF03262738.
- Adair SM, et al. A survey of members of the American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry on their use of behavior management techniques. Pediatr Dent. 2004;26:159-66. PMID: 15132279.
- Wright FA, Giebartowski JE, McMurray NE. A national survey of dentists' management of children with anxiety or behaviour problems. Aust Dent J. 1991;36:378-83. DOI: 10.1111/j.1834-7819.1991.tb01361.x
- 14. Peretz B,et al. Child-management techniques. Are there differences in the

way female and male pediatric dentists in Israel practice? Braz Dent J. 2003;14:82-6. doi.org/10.1590/S0103-64402003000200002.

- Davies EB, et al. An exploratory study investigating children's perceptions of dental behavioural management techniques. Int J Paediatr Dent. 2013;23:297-309. doi: 10.1111/ipd.12007.
- Williams KA, et al. Assessing the Attitudes and Clinical Practices of Ohio Dentists Treating Patients with Dental Anxiety. Dent J (Basel). 2016;4:33. DOI: 10.3390/dj4040033
- 17. Nazzal, H., et al. The use of behaviour management techniques amongst dentists working in the Arabian region:a cross-sectional survey study. Eur Arch Paediatr Dent. 2020;22:375. doi: 10.1007/s40368-020-00560-8.
- Wells MH, et al. Usage of Behavior Guidance Techniques Differs by Provider and Practice Characteristics. Pediatr Dent. 2018;40:201-208. PMID: 29793567
- Eaton JJ, et al. Attitudes of contemporary parents toward behavior management techniques used in pediatric dentistry. Pediatr Dent. 2005;27:107-13. PMID: 15926287
- Strange DM. The evolution of behavior guidance: a history of professional, practice, corporate and societal influences. Pediatr Dent. 2014;36:128-31. PMID: 24717750.
- Kuhn BR, Allen KD. Expanding child behavior management technology in pediatric dentistry: a behavioral science perspective. Pediatr Dent. 1994;16:13-7. PMID: 8015936.
- 22. Shroff S, Hughes C, Mobley C. Attitudes and preferences of parents about being present in the dental operatory. Pediatr Dent. 2015;37:51-5. PMID: 25685974.
- Cunha RF,et al. Longitudinal behavioral analysis during dental care of children aged 0 to 3 years. Braz Oral Res. 2009;23:302-6. doi: 10.1590/ s1806-83242009000300013.
- 24. Boka V,et al. Parental acceptance of behaviour-management techniques used in paediatric dentistry and its relation to parental dental anxiety and experience. Eur Arch Paediatr Dent. 2014;15:333-9. doi: 10.1007/ s40368-014-0119-y. Epub 2014 Mar 28.
- 25. Kotsanos N,et al. Parental presence versus absence in the dental operatory: a technique to manage the uncooperative child dental patient. Eur J Paediatr Dent. 2005;6(3):144-8. PMID: 16216095.

*Use of Behavior Management Techniques by Dental Practitioners During the Treatment of Pediatric Patients from Different Age Groups* 

- Crossley ML, Joshi G. An investigation of paediatric dentists' attitudes towards parental accompaniment and behavioural management techniques in the UK. Br Dent J. 2002;192:517-21. doi: 10.1038/sj.bdj.4801416. PMID: 12047123.
- Kawia HM,et al. Application of Behavior Management Techniques for Paediatric Dental Patients by Tanzanian Dental Practitioners. Open Dent J. 2015;9:455-61. doi: 10.2174/1874210601509010455.
- Oredugba FA, Sanu OO. Behavior Management Techniques Employed by Nigerian Dentists for their Child Patients.Pesquisa Brasileira em Odontopediatria e Clínica Integrada. 2009;9:271-276. available at: https:// www.redalyc.org/articulo.oa?id=63712843003.
- 29. Carr KR,et al. Behavior management techniques among pediatric dentists practicing in the southeastern United States. Pediatr Dent. 1999;21:347-53. PMID: 10509336.

## A Comparison of Anxiety Level and Nutritional Habits of University Students During Exam and Non-Exam Periods

Indrani Kalkan<sup>1,\*</sup>, Büşra Selamet<sup>1</sup>, Çağla Sanem Karakoca<sup>1</sup>, Melike Kumaş<sup>1</sup>, Melisa Düşmez<sup>1</sup>, Şevval Ayaşan<sup>1</sup>

## Abstract

**Objective:** Stress and anxiety play an active role in determining the nutritional habits of an individual. This study was aimed to determine the relation between anxiety levels and nutritional habits of university students during exam and non-exam periods.

**Methods:** The study was conducted on a total of 259 students (131 females and 128 males) enrolled in the first grade of the Faculty of Health Sciences in a private university in Istanbul, during the 2019-2020 academic year. Participants' energy and macro-nutrient consumption were calculated using BeBis software program (8.1 version) and 3-day food consumption records. Turkish version of State-Trait Anxiety Inventory was used to analyse the anxiety levels. Obtained data was evaluated by SPSS (22.0 version) statistical package program. Anova and t-test were applied to determine the difference between energy and food consumption between the two genders during exam and non-exam periods (p<0.05).

**Results:** While there was no significant difference between number of meals consumed in a day or skipping of meals between males and females (p > 0.05), breakfast was the most skipped meal (28.96%), the most common reason being lack of time (20.46%). Percent of energy coming from carbohydrates, fats and proteins did not show a gender difference during examination times (p > 0.05). However, in normal times, males were found to consume more fats and proteins whereas females consumed more carbohydrates (p < 0.05). Frequency of consumption of tea-coffee, sugary and fried foods increased prior to examination period (p < 0.001). State Anxiety Scores (SAI) decreased by 11 points during

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Istanbul Aydin University, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Istanbul, Turkey

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding Author

Indrani Kalkan indranikalkan@aydin.edu.tr ORCID: 0000-0001-6020-349X

<sup>\*</sup> Received: 31 March 2021 Accepted: 1 June 2021 DOI: 10.17932/EJOH.2020.022/ejoh v02i1005

A Comparison of Anxiety Level and Nutritional Habits of University Students During Exam and Non-Exam Periods

examination period in general (mean= $34.08\pm8.58$ ). State and trait anxiety scores were significantly higher in females (p<0.05).

**Conclusion:** Students consumed energy dense foods during/prior to examination periods related to anxiety levels. Providing students with adequate knowledge regarding balanced nutrition and psychological support during stressful periods are important for physical, spiritual and social development.

*Keywords:* Anxiety Scale, Nutrition, Nutritional Habits, Exam Period, Non-Exam Period,

#### Introduction

Adequate and balanced nutrition is very important in young adults due to rapid physical growth as well as pubertal and cognitive development. Food habits in young adults such as university students are different from general population due to time constraints, peer influence, palatability and therefore prefer foods which are easy to access, economic, tasty and easy to prepare (1). Unhealthy food habits as skipping of meals, high intake of sugary beverages, fried and salty food and low intake of fresh vegetables, wholegrains and legumes have led to increased incidence of obesity and other health problems in young adults in recent years (2). Females were more likely to choose healthier foods as fresh fruits and vegetables in accordance with their higher nutrition literacy status as compared to males (3,4). However, in other cases females tended to consume more carbohydrates, fatty foods or snack items under stress as compared to males (5.6). Males on the other hand were likely to purchase alcoholic or energy beverages (7.8). Economic factors and education levels were also reported to affect health behaviors as eating habits, physical activity, smoking and consumption of alcohol and drugs in young individuals (9). Therefore, it may be suggested that nutritional habits in young adults may be negatively influenced by various genetic, sociodemographic, and environmental factors.

Anxiety is defined as the emotion experienced when an individual encounters a new situation and does not know how to react to it (10). Anxiety was reported to affect an individual both physiologically and psychologically. Examination or test anxiety was encountered widely among young individuals especially if the success was related to their career choices and opportunities. While intermediate exam anxiety positively affected academic success, high-level anxiety was found to have negative effects on it (11). Although test anxiety is managed differently among individuals, it is found to affect food habits, physical activity, smoking, drinking and caffeine consumption in young adults. In addition, increased consumption of foods rich in carbohydrates and fat content whereas decreased

consumption of fruits and vegetables was noted among students leading to weight gain during these periods (11, 12).

This study was aimed to determine the relation between anxiety levels and nutritional habits of university students during exam and non-exam periods.

## Methods

#### Study Participants

The study was conducted on a total of 259 students (131 females and 128 males) enrolled in the first grade of the Faculty of Health Sciences in a private university in Istanbul, Turkey during the 2019-2020 academic year. The study was conducted between January 2020-March 2020. Care was taken to enable a uniform distribution with respect to the students' gender and fields of study (Nutrition and Dietetics, Nursing, Physiotherapy, Health Management, Social Services, Child Development, Odiology). The total population of students enrolled in the Faculty of Health Sciences in the academic year 2019-2020 were 760 approximately. The experimental sample was calculated to be 255 according to stratified sampling method (confidence level 95%, margin of error 5%). The participants were selected on a random basis after taking their voluntary approval.

## Ethical issues

The study was conducted in accordance with ethical standards of the responsible committee on human experimentation (institutional and national) and with Helsinki Declaration. Ethical approval for this study was acquired by the university's ethical committee dated on January 14, 2020 (Document No: B.30. AYD.0.00.00-500.06.04/220-2019/152).

## Data Collection

Data was collected by a means of a questionnaires conducted by face-to-face interview technique.

## Demographic Information Form

The individuals were asked to fill in general information about themselves as sex, age, weight (kg), height (m) and the department of the faculty that they were enrolled in. Body Mass Index (BMI was calculated from body weight and height measurements using the formula body weight / height2). BMI was assessed as per below: (15)

A Comparison of Anxiety Level and Nutritional Habits of University Students During Exam and Non-Exam Periods

BMI <18 kg / m<sup>2</sup>: underweight

18 <BMI <24.99 kg / m<sup>2</sup>: normal weight 24.99 <BMI <29.99 kg / m<sup>2</sup>: overweight-slightly obese

#### Dietary Habits

In the dietary habits section, questions related to eating habits of an individual were examined, such as the number of meals consumed per day, skipping meal habits, preferences of food types at meals, food preferences during examination periods. In addition, during the examination period and non-examination period. Food consumption frequency and a 3-day food consumption record was taken for all individuals during examination and normal periods, to calculate and compare the macro and micro-nutrients during these periods. The book "Food and Food Photo Catalog: Measures and Amounts" was used to determine the portions and amounts of foods consumed.

The participants were also questioned regarding their appetite (hunger and desire to eat) during meals in order to evaluate the reason for skipping meals. In addition, the students were also asked about consumption of caffeinated beverages and cigarettes during normal and examination periods.

Using the food consumption records, macro and micro-nutrients intake amounts were calculated using the BeBiS (Nutrition Information Systems) program.

#### Measurement of Anxiety: State Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI)

Turkish version (Oner and Le Compte, 1983) of State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI) (Spielberger et al, 1970) was used to analyse the anxiety levels of participants. The tool comprised of two sub-scales each consisting of 20 items evaluating state (SAI) and trait (TAI) anxiety levels using 4-point likert scale (not at all, somewhat, moderately so, very much so). The first part of the scale (SAI) indicated the anxiety level of the individual at that moment ("I am calm right now") and the responses were scored as 1=Not at all, 2=Somewhat, 3=Moderately so, 4=Very much so. The second part of the scale (TAI) indicated the continuous anxiety levels ("Usually I am in the mood") of individuals with the same kind of likert scale, however, the responses were scored as 0=not at all, 1=Somewhat, 2=Moderately so, 3=Very much so, respectively. Total scores vary between 20-80 points and higher scores indicated greater degree of anxiety.

#### Statistical Analysis

Obtained data were analyzed by the SPSS 22.0 software program. The means, standard deviations, frequencies and percentage values of demographic variables,
STAI scores and intake of nutrients by participants were calculated. As the data was found to be normally distributed, t-test and one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) were applied to measure the effect of demographic data on the scales. Independent t-test was applied to compare the data between males and females for nutritient intakes and STAI scores during exam and non-exam periods. Level of significance was defined as p<0.05.

# Results

The study was conducted on 259 students (131 females, 128 males) whose average age was calculated as  $21.31\pm1.49$  years. Mean height and weight of female participants were found to be  $165.98\pm5.96$  cm and  $59.21\pm10.20$  kg, whereas for males the values were  $179.37\pm6.74$  cm and  $78.00\pm11.77$  kg respectively. On categorizing the participants according to BMI ranges, 17.1% of participants were in the 24.99 - 29.99 range considered to be overweight or slightly obese. On the other hand, 67.6% of the participants were within BMI range of 19.0 - 24.99 and were considered normal.

Food habits of participants were enquired and recorded as per statements during non-exam periods. On enquiring about the number of meals that participants consumed in a day, 31.7% stated that they consumed three meals, 29.3% four meals and 10.2% consumed two meals in a day. Gender difference was not found to be significant (p>0.05). 56.8% of participants spent more than 500 TL and 30.9% spent 250-500 TL for personal food expenditures in a month. Regarding appetite during meals, %50.4 stated that they had adequate appetite whereas 45.6% mentioned that they lacked appetite during certain meals. Most of the participants (57.1%) drank 6-10 cups of water whereas 18.9% consumed more than 10 cups and 23.9 consumed less than 5 cups of water in a day.

Of the participants, 76.4% consumed 1-5 cups of other beverages whereas 18.1% did not consume any other beverage apart from water. 96.1% of the student ate outside, 63.3% ate outside on 1-5 days, 20.5% 6-10 days, 12.7% on more than 10 days in a month. Regarding meals eaten outside, 59.07% ate lunch and 42.86% ate dinner outside. 63.0% of the students preferred fast food whereas 19.8% preferred home-made meals. Regarding eating late nights or on waking up in the middle of night, 39% responded negatively whereas 31.3% mentioned that they did so sometimes and 29.7% mentioned that they did it on a regular basis. Regarding vitamin and mineral supplements, 64.9% replied in negative, 14.7% sometimes took supplements 20.5% took supplements on a regular basis.

Regarding skipping of meals, 67.2% of females and 69.5% of male participants stated to skipped at least one meal in a day. Breakfast was the

# A Comparison of Anxiety Level and Nutritional Habits of University Students During Exam and Non-Exam Periods

most skipped meal (38.22%) followed by lunch (35.14%). The main reason for skipping meals stated by both genders was lack of time (39.0%) followed by lack of appetite (14.29%).

All the above questioned were repeated to the participants during exam periods. Independent t-test and ANOVA were performed to compare and evaluate the responses provided by males and females at two different times (exam and non-exam) to understand the effect of exam related anxiety on the food habits of participants (Table 2).

On analysing the snacking habits of participants, carbonated sugary drinks were the most consumed beverage (40.15%) followed by buttermilk (31.66%). Chocolates were found to be the most consumed item (54.83%) followed by nuts (44.79%), fruits (42.47%) and cookies (40.54%). Table 1 shows energy, carbohydrate (CHO), protein and fat consumption of participants in normal times.

	Gender	Ν	Mean	S.D.	t	р
Enerji	Female	131	1390.57	388.67755	2.022	0.44
(kcal)	Male	128	1283.51	459.64735		
CHO (g)	Female	131	159.587	56.92048	3.643	0.000*
	Male	128	134.976	51.71989		
СНО	Female	131	46.6641	7.11727	6.094	0.000*
(%)	Male	128	39.2422	11.84795		
Protein	Female	131	57.3198	19.87399	0.855	0,393
(g)	Male	128	55.0914	22.04717		
Protein	Female	131	16.4427	3.02594	-3.230	0.001*
(%)	Male	128	17.6313	2.89506		
Fat (g)	Female	131	56.2061	18.08225	-0.639	0,523
	Male	128	58.3313	33.37331		
Fat (%)	Female	131	36.5344	5.85767	-3.031	0.003*
	Male	128	38.9344	6.83438		

Table 1. Energy, CHO, Protein and Fat consumption during non-exam times

\*p<0.05 (significant)

Regarding consumption of alcoholic and caffeinated beverages, 90.7% of participants consumed coffee, 90.6 % tea and 50.6 % alcohol on an occasional basis. 80.7 % of the students stated that they consumed 1-5 cups of coffee in a day, 69.9% stated consuming 1-5 cups of tea on a daily basis. Regarding alcohol, 80% of the students consumed alcohol 1-5 days in a month and 12.3% consumed 6-10 days in a month.

On conducting the State Anxiety Inventory (SAI) during non-exam time, mean SAI score of participants was calculated as  $34.08 \pm 8.58$  (Minimum 16 - Maximum 71). The scores were found to be 11 points lower than those calculated during exam times. Independent t-test was conducted to evaluate the difference between scores obtained by male and female participants. SAI score was found to be significantly higher in females during both exam and non-exam times (p<0.05).

Table 2 compares food habits, macro-nutrient intakes and SAI scores of male and female participants during exam and non-exam periods.

Items		Ν	Mean	S.D.	t	р
Amount (TL)	Exam Period	259	2.44	0.70	0.885	0.377
spent on food per month	Non-Exam Period	259	2.39	0.69		
Number of moole	Exam Period	259	3.76	1.14	-1.678	0.094
consumed in a day	Non-Exam Period	259	3.93	1.06		
	Exam Period	259	1.32	0.47	-0.279	0.780
Skipping Meals	Non-Exam Period	256	1.33	0.47		
	Exam Period	258	1.53	0.57	0.571	0.568
Appetite	Non-Exam Period	259	1.51	0.59		
Course of such as	Exam Period	259	1.95	0.65	-0.477	0.633
consumed in a day	Non-Exam Period	259	1.98	0.63		
Other beverages	Exam Period	259	0.87	0.47	-0.184	0.854
(Cups) consumed in a day	Non-Exam Period	259	0.88	0.49		
Esting of mools	Exam Period	256	1.04	0.19	0.027	0.979
outside	Non-Exam Period	259	1.04	0.19		
Fraguanay of	Exam Period	251	1.47	0.72	2.176	0.030*
meals taken	Non-Exam Period	259	1.34	0.67		

Table 2. Food habits, macro-nutrient intakes and SAI scores of participants

Meal consumed	Exam Period	248	1.40	0.77	-0.360	0.719
outside	Non-Exam Period	259	1.42	0.82		
Congumption of	Exam Period	259	1.09	0.29	-1.393	0.164
coffee (yes/no)	Non-Exam Period	259	1.13	0.34		
Cups of coffee	Exam Period	259	1.04	0.51	1.237	0.217
consumed in a day	Non-Exam Period	259	0.98	0.55		
Consumption of	Exam Period	258	1.15	0.36	-0.227	0.821
tea (yes/no)	Non-Exam Period	259	1.15	0.36		
Cups of coffee	Exam Period	259	1.02	0.61	-0.075	0.940
consumed in a day	Non-Exam Period	259	1.03	0.56		
Consumption of	Exam Period	259	2.02	0.78	-1.766	0.078
food before sleep or middle of night.	Non-Exam Period	259	2.13	0.71		
Intake of vitamin/	Exam Period	259	1.94	0.59	-1.882	0.060
mineral supple- ments	Non-Exam Period	259	2.04	0.58		
	Exam Period	257	1374.62	485.12	0.918	0.359
Energy (kcal)	Non-Exam Period	259	1337.67	427.78		
	Exam Period	257	213.37	917.71	1.154	0.249
CHO (g)	Non-Exam Period	259	147.42	55.69		
	Exam Period	257	46.74	8.34	4.505	0.000*
СНО (%)	Non-Exam Period	259	43.00	10.41		
	Exam Period	257	54.15	19.99	-1.149	0.251
PRO (g)	Non-Exam Period	259	56.22	20.97		
	Exam Period	257	16.35	3.62	-2.331	0.020*
PRO (%)	Non-Exam Period	259	17.03	3.02		

A Comparison of Anxiety Level and Nutritional Habits of University Students During Exam and Non-Exam Periods

	Exam Period	257	57.03	22.37	-0.104	0.917
LIPID (g)	Non-Exam Period	259	57.26	26.72		
SAL (State A my	Exam Period	259	45.22	12.61	11.745	0.000*
ety Inventory)	Non-Exam Period	259	34.08	8.58		

Indrani Kalkan, Büşra Selamet, Çağla Sanem Karakoca, Melike Kumaş, Melisa Düşmez, Şevval Ayaşan

\* p<0.05 (significant)

As per results, AI scores of all participants, frequency of meals and CHO % were consumed significantly higher during exam times (p<0.05). On the other hand, percentage of protein consumed was significantly lower during exam time (p<0.05). (Table 2)

On comparing the SAI scores obtained by males  $(47.03\pm12.76)$  and females  $(44.42\pm12.45)$ , no significant difference was found among the means of the two (p>0.05).

Table 3 below shows the Trait Anxiety Inventory (TAI) scores for male and female participants. This score indicates the continuous stress levels of the participants. Mean score obtained by the students was found to be  $39.23\pm9.13$ . The lowest score was 4 and the highest score was 67. Mean TAI score of females was  $41.01\pm9.97$  whereas for males the score was  $37.42\pm7.80$ . As per the results, TAI scores were found to be significantly higher in females. (p<0.05) (Table 3)

Table 3.	TAI	scores	of	Male	and	Female	Partic	cipants
								-r

	Gender	N	Mean	S.D.	t	р
TAI Scores	Female	131	41.01	9.97	3.226	0.001
	Male	128	37.42	7.80		

Food consumption frequency of certain foods as milk products, meat, fruits and vegetables, grains, tea, coffee, cereals, legumes, sugary items, fatty and fried foods and energy beverages during exam periods and non-exam periods were enquired to the participants. Consumption of tea, coffee (63%), fatty fried foods (48.6%) and sugary items (64.1%) increased substantially during exam periods. On the other hand, consumption of fruits, vegetables, meat and milk products, legumes and grains were not affected during exam and non-exam periods.

# Discussion

The prevalence of obesity in Turkish adolescents have increased from 0.6% to 7.3% with an 11.6-fold increase between the periods 1990-1995 to 2011-2015.

A Comparison of Anxiety Level and Nutritional Habits of University Students During Exam and Non-Exam Periods

As per the latest Turkish national health survey results, prevalence of obesity has increased in both genders; However, boys were more likely to be obese than girls (16,17). In another study conducted on university students, 33.5% of males and 24.8% of females were found to be in overweight range (18). In this study, 17.1% of the students had a BMI in the 24.99 - 29.99 range of overweight or slightly obese. However, gender difference was not significant (p>0.05).

In this study, 31.7 % of participants consumed three and 29.3% four meals in a day, slightly higher than Ayhan et al's study in Bursa Uludag University in which 20.4% were reported to have consumed three and 5.4% four meals a day. In this study, there was no gender difference and effect of exam periods on meal consumption was not found to be significant (p>0.05) (19).

Normally, 67.2% of females and 69.5% of male participants stated to skipped at least one meal in a day. Breakfast was the most skipped meal (38.22%) followed by lunch (35.14%) in this study. Similarly, in a study conducted at Atatürk University students in Erzurum, morning meals were reported to be skipped the most and evening meals the least (20). In a study conducted in Ankara by Zemzemoglu et al, the major reason stated by the students (47.4%) for skipping meal was lack of time. This finding was similar to results of this study as 39% state the same reason for skipping meals. Choice of beverages by students in Zemzemoglu et al's study was similar to this study in the sense that coke, tea, coffee, buttermilk were the most popular drinks between meals (21).

In this study, eating outside (96.1%) and fast-food consumption were high among students (63.3%) during exam and non-exam times. In another study conducted on university students in Burdur, 62.5% of participants preferred fast food and 74.1% ate outside on a regular basis (22).

In this study, while 90% of the students consumed tea and coffee in general, students stated that they increased consumption of tea and coffee during exam period, in a study, conducted by Budak et al, 80.5% of the students were reported to consume coffee and 97.4% black tea (23).

In this study, the energy intake in exam and non-exam periods were  $1374.62\pm485.12$  and  $1337.67\pm427.78$  kcal respectively. These amounts were comparatively less as compared to a study conducted in Bingol University students where average daily energy intake was reported to be  $3175.5\pm776.4$  kcal in men and  $2583.8\pm703.6$  kcal in women. In addition, 44.05% of the foods consumed by the students contained carbohydrates, 43.35% fat and 11.5% protein (24). On comparing with his study however, the consumed CHO, protein and fat percentages of participants were similar. In this study, only carbohydrate (%) intake increased significantly during exam period (p<0.05) and protein

(%) decreased significantly during exam period (p<0.05). Furthermore, it was observed that women intake less energy than men during the non-examination period, but the amount of carbohydrate that women took in this period was higher than men, and that men consumed more protein than women (Table1). Energy consumption varies to a great extent among young population groups. In a study conducted on 450 students in Ankara preparing for university entrance exam, the mean energy consumption was found to be 1738.2 kcal varying between 696.2 - 4294.1 kcal/d (25).

In this study, the Trait Anxiety Scale (TAI) was used to evaluate the continuous anxiety score of the students. The mean score of the students was found to be 39.23±9.13. The lowest score was 4 and the highest score was 67. The mean TAI score of female students  $(41.01\pm9.97)$  was significantly higher as compared to males  $(37.42\pm7.80)$  (p<0.05) (Table 3). In a similar study conducted on another group of university students, the mean SAI score of students was found to be  $57\pm5.25$ . In the normal period, it was observed that the anxiety levels of men were moderate and the anxiety levels of women were high (26). In this study, SAI scores during non-exam time, mean SAI score of participants was calculated as  $34.08 \pm 8.58$ . The scores were found to be 11 points lower than those calculated during exam times. SAI score was found to be significantly higher in females during both exam and non-exam times (p < 0.05). In another study conducted by Bayindir et al on-university students preparing for exams, (27) TAI scores of female students were found to be significantly higher (47.2±6.35) as compared to males  $(45.4\pm6.85)$ . In a study carried out on 4850 university students in Bursa Turkey, 29.6% and 36.7% of the students reported state (SAI) and trait (TAI) anxiety scores of more than 45 points, respectively (28).

# Conclusion

Nutritional habits of young adults as university students are affected by several factors as gender, age, socio-demographic characteristics, social circle and so on. Stress and anxiety factors have been found to affect eating habits of students. The study demonstrated that state and trait anxiety levels were higher in females as compared to males in exam and non-exam times. Individuals tended to consume food items as high sugar and fatty fried foods, tea, coffee and other caffeinated beverages during exam times. At the same time students tended to skip meal eat outside and prefer fast food during exam and non-exam periods. Consumption of dairy products, meat, fresh fruits and vegetables, grains and legumes remained unchanged.

Considering the rising obesity among adolescents and youth being a crucial stage for adopting dietary habits that may continue throughout lifetime,

A Comparison of Anxiety Level and Nutritional Habits of University Students During Exam and Non-Exam Periods

increase in awareness among this age group regarding healthy eating and dietary quality is of special importance from the perspective of health and prevention of obesity related chronic diseases. The evidence stresses on increasing public awareness, recommends health practitioners and policymakers to consider public health strategies and regulations that focus on increasing nutrition education, knowledge and health awareness in the society.

# **Conflict of Interest and Acknowledgement**

None stated by the authors.

# References

- 1. Choi J. Impact of stress levels on eating behaviors among college students. Nutrients. 2020;1241: 1–10.
- Peltzer K, Pengpid S, Samuels TA, Özcan NK, Mantilla C, et al. Prevalence of overweight/obesity and its associated factors among university students from 22 countries. Intl J Environ Res Pub Health. 2014;11(7):7425–7441.
- 3. Morse KL, Driskell JA. Observed sex differences in fast-food consumption and nutrition self-assessments and beliefs of college students. Nutr Res. 2009; 29:173–179.
- 4. Kalkan I. The impact of nutrition literacy on the food habits among young adults in Turkey. Nutr Res Prac.2019; 13(4):352–357.
- 5. Zellner DA, Loaiza S, Gonzalez Z, Pita J, Morales J, et al. Food selection changes under stress. Physiol Behav. 2006;87:789–793.
- 6. Ross SE, Niebling, BC, Heckert TM. Sources of stress among college students. Coll Students J. 1999;33:312–316.
- Kalkan I, Pehlivan M, Ozturk SA, Ersoy G. Awareness and usage of sports and energy drinks among university students: A pilot study in Turkey. BLDE Univ J of Health Sci. 2018; 3(1):18–23.
- 8. Tam R, Yassa, B, Parker, H, O'Connor, H, Allman-Farinelli, M. University students' on-campus food purchasing behaviors, preferences, and opinions on food availability. Nutrition. 2017;37:7–13.
- 9. Hanson MD, Chen E. Socioeconomic status and health behaviors in adolescence: a review of the literature. J Behav Med. 2007;30:263–285.
- 10. Kierkegaard S. The Concept of Anxiety: A simple psychologically orientated

deliberation in view of the dogmatic problem of hereditary sin. Translated by A. Hannay. London: W.W Norton.2014.

- 11. Kurtulus O, Balci UG, Simsek Y, Kucuk H, Fidan E. Anxiety among university students and its effects on nutrition. WONCA Europe Conference, 2015.
- 12. Schwartz TL, Nihalani N, Jindal S, Virk S, Jones N. Psychiatric medicationinduced obesity: treatment options. Obesity Rev. 2004; 5(2): 233–238.
- 13. Öner N, Le Comte A. [Süreksiz durumluk /sürekli kaygı envanteri el kitabı, Boğaziçi Üniv. Yayınları.] 1983;1–3.
- 14. Speilberger CD. State-Trait anxiety inventory for adults. [Database record]. APA PsycTests. 1970, http://www.apa.org/pubs/databases/psyctests/ (Access 24.03.2021)
- 15. Bundak R. Body mass index references for Turkish children. ACTA Paediatrica. 2007; 95(2):194–198.
- 16. TÜBER Turkey National and Health Survey 2017, https://dosyasb.saglik. gov.tr/ Eklenti/10915,tuber-turkiye-beslenme-rehberipdf.pdf/ (Access 07.05.2021)
- Alper Z, Ercan I, Uncu Y. A Meta-analysis and an evaluation of trends in obesity prevalence among children and adolescents in Turkey: 1990 through 2015. J Cli Res Pediatric Endocrinol. 2018;10(1):59–67.
- 18. Yildirim I, Yıldırım Y, Isık O, Karagoz S, Ersoz Y, Dogan I. Obesity prevalance among university students according to different measurement methods. Inonu Univ J Phy Educ Sports Sci. 2017;4(2):20–33.
- Ayhan ED, Günaydin E, Gönlüaçik E, Arslan U, Çetinkaya F, Asimi H, Uncu Y. [Uludağ Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi öğrencilerinin beslenme alışkanlıkları ve bunları etkileyen faktörler. Uludağ Üniv Tıp Fak Derg.] 2012;38(2): 97– 104.
- 20. Vançelik S, Gürsel ÖS, Güraksın A, Beyhun E. [Üniversite öğrencilerinin beslenme bilgi ve alışkanlıkları ile ilişkili faktörler. Tsk Koruyucu Hekimlik Bülteni.] 2007; 6(4):242–248.
- 21. Zemzemoglu Arpa TE, Erem S, Uludağ E, Uzun S. Determination of nutritional habits among students of Health Sciences Faculty. Food and Health. 2019;5(3):185–196.
- 22. Orak S, Akgün S, Orhan H. [Süleyman Demirel Üniversitesi öğrencilerinin beslenme alışkanlıklarının araştırılması. SDÜ Tıp Fakültesi Derg.] 2009;

A Comparison of Anxiety Level and Nutritional Habits of University Students During Exam and Non-Exam Periods

13(2):5-11.

- 23. Budak N, Çiçek B, Şahin H. [*Üniversite öğrencilerinin tükettikleri içecekler ve tercihlerini belirleyen etmenler. Bes ve Diyet Derg.*] 2002;31(2):31–40.
- Erçim RE. Üniversite öğrencilerinin beslenme durumlarının değerlendirilmesi ve sağlıklı yeme indekslerinin saptanması http://www.openaccess.hacettepe. edu.tr: 8080/Xmlui/ Bitstream/Handle/11655/1597/42db39a4-F38c-4a3a-94af-Cab520244b9d.Pdf? 2014; (Accessed 26.03.2021).
- 25. Aslan NN, Yardimci H, Ozcelik AO. Macro nutrient intakes of students preparing for national university exams and its relation with anthropometric measurement. Erciyes University Health Sciemnces Faculty Journal. 2017; 4(1): 39-38.
- Erdul G. [Üniversite öğrencilerinin zaman yönetimi becerileri ile kaygı düzeyi. Uludağ Üniversitesi Yüksek Lisans Tezi.] http://acikerisim.uludag. edu.tr> 2005; (Accessed 26.03.2021).
- Bayındır G, Yardımcı H, Keser A. [Sınava hazırlanan öğrencilerin besleme durumlarının kaygı puanlarrına göre değerlendirilmesi. Düzce Üniv. Sağlık Bilimleri Enst Derg.] 2018;8 (1): 22–28.
- Sakin Ozen N, Ercan I, Irgil E, Sigirli D. Anxiety prevalence and affecting factors among university students. Asia Pacific J Pub Health. 2010;22(1):127-133.

# Routine Cervical Dilatation at Cesarean Section and Its Influence on Pain Scores and Post-Operative Morbidity: A Randomized Controlled Study

Ammar Kannawati<sup>1</sup>, Hediye Dağdeviren<sup>2\*</sup>, Ender Güven<sup>1</sup>, Ulkar Heydarova<sup>1</sup>

# Abstract

**Objective**: We hypothesized that, collection of blood in the intrauterine cavity and distended uterus in women after elective caesarean section could lead to increasing pain. The aim of this study was to identify the effect of routine cervical dilation during elective caesarean section on infectious morbidity, postpartum hemorrhage, and pain after labor by using visual analogue scale (VAS).

**Methods:** A case-control study was conducted on 245 pregnant women who had elective cesarean section at Bakırköy Dr. Sadi Konuk Teaching and Research Hospital, Istanbul. The cases had intraoperative digital cervical dilatation at elective cesarean section while the controls did not.

**Results:** There was a significant reduction in hemoglobin levels postoperatively in each group (p=0.001 for both groups), but the level of reduction was not statistically different between the groups (p = 0.37). The duration of operation was not statistically different between the two groups. In addition, there were no statistically significant difference in febrile morbidity (p =0.478), endometritis (p = 0.311), wound infection (p = 0.297) and UTI (p =0.479). Mean postoperative endometrial cavity thickness of the dilated group was significantly less than that of the non-dilated group ( $7.8 \pm 4.1$ ,  $6.8 \pm 3.8$ , respectively, p=0.044). We found VAS scores of dilated group to be significantly less than those of the non-dilated group ( $5.4 \pm 3.0$ ,  $4.6 \pm 2.8$ , respectively, p=0.023)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, Bakirkoy, Istanbul, Turkey

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Department of Medical Physiology, Istanbul Aydin University, Istanbul, Turkey.

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding Author

Hediye Dağdeviren hediyedagdeviren@gmail.com ORCID: 0000-0002-9384-4514

<sup>\*</sup> Received: 29 May 2021 Accepted: 22 June 2021 DOI: 10.17932/EJOH.2020.022/ejoh\_v02i1006

*Routine Cervical Dilatation at Cesarean Section and Its Influence on Pain Scores and Post-Operative Morbidity: A Randomized Controlled Study* 

**Conclusion**: In conclusion, cervical dilatation during cesarean section does not increase the incidence of postoperative endometritis or wound site infection, but it may decrease postoperative pain. However, larger studies on homogenous patient groups are required for generalization of these results.

*Keywords:* Cervical dilation, elective cesarean section, endometrial thickness, infectious morbidity, visual analogue score

#### Introduction

Cesarean section (CS), the most common obstetric surgery, can be either an elective or an emergency procedure. The surgical technique varies amongst centers and individual surgeons. Infectious morbidity is the most frequent complication of CS(1). Strategies to minimize postoperative morbidities includes modifications in surgical technique, methods of placental delivery, changing gloves and altering the uterine position during repair of the uterine incision (2-6).

A woman's cervix is firm and undilated at the beginning of pregnancy and some obstetricians consider undilated cervix at pre-labor to result in obstruction of blood and lochia drainage (7). Collection of lochia or debris may lead to postpartum hemorrhage and endometritis. To circumvent this, obstetricians routinely dilate the cervix from above. Finger, sponge forceps, or other instruments can be used for dilatation. In contrast, mechanical cervical dilatation during CS may result in cervical trauma and increase the risk of infection. Endometritis appears to result from contamination of uterus, abdominal cavity and the abdominal incision with ascending vaginal flora bacteria (8).

We hypothesized that, collection of blood in the intrauterine cavity and distended uterus in women after elective caesarean section could lead to increasing pain. Previously published studies have evaluated infectious morbidity and postpartum hemorrhage after the dilatation of the cervix during elective CS. However, none of these have evaluated effect of dilatation on pain. The aim of this study was to identify the effect of routine cervical dilation during elective caesarean section on infectious morbidity, postpartum hemorrhage, and pain after labor by using visual analogue scale (VAS) (9).

#### **Materials and Methods**

This prospective randomized study was carried out at Bakırköy Dr. Sadi Konuk Teaching and Research Hospital from January 2013 to March 2015. A total of 285 cases of elective caesarean delivery were enrolled in this study after obtaining informed consent. The Non-invasive Human Research Ethics Committee and Local Health Ministry Authority approved the study (Approval number: 2012-14-06, ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01954719). Patients were randomized using computer-generated random numbers into either intraoperative cervical dilatation (Group A, n=143) or no intraoperative cervical dilatation (Group B, n=142) groups. The investigator was not blinded to the procedure allocation. The trial profile is shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Consort diagram for randomization

All participants in the included studies were undergoing elective caesarean section at gestational ages more than 37 weeks. The exclusion criteria were: women undergoing CS due to multiple pregnancies, preterm births, rupture of membranes, fever on admission, chorioamnionitis, need for blood transfusion before or during caesarean section, use of antibiotics during the last 24 h, women who felt labor pain before their previous cesarean operations.

Routine Cervical Dilatation at Cesarean Section and Its Influence on Pain Scores and Post-Operative Morbidity: A Randomized Controlled Study

Cesarean operations were performed by the same operators. Before CS, a Foley catheter was inserted and the abdomen was cleaned with povidone iodine solution. Intravenous 1 g cefazolin was administered to each participant when the umbilical cord was clamped. Except for digital cervical dilatation, all surgical techniques and suture materials were same in both groups. This included pfannenstiel incision, blunt entry into the peritoneal cavity, lower segment transverse uterine incision digitally expanded to deliver the fetus a placenta. In the cervical dilatation group, the surgeon performed the cervical dilatation by inserting the double-gloved index finger into the cervical canal of the patients after the extraction of placenta and membranes. The outer glove was removed after this procedure. Suturing of the uterine incision was performed without exteriorization of the uterus. The abdominal wall was closed in two layers. Skin incisions were closed.

Postoperative patient care was the same for both groups. The temperature was measured every4 h using sublingual digital devices. Clinical signs of urinary tract infection (UTI) were checked and urinalysis was performed. At 8 h postoperatively, urinary Foley catheters were removed and oral fluid intake was started. All patients had their complete blood count tested prior to surgery and 24h postoperatively. All patients were monitored for clinical signs of post-operative infectious morbidity including febrile morbidity, wound infection, endometritis and UTI. Febrile morbidity was defined as an axillary temperature of 38°C or more measured twice or more after 24 h post-delivery. Wound infection refers to clinical evidence of purulent or serous discharge with induration, warmth and tenderness or bacteriological evidence on a swab of suspicious area of the wound. Endometritis was defined as axillary temperature greater than 38°C associated with purulent, foul smelling vaginal discharge or uterine tenderness on bimanual examination. UTI was suspected in the presence of symptoms and confirmatory diagnosis made when culture of midstream urine specimen revealed significant bacteriuria (>100,000 organisms/mL). All the patients were followed up with specific attention to the clinical aspects of endometritis, such as foul-smelling vaginal discharge, uterine tenderness. Wound infection was detected clinically by presence of smelly discharge, erythema, induration, and tenderness. Blood loss during CS was estimated using a drop in packed cell volume 24 hours postoperatively.

At 24 h post-operation, endometrial cavity thickness was measured using transabdominal ultrasound. The measurement involved both the decidual thickness and intracavitary fluid collection. Patients without infection or other complications were discharged on the third postoperative day Patients were informed verbally and in a written form about the timing of postpartum control examinations and the need to contact the physician in case of adverse events, such as findings of infection including fever, foul smelling vaginal discharge or abnormal bleeding after discharge from the hospital. They were invited to Bakırköy Dr. Sadi Konuk Teaching and Research Hospital Obstetrics and Gynecology clinic on the 7<sup>th</sup> day and at 6 weeks after delivery for control examination and for detection of complications including infections in the puerperium period. On the 7<sup>th</sup> day after operation, patients' pain levels were evaluated by using VAS (9). It is self-completed by the patients. The patients were asked to place a line to the perpendicular VAS line at the point that describing their pain intensity.

The primary outcome was rate of post-partum endometritis, postpartum hemorrhage and pain. Secondary outcomes that were analyzed included wound infection, febrile morbidity and infectious morbidity. Blood loss at surgery and operative time were compared between the two groups.

#### Sample size estimation

Our primary outcome was comparing of VAS scores between the two groups. Using the program 'MedCalc', we calculated that a sample size of 141 subjects would be required for each group. Influence was 0.33 with a sample size of 141 in each group that would provide 80% power to detect a 95% difference in VAS scores. Assuming a 10% dropout rate, 128 women were required in each study group.

# Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using descriptive statistical methods (mean, standard deviation, median, frequency, rate, Minimum, Maximum). The distribution of variables was assessed by Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Mann-Whitney U test was used for comparison of independent two groups. Wilcoxon test was used for comparison of two dependent groups. Statistical analyses were performed using Statistics Package for Social Sciences version 22.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

# Results

A total of 245 women were included in this study. Of these 245 women, 143 women had intraoperative digital cervical dilatation and 142 women with no intraoperative cervical dilatation. The mean age of patients in the cervical dilatation group and the non-dilated group was  $29.8 \pm 5.4$  and  $30.4 \pm 5.9$ , respectively. There were no statistically significant differences between the two

# *Routine Cervical Dilatation at Cesarean Section and Its Influence on Pain Scores and Post-Operative Morbidity: A Randomized Controlled Study*

groups with regard to maternal age, gravidity, parity, gestational age on the day of cesarean, birth weight, preoperative temperature, duration of hospitalization and 1st and 5th minute Apgar scores of the babies. Furthermore, there was no statistically significant difference in the mean baseline pre-operative hemoglobin blood level between the two groups ( $11.0 \pm 1.6$  vs.  $11.1 \pm 1.4$ , p = 0.516). Please refer to Table 1.

<b>X7</b> • 11	Cervical	No Cervical	
Variable	dilatation	dilatation	
	(n = 143)	(n = 142)	р
	(mean±SD)	(mean±SD)	
Age	$29.8\pm5.4$	30.4±5.9	0.364
Gravidy	2.5±1.2	2.7±1.3	0.083
Parity	2.0±1.1	2.0±1.2	0.924
Gestational age at delivery	37.4±3.0	37.4±2.5	0.212
Birth weight (kg)	3001±778	$3078 \pm 705$	0.771
Preoperative hemoglobin	11.0±1.6	11.1±1.4	0.516
blood level (g/L)			
Preoperative temperature (°C)	36.4±0.3	36.5±0.6	0.327
First minute Apgar score	7.6±1.9	7.7±1.5	0.524
Fifth minute Apgar score	9.1±1.5	9.0±1.1	0.121
SD: Standard deviation			

 Table 1. Demographic and clinical properties of patients

As shown in Table 2, there was a significant reduction in hemoglobin levels postoperatively in each group (p= 0.001 for both groups), but the level of reduction was not statistically different between the groups (p = 0.37). In other words, preoperative and postoperative hemoglobin levels of the groups did not reveal a significant difference. The duration of operation was not statistically significant difference in febrile morbidity (p =0.478), endometritis (p = 0.311), wound infection (p = 0.297) and UTI (p =0.479). Mean postoperative endometrial cavity thickness of the dilated group was significantly less than that of the non-dilated group (7.8 ± 4.1, 6.8 ± 3.8, respectively, p=0.044). We found the VAS scores of dilated group to be significantly less than those of the non-dilated group (5.4 ± 3.0, 4.6 ± 2.8, respectively, p=0.023) as seen in Table2.

		Cervical dilatation	1	No Cerv dilatatio		
Variable		(n = 143)		(n = 142)		р
		(mean±S	D)	(mean±S	(mean±SD)	
Operative ti	me (minute)	37.0±10.1	l	37.6±11.	2	0.913
Post-operati (g/dl)	ve hemoglobin	10.3±1.5		10.1±1.3		0.100
Drop in hemoglobin (g/dl)		-0.7±1.2		-0.9±1.0		0.157
Febrile mort	oidity (n, %)	19	16.9%	15	10.6%	0.478
Endometri- tis	(n, %)	3	2.1%	1	0.7%	0.311
Wound in- fection	(n, %)	10	7.0%	6	4.2%	0.297
UTI	(n, %)	5	3.5%	6	4.2%	0.479
Blood loss (	ml)	561.5		565.5		0.465
Endometrial cavity thickness (mm)		7.8±4.1		6.8±3.8		0.044
VAS		5.4±3.0		4.6±2.8		0.023
SD: Standar analogue sca	rd deviation; UT	I: Urinary	tract infe	ection; VA	S: Visual	

**Tables 2.** Intra-operative and post-operative outcomes

In the study population, 123 and 119 women had a previous CS in each group. The other indications for cesarean delivery in women were: Cephalopelvic disproportion (2.1%, 2.8%), breech presentation (7.7%,7.7%), poor obstetric history (1.4%,2.1%), hypertensive disorders (1.4%,2.8%), placenta previa (0.7%,0.00%) and multiple gestation (0.7%,0.7%) (Table 3).

*Routine Cervical Dilatation at Cesarean Section and Its Influence on Pain Scores and Post-Operative Morbidity: A Randomized Controlled Study* 

		Cervical d	ilatation	No Cervical dilatation	
		(n = 143),(	(n,%)	(n = 142),(n,	%)
	Repeated CS	123	86.0%	119	83.8%
	Cephalopel-	3 2.1%		4	2 00/
	vic disruption				2.8%
	Breech pre-	11	7 70/	11	7 70/
	sentation	/./%0			/./%0
	Poor obstetric	2		3	2 10/
indica-	history		1.4%		2.1%
tion	Hypertensive	2	1 /0/	4	2 80/
	disorders		1.470		2.8%
	Placenta pre-	1	0.70/	0	0.00/
	via		0./%		0.0%
	Multiple ges-	1	0.70/	1	0.70/
	tation	0.7%		0./%	
CS, caesar	rean section; CP	D, cephalop	pelvic disp	proportion;	

Table 3. Indications for elective cesarean sections

#### Discussion

Several CS methods to minimize surgery-related morbidity have been investigated. However, the advantages and disadvantages of cervical dilation during CS are still controversial. Dewhurst pointed to the pros and cons of the cervical dilation still being questionable, and thus requiring further investigation (10). The presence of dilatation during C-section has been examined by several authors over the years and various ideas have been put forth (11, 12). Nevertheless, there are only a few randomized studies on the relevant topic in the literature (13-16).

Bollapragada et al. emphasized the need for ultrasonography in the absence of lochia in uterine, which may be caused by intrauterine collection after CS, and hence cervical dilatation must be performed in the patients undergoing elective CS (17). We observed in this study that the endometrial thickness was significantly reduced in the dilatation cases; however, we have doubts about the clinical significance of these results. Our study also indicates that the thickness of endometrium evaluated at postoperative  $24^{th}$  hour was not associated with

postoperative pain. There are studies suggesting an ascending bacterial infection to cause endometritis, peritonitis and wound infections in the setting of cervical dilatation (18, 19). However, in this study, none of the cases developed peritonitis.

In the randomized controlled study on 131 patients by Ahmet et al., no difference was detected between patients with dilation and without dilation during C-section regarding febrile morbidity and endometritis, and none of these patients developed wound site infection. Even though we obtained similar results in this study, the wound site infection was less common in patients who had dilatation, but the difference was not statistically significant. Güngördük et al. did not observe any significant difference in febrile morbidity and infection between the patients; however, they reported the duration of the operation to be significantly longer in cases with cervical dilation (15). In the present study, no difference in the duration of the operation was detected.

As a result of their study, Tosun et al. argued that routine dilation is not necessary during CS. However, researchers that have examined the endometrial thickness after cesarean section have reported the endometrium to be significantly thinner in the dilation group (13). Although similar results were seen in our study, we do not believe it to have any clinical significance. None of our patients with increased endometrial thickness and fluid accumulation in the intrauterine cavity developed a hemorrhagic complication. We did not detect any difference in VAS scores of patients with vaginal labor history; however, the heterogeneous nature of the study population is a weakness of the study.

On the other hand, the investigation of the patients' pain symptoms using the VAS on the 7<sup>th</sup> postoperative day to identify the association of cervical dilation in CS with postoperative pain can be considered as one of the strengths of the study. We measured significantly lower VAS scores for the patients that had cervical dilation. Moreover, single center randomized study with and the performance of operations by the same surgeons are the strengths of the study.

A limitation of the current study was that the differences between the patients with normal vaginal labor history and those who had primary cesarean section could not be evaluated due to limited number of cases. Additionally, the study population was not homogeneous with regards to the number of previous CS operations. Furthermore, the influence of prior CS operation counts on VAS score could not be assessed. Nevertheless, this is one of the very few studies in the literature on the relevant topic.

In conclusion, cervical dilatation during cesarean section does not increase the incidence of postoperative endometritis or wound site infection, but it may decrease postoperative pain. However, larger studies on homogenous patient groups are required for generalization of these results. *Routine Cervical Dilatation at Cesarean Section and Its Influence on Pain Scores and Post-Operative Morbidity: A Randomized Controlled Study* 

# References

- 1. Leth RA, Møller JK, Thomsen RW, et al. Risk of selected postpartum infections after cesarean section compared with vaginal birth: a five-year cohort study of 32,468 women. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2009;88:976–983.
- Dodd JM, Anderson ER, Gates S. Surgical techniques for uterine incision and uterine closure at the time of caesarean section. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2008, Issue 3. Art. No: CD004732. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004732. pub2.
- Cernadas M, Smulian JC, Giannina G, Ananth CV. Effects of placental delivery method and intraoperative glove changing on postcesarean febrile morbidity. J Matern Fetal Med 1998;7:100 –104.
- Magann EF, Washburne JF, Harris RL, Bass JD, Duff WP, Morrison JC. Infectious morbidity, operative blood loss, and length of the operative procedure after cesarean delivery by method of placental removal and site of uterine repair. J Am Coll Surg 1995; 181:517–520.
- Wilkinson CS, Enkin MW. Manual removal of placenta at caesarean section. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2008, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD000130. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000130.pub3.
- Anorlu RI, Maholwana B, Hofmeyr GJ. Methods of delivering the placenta at caesarean section. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2008, Issue 3. Art. No: CD004737. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004737.pub2.
- 7. Myers KM, Paskaleva AP, House M, Socrate S. Mechanical and biochemical properties of human cervical tissue. Acta Biomaterialia 2008;4:104–16.
- 8. Yancey MK, Clark P, Duff P. The frequency of glove contamination during cesarean delivery. Obstet Gynecol 1994;83:538 –542.
- 9. Wewers M.E. & Lowe N.K. A critical review of visual analogue scales in the measurement of clinical phenomena. Research in Nursing and Health 1990;13:227-236.
- Johanson RB. Obstetric procedures. In: Edmonds DK, (editor). Dewhurst's Textbook of Obstetrics and Gynaecology for Postgraduates. 6 th ed. Oxford: Blackwell Science; 1999;308-29.
- Donald I. Practical Obstetric Problems, 5th edn. London: Lloyd-Luke, 1979; 847.
- 12. Myerscough PR. Munro Kerr's Operative Obstetrics, 10th edn. London: Bailliere Tindall, 1982; 302.
- 13. Tosun M, Sakinci M, Celik H, Torumtay B, Yazici E, Alper T, et all. A

randomized controlled study investigating the necessity of routine cervical dilatation during elective cesarean section. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2011; 284:85-9.

- 14) Ahmed B, Abu Nahia F, Abushama M. Routine cervical dilatation during elective cesarean section and its influence on maternal morbidity: a randomized controlled study. J Perinat Med.2005; 33:510–513.
- Gungorduk K, Yildirim G, Ark C. Is routine cervical dilatation necessary during elective caesarean section? A random- ised controlled trial. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol.2009;49:263–267.
- 16) Ezegwui HU, Ogbuefi FC. Routine cervical dilatation during elective caesarean section. Should we continue? J Obstet Gynaecol. 2015;35:150-2.
- 17.Bollapragada SS, LC Edozien: Apparent absence of lochia after elective Caesarean section. J ObstetGynaecol.2002; 22:558.
- 18. Yancey MK, Clark P, Duff P. The frequency of glove contamination during cesarean delivery. Obstet Gynecol. 1994; 83:538–542.
- 19. Duff P. Pathophysiology and management of postcesarean endomyometritis. ObstetGynecol.1986; 67:269–276.

# Review of ER:YAG Laser-Assisted Pulpotomy in Primary Dentition

Maria Shindova<sup>1</sup>, Ani Belcheva<sup>1</sup>

# Abstract

The endodontic infection of primary teeth is the infection of the root canal system and can involve the pulp as well as the periapical tissues surrounding the apex of the tooth root. The main goal is to maintain the integrity and health of the primary tooth until their physiological exfoliation. Pulpotomy is the most commonly used method for endodontic treatment of deciduous dentition. Knowledge of the alternative pulpotomy techniques is a useful advantage of dentists to meet the functional problems associated with endodontic infection in very young and anxious patients. The aim of this article is to systematically review the contemporary scientific literature concerning the effect of Er:YAG laser technology in the pulpotomy of primary teeth. A critical evaluation of the various parameters for laser ablation and unconvincing results has been made. The expository analysis summarizes the succession of this therapeutic approach. Future studies should also seek and compare the long-term effects of the use of traditional and alternative pulpotomy techniques.

Keywords: Pulpotomy, Er: YAG laser, Primary dentition, Pediatric dentistry

# Introduction

The endodontic infection of primary teeth is the infection of the root canal system and can involve the pulp as well as the periapical tissues surrounding the apex of the tooth root. In these cases, there are two treatment options – pulpotomy and pulpectomy. Pulpotomy is a treatment method including removal of the coronal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Department of Pediatric Dentistry, Faculty of Dental Medicine, Medical University – Plovdiv, Bulgaria

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding Author

Maria Shindova mariya.shindova@gmail.com, mariya.shindova@mu-plovdiv.bg ORCID: 0000-0003-2996-3700

<sup>\*</sup> Received: 10 May 2021 Accepted: 18 June 2021 DOI: 10.17932/EJOH.2020.022/ejoh v02i1007

pulp (vital or mortal amputation) and preservation of the radicular pulp treated with a pulpotomy medicament to maintain its vitality or to transform it into an aseptic bundle, which is like plastic (1). The other treatment method, pulpectomy, represents a complete removal of necrotic and irreversibly infected pulp tissue of the pulp chamber and root canals of a tooth affected by extensive caries lesions, traumatic injuries or other causes (2,3). The main goal of endodontic treatment of primary teeth is to maintain the integrity and health of the primary tooth until their physiological exfoliation (4). As the tooth remains asymptomatic, in anatomical and functional conditions, it performs an extremely important role in the masticatory process and has phonetic, aesthetic and morphological functions (2,4).

Pulpotomy is the most commonly used method for endodontic treatment of deciduous dentition (1). Several important and essential elements in pulpotomy as a pulp therapy are required – adequate debridement of the infected coronal pulp tissue and antimicrobial activity of the irrigants and medicaments, sufficient hemostasis and no thermal affection of the remaining pulp and surrounding tissues. Owing to the properties of Er:YAG lasers, they can be used as an alternative to the `gold standard`, i.e., formocresol, for pulpotomy in primary teeth. This laser family has hemostatic and antimicrobial effect as well as causes no or slight thermal alterations of the surrounding tissues and the underlying radicular pulp (5,6,7,8).

Few studies described the results of Er:YAG laser-assisted pulpotomy in primary teeth. Due to the numerous advantages of Er:YAG lasers, modern pediatric dentistry involves their use in routine daily practice (9,10,11). In addition, pulpal diseases in primary dentition are a common dental problem (1). Thus, the aim of this article is to systematically review the contemporary scientific literature concerning the effect of Er:YAG laser technology in the pulpotomy of primary teeth. A critical evaluation of the various parameters for laser ablation and unconvincing results has been made. The expository analysis summarizes the succession of this therapeutic approach (Table 1).

Authors	Year of publication	Country	Type of article	Average pulse- energy	Hz	irra- dia- tion time	Water spray	Material used after Er:YAG laser pulpotomy
Jayawardena et al.	2001	Japan	Experimental animal study	150 mJ/ pulse	10	n/a	+	Sterile saline solution
Kimura et al.	2003	Japan	Experimental animal study	34mJ/pulse	n/a	15 s	n/a	n/a
Huth KC et al.	2005	Germany	Clinical trial	180mJ/ pulse	2	n/a	-	Formocresol- moistened pellets for 5 minutes
Olivi et al	2007	Italy	Clinical trial	75 -100 mJ/ pulse	3	60 s	+	Immediately filled with adhesive systems: a flowable composite
Kotlow et al.	2008	USA	Clinical case	55mJ/pulse	30	15s, 3 times	+	Zinc oxide eugenol cement and the appropriate restoration
Hasheminia et al.	2010	Iran	Experimental animal study	200mJ/ pulse	3	15s	-	MTA
Huth KC et al.	2011	Germany	Clinical trial	120mJ/ pulse	2	n/a	-	Ferric sulphate- wetted pellets for 15s

Table 1. Overview of the Er:YAG pulpotomy studies

\*n/a - not applicable

In an experimental animal study, Kimura et al. found that the effects of the Er:YAG laser irradiation on pulp tissues during a pulpotomy are minimal. The authors reported no inflammation or resorption in the investigated rat molars when 34mJ/pulse for 15 seconds was used. As a result of the laser irradiation, there was no bleeding after coronal pulp removal (6). As a result of other animal studies, the researchers concluded that the investigated parameters for laser irradiation were not recommended for the treatment of human teeth in clinical settings (7,12). However, other authors stated that if appropriate parameters were used, the application of Er:YAG laser is a treatment option for pulpotomy in primary teeth (6).

As to the effect of Er:YAG laser on the pulp tissue bleeding, Olivi et al. pointed out as a disadvantage of Er:YAG laser the lack of complete hemostasis due to the minimal thermal effect of the surrounding tissues (13). However, the authors reported an easier control of bleeding after laser irradiation compared to the conventional treatment procedures (13). In 2015, Nazemisalman et al. confirmed the data obtained by Olivi et al. They found favorable results after 2 years of follow-up investigating the pulp coagulation effect of Er:YAG laser (14). Keller et al. reported a 3-6 minutes duration about the reduction of pulp microcirculation after Er:YAG laser irradiation as well as no hyperemic actions (8,15).

In a long-term study, Huth et al. investigated the effectiveness of Er:YAG laser in pulpotomy of primary teeth (8,15). After 36 months, the authors reported 73% success rates which are comparable to those of the application of 'gold standard' (formocresol) – 72%, and ferric sulfate - 76%. The follow-up included clinical and radiograph examinations. The parameter settings used were wavelength 2940 nm, 2 Hz and 180 mJ per pulse without water cooling,  $31.5\pm5.9$  mean number of laser pulses per tooth. No significant differences in total success rates between the different pulpotomy techniques were found (8,15).

Kotlow et al. presented a protocol for performing Er:YAG laser-assisted pulpotomy in deciduous teeth. The authors described a series of clinical cases of endodontic treatment in primary molars using laser technology (16). The successful results, clinical and paraclinical, confirmed the effectiveness of Er:YAG laser in pulp therapy of primary teeth as an alternative to the chemical agents or electrosurgery. The teeth from the presented clinical cases were irradiated with Er:YAG laser (HOYA ConBio's DELight) emission wavelength 2940 nm, three times for 15 seconds. The parameter settings used were 30 Hz and 55mJ, 20cc per minute water spray, average power 1.65 watts. In the study, the sapphire tip size used was 600-µm in a 90-degree handpiece. In contrast, Huth et al. described the use of a special handpiece (KEY Laser 1242; handpiece 2051, KaVo, Biberach, Germany), (15). In a systematic review, Coster et al. analyzed seven articles and indicated the need for future studies about laser-assisted pulpotomy in order to formulate general recommendations for the clinical use of Er:YAG laser in primary teeth (17). The obtained data of another systematic review and meta-analysis are in line with the results obtained by Coster et al. who found a lack of convincing results and the necessity of further investigations (18).

# Conclusion

There is not enough information describing the level of effectiveness of the use of the Er:YAG laser for pulpotomy despite its importance in the pulp therapy of deciduous teeth. In few publications, the success rate reported was the same as that of formocresol and ferric sulfate. Thus, this technology can be used successfully as a safe alternative to conventional pulp therapy agents. However, if Er:YAG laser is not part of the routine clinical setup and dental equipment, it would be difficult for general dental practitioners to implement this technology for endodontic treatment of primary teeth.

# References

- 1. Jayaraman J, Nagendrababu V, Pulikkotil SJ, Veettil SK, Dhar V. Effectiveness of formocresol and ferric sulfate as pulpotomy material in primary molars: a systematic review and meta-analysis with trial sequential analysis of randomized clinical trials. Quintessence Int 2020;51:38-48. doi: 10.3290/j. qi.a43617. PMID: 31781690.
- 2. American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. Guideline on pulp therapy for primary and young permanent teeth. Pediatr Dent 2009;31:179–86.
- 3. Bodrumlu E, Semiz M. Antibacterial activity of a new endodontic sealer against Entercoccus faecalis. J Can Dent Assoc 2006;72:637.
- 4. Antoniazzi BF, Pires CW, Bresolin CR, Weiss RN, Praetzel JR. Antimicrobial activity of different filling pastes for deciduous tooth treatment. Braz Oral Res 2015;29:1-6.
- 5. Schoop U, Moritz A, Kluger W, Patruta S, Goharkhay K, Sperr W, et al. The Er:YAG laser in endodontics: results of an in vitro study. Lasers Surg Med 2002;30:360-4. doi: 10.1002/lsm.10054. PMID: 12116328.
- Kimura Y, Yonaga K, Yokoyama K, Watanabe H, Wang X, Matsumoto K. Histopathological changes in dental pulp irradiated by Er:YAG laser: a preliminary report on laser pulpotomy. J Clin Laser Med Surg 2003;21:345-50. doi: 10.1089/104454703322650149. PMID: 14709218.

- 7. Jayawardena JA, Kato J, Moriya K, Takagi Y. Pulpal response to exposure with Er:YAG laser. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2001;91:222-9. doi: 10.1067/moe.2001.111943. PMID: 11174601.
- Huth KC, Hajek-Al-Khatar N, Wolf P, Ilie N, Hickel R, Paschos E. Long-term effectiveness of four pulpotomy techniques: 3-year randomised controlled trial. Clin Oral Investig 2012;16:1243-50. doi: 10.1007/s00784-011-0602-3. Epub 2011 Aug 13. PMID: 21842145.
- Pagano S, Lombardo G, Orso M, Abraha I, Capobianco B, Cianetti S. Lasers to prevent dental caries: a systematic review. BMJ Open 2020;10:e038638. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-038638.
- Kumar G, Rehman F, Chaturvedy V. Soft Tissue Applications of Er,Cr:YSGG Laser in Pediatric Dentistry. Int J Clin Pediatr Dent 2017;10:188-192. doi: 10.5005/jp-journals-10005-1432.
- 11. American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. Policy on the use of lasers for pediatric dental patients. The Reference Manual of Pediatric Dentistry. Chicago, Ill.: American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry 2020:116-8.
- 12. Komabayashi T, Ebihara A, Aoki A. The use of lasers for direct pulp capping. J Oral Sci 2015;57:277-86. doi: 10.2334/josnusd.57.277. PMID: 26666850.
- Olivi G, Genovese MD, Maturo P, Docimo R. Pulp capping: advantages of using laser technology. Eur J Paediatr Dent 2007;8(2):89-95. PMID: 17571933.
- Nazemisalman B, Farsadeghi M, Sokhansanj M. Types of Lasers and Their Applications in Pediatric Dentistry. J Lasers Med Sci 2015;6:96-101. doi:10.15171/jlms.2015.01.
- Huth KC, Paschos E, Hajek-Al-Khatar N, Hollweck R, Crispin A, Hickel R, FolwacznyM.Effectivenessof4pulpotomytechniques--randomizedcontrolled trial. J Dent Res 2005 Dec;84:1144-8. doi: 10.1177/154405910508401210. PMID: 16304444.
- 16. Kotlow L. Use of an Er: YAG laser for pulpotomies in vital and nonvital primary teeth. J Laser Dent 2008;16:75–9.
- De Coster P, Rajasekharan S, Martens L. Laser-assisted pulpotomy in primary teeth: a systematic review. Int J Paediatr Dent 2013;23(6):389-99. doi: 10.1111/ipd.12014. Epub 2012 Nov 22. PMID: 23171469.
- Lin PY, Chen HS, Wang YH, Tu YK. Primary molar pulpotomy: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. J Dent 2014 Sep;42:1060-77. doi: 10.1016/j.jdent.2014.02.001. Epub 2014 Feb 7. PMID: 24513112.

# WRITING RULES

# **Manuscript Preparation**

# **General Rules**

Articles should be organized according to the ICMJE recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals updated in December 2019 (http://www.icmje.org/icmje-recommendations.pdf). CONSORT (www. consort-statement.org) for randomized trials, STROBE for observational studies (http:// strobe-statement.org/), PRISMA for systematic reviews and meta-analyses (http://prismastatement.org/), STARD for studies of diagnostic accuracy (http://www.equator-network. org/reporting-guidelines /stard/), ARRIVE for experimental animal studies (https:// arriveguidelines.org/), and TREND for non- randomized public behavior (https://www. cdc.gov/trendstatement/) are other guidelines to help authors design their articles.

The upper limit of plagiarism determined by the editorial board for the journal is 20 percent. The filtering options in the plagiarism detection program are set to neglect references, quotes, and text sections of less than five words.

If there is an institution that supports the study, the last word of the article title should have an asterisk (\*) and the information on the same page should be given as a footnote.

# **Manuscript Format**

# Title page

A separate title page should be submitted and this page should include:

- The full title of the manuscript, as well as a short title (running title) up to 50 characters,
- Name(s), affiliations, highest academic degree(s) and ORCID ID(s) of the author(s),
- Grant information and detailed information on the other sources of support,
- Nameandaddress,phone(includingthemobilephonenumber) number and email address of the corresponding author,
- Acknowledgment of the individuals who contributed to the preparation of the manuscript without fufilling the authorship criteria.

# Abstract Title

An English abstract should be submitted with all kind of manuscripts with the exception of Brief Reports and Letters to the Editor. The abstract of an Original Article should be

constructed with subheadings (Objective, Methods, Results, and Conclusion). All acronyms and abbreviations used in the manuscript should be defined at first use, both in the abstract and in the main text. The abbreviation should be provided in parentheses following the definition. Please refer to Table 1 below for word count specifications.

#### Keywords

All manuscripts except Brief reports and Letters to the Editor must be accompanied by a minimum of three to a maximum of six keywords at the end of the abstract. Keywords should be selected from Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) of Index Medicus (https://www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/MBrowser.html) Keywords will be used for subject indexing.

Article Type	Text Words	Abstract Words	Keywords	References	Tables	Figures/ Images
Original Article	7.500	300	5	30	10	10
Review Article	10.000	250	5	50	10	20
Case Report	1.500	200	3	20	1	10
Brief Report	2.000	200	3	20	1	10
Letter to the Editor	1.000	No abstract	No keywords	10	1	No figures/ images

 Table 1. Limits in Manuscript Types

# **Manuscript Evaluation**

Authors may send their articles, which are prepared in accordance with the below stated publishing and editorial principles, together with the "article presentation form" via e-mail to the provided addresses. Providing the permissions of all authors is obligatory. EJOH Editorial Board is authorized to decide whether or not to accept articles through international peer-reviews. Following the Section Editors' preliminary reviews, the articles which are in accordance with the EJOH publication rules are sent to two reviewers determined by the Editor in Chief, for evaluation. In case of disagreement between the assigned reviewers, the manuscript is sent to a third reviewer. The articles which are sent back to the authors for further improvement, correction or revision should be edited accordingly and delivered back to the journal within one month at the latest. The results of corrections or revisions of the authors are re-examined by the reviewers and their decisions are reported to the editor. Manuscripts designated as appropriate for publication by the reviewers are sent to the statistical editor and if approved, the publication process begins. The articles which

are found to be conflicting with this guideline, will be rejected and will not be issued.

# **Manuscript Types**

The aim of the EURAS Journal of Health is to publish original research papers of qualified scientific value on health issues. Reviews to highlight relevant outstanding topics and developments, as well as case reports and brief reports or short notes to provoke research and discussion are also within the scope. The EURAS Journal of Health encourages and enables health professionals in the primary, secondary and tertiary health services to publish their research and reviews.

Original Article: Research article is the most important type of manuscript because it provides new information as a result of original research. The main text of original articles should be structured in detail with Introduction, Materials and Methods, Results, Discussion, and Conclusion subtitles and sections. Conclusions are supported by statistical analysis which is mainly necessary. Statistical analyses must be in accordance with international statistical reporting standards (Altman DG, Gore SM, Gardner MJ, Pocock SJ. Statistical guidelines for contributors to medical journals. Br Med J 1983:7;1489–93).

Information on statistical analyses should be supplied in a separate subheading under the Materials and Methods section and the statistical software that was used during the process must be included. Units should be prepared in accordance with the International System of Units (SI).

Limitations, drawbacks, and the shortcomings of original articles should be mentioned in the Discussion section before the conclusion paragraph.

Review Article: It is prepared by experts who have extensive knowledge in a particular field and whose intensive scientific background is translated into numeros publications with high impact potential. Experts should describe and evaluate the

current level of knowledge of a topic and guide future studies in the field. EJOH may also invite submissions from such authors. The main text should contain Introduction, Research Consequences, and Conclusion sections.

Case Report: Rare or challenging cases which are considered to be interesting and educative and those offering new therapies or revealing knowledge not included in the literature also are accepted for publication. Case Report should include the Introduction, Case Presentation, Discussion, and Conclusion sections.

Brief Report: Brief reports are similar to original research in that they build up with same structure such as content, format and guidelines but are designed for small scale scientific

research outcomes that may contain preliminary data and initial findings that indicate need for further investigation. Brief reports are shorter than manuscripts and must contain significant data as in original research articles.

Letter to the Editor: It discusses important or neglected aspects of a previously published article for educative purposes. The text should be unstructured. Abstract, Keywords, and Tables, Figures, images, and other media should not be included. The manuscript that is being commented on must be properly cited within this manuscript. The manuscript that is being commented on must be properly cited within the Letter.

#### Writing Rules

**Page Layout:** Standart A4-sized format. Margins: top 3.5; down 2.5; left 2.5; right 2 cm with 170 mm X 240 mm overall text space.

**Font:** Times New Roman style and 11 pt. font size are used for the whole text. All article should be justified. Single line spacing should be used throughout the main text and between the paragraphs.

**Title:** Bold capital letters in 14-pt must be used fort he main title. Subtitles should be written in bold and 11 pt,. After the title, author names, author ORCID numbers and e-mail addresses should be stated in 11 pt font size, with two lines of space.

**Abstract:** Single paragraph in 11-pt, including subsections for Objective, Materials and Methods, Results and Conclusion sections are needed.

Keywords should be in italic, bold type and 11 pt.

**Figures and Images:** Figures, graphics and photographs should be submitted as separate files (in TIFF or JPEG format). The files should not be embedded in a Word document or the main document. Images should not be labeled (a, b, c, etc.) to indicate figure subunits. When there are figure subunits, the subunits should not be merged to form a single image. Each subunit should be submitted separately through the submission system. As requested for the whole submission, the figures should also be blinded. Any information within the images that may indicate an individual or institution should be blinded. The minimum resolution of each figure should be 300 DPI. Figure legends can be supported by thick and thin arrows, arrowheads, stars, asterisks, and similar marks can be used on the images. Figure legends should be listed at the end of the main document. All submitted figures should be clear in resolution and large in size in order to prevent delayed evalutaion process.

When a drug, product, hardware, or software program is mentioned within the main text,

product information, including the name of the product, the producer of the product, and city and the country of the company (including the state if in USA), should be provided in parentheses in the following format: "Discovery St PET/CT scanner (General Electric, Milwaukee, WI, USA)"

# Tables

- The number of tables allowed for each type of manuscript is stated in Table 1.
- The tables should effectively display the information about desired levels of detail, so that the length of the text is also shortened. Each table should be printed on a separate page with double spacing.
- The table numbers should be given according to their order in the text, and each one should contain a short title. Authors should make explanations in footnotes, not in titles. All non-standard abbreviations should be explained in footnotes. The following symbols should be used for footnotes, respectively (\*,†,‡,\$,||,¶,\*\*,††,‡‡).
- Statistical measurements of the variation (i.e. Standart error, standart deviation) should also be included. If data from another published or unpublished source are used, the cited source should be fully informed before its permission is obtained.
- Tables with a lot of data (backup) take up a lot of space and can only be suitable for electronic publications or they can be provided directly to the readers by the authors. In such a case, an appropriate expssion should be added to the text. Such tables should be submitted with the article for the evaluation by reviewer.

**References:** References are numbered and listed by their order of appearance in text; the text citation is followed by the appropriate reference number in parentheses. All references should be cited in text. While citing publications, priority should be given to the most up-to-date publications and accuracy of references is the responsibility of the authors. The DOI number should be provided if an ahead-of-print publication is cited. Journal titles should be abbreviated in accordance with the journal abbreviations in Index

Medicus/ MEDLINE/PubMed. All authors should be listed if there are six or fewer authors in the study. In case of six or more authorship, the first six authors should be listed followed by "et al.

**Journal Article:** Blasco V, Colavolpe JC, Antonini F, Zieleskiewicz L, Nafati C, Albanèse J, et al. Long-term outcome in kidney recipients from donors treated with hydroxyethylstarch 130/0.4 andhydroxyethylstarch 200/0.6. Br J Anaesth 2015;115(5):797-8.

**Book Section:** Philips SJ, Whisnant JP. Hypertension and Stroke. Editors: Laragh JH, Brenner BM. Hypertension pathophisiology, diagnosis, and management. 2nd ed. New York: Raven Press, 1995: 465–78.

**Book with a Single Author:** Jarvis C. Physical Examination and Health Assessment. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders Company; 2000.

Book with editor: Breedlove GK, Schorfheide AM. Adolescent pregnancy. Wieczorek RR, editor. 2nd ed. White Plains (NY): March of Dimes Education Services; 2001. p: 32-47.

**Editor(s) as Author:** Huizing EH, de Groot JAM, editors. Functional reconstructive nasal surgery. Stuttgart-New York: Thieme; 2003.

**Conference Proceeding:** Bengisson S. Sothemin BG. Enforcement of data protection, privacy and security in medical informatics. In: Lun KC, Degoulet P, Piemme TE, Rienhoff O, editors. MEDINFO 92. Proceedings of the 7th World Congress on Medical Informatics; 1992 Sept 6-10; Geneva, Switzerland.

Amsterdam: North-Holland; 1992. pp.1561-5.

**Short Report:** Cusick M, Chew EY, Hoogwerf B, Agrón E, Wu L, Lindley A, et al. Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study Research Group. Risk factors for renal replacement therapy in the Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study (ETDRS), Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study KidneyInt: 2004. Report No: 26.

**Thesis:** Borkowski MM. Infant sleep and feeding: a telephone survey of Hispanic Americans [dissertation]. Mount Pleasant (MI): Central Michigan University; 2002.

**Manuscripts Accepted for Publication, Not Published Yet:** Slots J. The microflora of black stain on human primary teeth. Scand J Dent Res. 1974.

**Epub Ahead of Print Articles:** Cai L, Yeh BM, Westphalen AC, Roberts JP, Wang ZJ. Adult living donor liver imaging. DiagnIntervRadiol. 2016 Feb 24. doi: 10.5152/dir.2016.15323. [Epub ahead of print].

**Manuscripts Published in Electronic Format:** Morse SS. Factors in the emergence of infectious diseases. Emerg Infect Dis (serial online) 1995 Jan-Mar (cited 1996 June 5): 1(1): (24 screens). Available from: URL: http://www.cdc.gov/ncidodlElD/cid.htm

Webpage: Author. Title. Available at: URL. Accessed Access Date, Access Year.

# Peer Review and Acceptance

Manuscripts are judged on the significance of the contribution to the literature, the quality of analysis and the clarity of presentation. Papers are expected to demonstrate originality

and meaningful engagement with the global literature.

Except where otherwise stated, manuscripts are double-blind peer reviewed by anonymous reviewers in addition to the Editor. Final acceptance or rejection rests with the Editor-in-Chief, who reserves the right to refuse any material for publication.

# Article Withdrawal

According to our publication policies, the author of the article has to cooperate with the Editor-in-Chief of the journal in withdrawal procedures, only if the reasons are compelling and unavoidable.

For withdrawal of a manuscript authors need to submit the petition containing his / her rationale to the editorial board in a printed signed form indicating that all authors have approved the withdrawal. Reasons for withdrawal should be stated clearly.

Authors must not assume that withdrawal process is completed until they have received appropriate notification to this effect from the editorial office. If the copyright of the article was transferred to the EJOH during the submission process, the author cannot send the work to another journal for evaluation unless the request for withdrawal of this work is approved.Cases of plagiarism, authorship disputes or fraudulent use of data will be handled in accordance with COPE guidelines.

# **Conflict of Interest**

Authors must conceive any conflict of interest related to their submission. This statement must include any financial, personal or other relationships within three years of beginning the submitted work. When there is no such relationship, the authors must type "The authors declared they do not have anything to disclose regarding conflict of interest with respect to this manuscript."

# Authorship

The list of authors should accurately illustrate who contributed to the work and how. All those listed as authors should qualify for authorship according to the following criteria:

- 1. Have made substantial contributions to conception and design, or acquisition of data, or analysis and interpretation of data; and
- 2. Been involved in drafting the manuscript or revising it critically for important intellectual content; and
- 3. Given final approval of the version to be published. Each author should have participated sufficiently in the work to take public responsibility for appropriate

portions of the content; and

• 4. Agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

Contributions from anyone who does not meet the criteria for authorship should be listed, with permission from the contributor, in an Acknowledgments section (for example, to recognize contributions from people who provided technical help, collation of data, writing assistance, acquisition of funding, or a department chairperson who provided general support). Prior to submitting the article all authors should agree on the order in which their names will be listed in the manuscript.

The list of authors should accurately illustrate who contributed to the work and how. All those listed as authors should qualify for authorship according to the following criteria:

Authors must conceive any conflict of interest related to their submission. This statement must include any financial, personal or other relationships within three years of beginning the submitted work. When there is no such relationship, the authors must type "The authors declared they do not have anything to disclose regarding conflict of interest with respect to this manuscript."